Educational Journal of Renewable Energy Short Reviews



2024

Münster University of Applied Sciences

Preface

The Educational Journal of Renewable Energy Short Reviews (EduJRESR, formally published as 'EGU Journal of Renewable Energy Short Reviews') is a teaching project rather than a regular scientific journal. To publish in this journal, it is a premise to take part in the master course wind power, hydro power and biomass usage at the department of Energy, Building Services and Environmental Engineering of the Münster University of Applied Sciences.

Students receive an equivalent of 2.5 credit points (European Credit Transfer and Accumulation System – ECTS) for their engagement in the course and for publishing a short review article of at most 3 000 words in this periodical. The publication process closely mimics the typical publication procedure of a regular journal. The peer-review process, however, is conducted within the group of course-participants.

Although being just an exercise, we think that publishing the outcome of this course in a citable manner is not only promoting the motivation of our students, but may also be a helpful source of introductory information for researchers and practitioners in the field of renewable energies. We encourage students to write their articles in English, but this is not mandatory. The reader will thus find a few articles in German language. To further encourage students practicing English writing, perfect grammar is not part of the assessment.

We especially thank our students for working with LATEX on Overleaf, although LATEX is new to some of them. In this way, the editorial workload was reduced to a minimum. We also thank our students for sharing their work under the creative commons attribution licence (CC-BY). We appreciate their contribution to scientific information, being available to every person of the world, almost without barriers. We also thank the corresponding authors and publishers of the cited work, for granting permission to reuse graphics free of charge. All other figures had to be replaced or removed prior to publication.

Peter Vennemann, Christian Klemm, and Benjamin Blankenstein in January 2024

Editorial Bord:

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Peter Vennemann

Münster University of Applied Sciences Stegerwaldstraße 39 48565 Steinfurt Germany vennemann@fh-muenster.de

Christian Klemm

Münster University of Applied Sciences Stegerwaldstraße 39 48565 Steinfurt Germany christian.klemm@fh-muenster.de

Benjamin Blankenstein

Münster University of Applied Sciences Stegerwaldstraße 39 48565 Steinfurt Germany benjamin.blankenstein@fh-muenster.de

Cover-Artwork: Christian Klemm



Contents

Claas Bredehöft	
Environmental impacts of tidal power plants	3
Jannes Bresgott	
Artificial intelligence in wind turbines	9
Florian, Brinkschmidt	
Technologies for structural health monitoring of wind turbine blades	14
Tessa Finke	
Drawing up a catalog of criteria for special solutions for fish passages based on the DWA-M 509 leaflet	22
Kevin Kramer	
Water wheels for energy recovery in the outlet of wastewater treatment plants	28
Julian Krehenbrink	
Comparison of small wind turbines for urban areas, a market analysis	33
Hendrik Müller	
Fish mortality at hydropower plants	41
Lukas Nölken	
Impact of robotics on the operation and maintenance of offshore wind turbines	46
Thiark Ortmann	
Effects of Noise Emissions on the Marine Environment	53
Luis Recker	
State of the art: Corrosion protection for offshore wind turbines	61
Jannis Reintjes	
Methods of dismantling wind turbines	67
Philipp Volkmer	
Technical challenges and trends in upscaling wind turbines	73
Hannes Weißer	
Relevance of Bird Strikes on Wind Turbines in Germany: A Review	79
Roman Zurhold	
Guidelines for Onshore Repowering in Germany	85



Environmental impacts of tidal power plants

Current status of the environmental impacts of conventional tidal power plants

Claas Bredehöft*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

Meanwhile, renewable energy sources such as hydropower, solar and wind energy and biomass are increasingly being used to reduce dependence on fossil fuels and thus counteract the ongoing global warming. However, these are also associated with environmental impacts. To that effect, this article takes a closer look at tidal power plants, which are classified as hydroelectric power plants, by conducting a systematic literature review. The results show that the strength and form of the environmental impact depends on the specific location and type of plant. Tidal power plants have an impact on the habitats of marine animals and thus influence their behavior and population. In addition, the operation of tidal power plants changes the sediment distribution, causes a reduction in current velocities and a change in current direction in the surrounding area and leads to a change in wave height. The construction of the power plants is associated with noise, which primarily causes changes in the behavior of some species. Furthermore, the electromagnetic fields generated can also affect marine life. In order to assess the environmental impact of tidal power plants in comparison to other renewable energies, further studies should focus on the environmental impact of the different technologies in relation to the energy yield.

Keywords: tidal power plants, environmental impacts, tidal barrage, tidal stream, hydropower plants, renewable energy

1 Introduction

In recent centuries, fossil fuels such as coal, oil and natural gas have been used to generate electricity in power plants. However, these conventional energy sources emit greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide when they are used. In order to counteract the ongoing global warming, there is an urgent need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by reducing the consumption of fossil fuels. Instead, renewable energy sources such as hydropower, solar and wind energy and biomass are increasingly being used to reduce dependence on fossil fuels. Hydropower plants also include so-called tidal power plants, which are examined in more detail in this article. These use the tidal movements of the oceans to generate energy. Tidal power plants are therefore supposedly an emissionfree and environmentally friendly source of energy. However, it should not be forgotten that renewable energy sources can also have a negative impact on the environment. The improper use of these can have the opposite effect to the basic idea of environmental protection. For this reason, this article will examine the impact of tidal power plants on the environment. The exact impact may depend on the type of power plant and its location. More detailed information on tidal power extraction methods can be found in Ref. [1, 2], while more information on operating locations can be found in Ref. [3]. Fig. 1 shows the theoretically achievable global energy yields from tidal power and shows which locations are suitable worldwide.



Fig. 1: The global theoretical tidal range energy resource calculated as annual energy yield (kWh/m²) per model grid cell (1/16° x 1/16°) [4], licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license.



 $[\]label{eq:corresponding} \ensuremath{^*\mathrm{Corresponding}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\mathsf{author: claas.bredehoeft@fh-muenster.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\mathsf{class.bredehoeft@fh-muenster.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\slass.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\slass.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\slass.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\slass.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\slass.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\slass.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{\slass.de.}}\xspace{\ensuremath{$

2 Methods

A systematic literature search was carried out for the data in this article. The Google Scholar search engine was used to search for relevant literature. Various English and German keywords were used, which are listed below:

- Environmental implications tidal range power plants
- Environmental impacts tidal power plants
- Gezeitenkraftwerk ökologische Auswirkungen
- Gezeitenkraftwerke
- Gezeitenkraftwerke Auswirkungen auf die Umwelt

The German keywords did not lead to any well-founded literature in the search. The main scientific articles on the topic under investigation were written in English. When searching for literature, care was taken to ensure that the sources were not outdated and that they addressed current developments and research into tidal power plants in order to reflect the current situation with regard to environmental impacts.

3 Results

As many tidal power plant technologies are still at the development stage, there are only a few studies on the environmental impact of such technologies [3]. In the following, the currently known environmental impacts of tidal power plants will be discussed in more detail.

3.1 Impacts on habitats and species

3.1.1 Tidal barrage generators

The construction of a tidal barrage at a bay or estuary destroys the pre-existing benchic habitat (the benchos is the entirety of all living organisms found in the bottom zone of a body of water) on the construction site. In addition, the construction and decommissioning work may have an impact on adjacent tidal areas due to the provision of caissons or staging areas. Additionally, the dam affects the habitats upstream and downstream of the facility. When the stored water from the reservoir is released during low tide phases to drive the turbines, the water level in the reservoir decreases until the tide returns. The former lower bank remains flooded. This change leads to a shift in the balance between species in the intertidal zone, with species that specialize on the upper shore potentially being displaced. The retention of water also

significantly alters the exposure of mudflats for feeding birds, although the resources on the mudflats may increase in quantity and quality as they are exposed. Therefore, the availability of alternative feeding and resting sites is often crucial [5].

Downstream, the tidal range is often reduced near the dam, while it is increased in other parts of the reservoir. The outflow delays the outgoing tide from about midtide so that the tide flows as usual or faster from high tide until the turbines open at mid-tide, after which the outflow velocity decreases or stops. This has a potentially negative impact on birds, although this effect occurs simultaneously with the exposure of the mudflats above the dam. Power generation in dual mode (both ebb and flood tides are used to drive the turbine) reduces the changes in exposure of the intertidal zone and therefore the potential impact on the bird community. The impact on fish that feed on the tides is inverse to that of birds, as the rise in water level gives them more time to forage [5]. However, the step in the dam hinders salmonids, shad and eels from migrating to breed. They may therefore try to pass through the turbines, which increases fish mortality. The structure of the dam also creates an artificial reef on which new species begin to colonize. Despite the massive change in habitat in the bottom zone described above, a net increase in species diversity can still be observed [2].

Furthermore, the disturbance of the river can lead to a change in the turbidity and salinity of the water, which can be harmful to fish, birds and other creatures. The birds living in the estuary depend on salt marshes that grow near the mudflats and form the natural transition between land and sea. Under natural conditions, the tides bring nutrients ashore that support the growth of these salt marshes. The habitat in the intertidal zone consists of two areas. In the high marsh area, black grass (spike grass) grows in the upper area and in the lower area towards the sea, short, smooth cordgrass (salt meadow cordgrass) grows in this section. In the second section, the low marsh area, smooth cordgrass can be found. By influencing the tides as described above, the nutrient supply for these plants is reduced. As a result, the low marsh loses most of its smooth cordgrass, while in the high marsh only a few black grasses remain near the high tide line [2].

The economic viability of a tidal barrage project depends on the volume of the tidal prism (the difference between the highest and lowest water levels), which is why large estuaries and bays are preferred as locations. However, the larger the project, the more likely it is that there are no alternative feeding sites for waders in the vicinity. Fewer feeding areas are associated with increased foraging effort and have a direct impact on population size, as does lower food quality [5]. Environmental pollution from the machines used in the power plants must also be taken into account, as this can have a negative impact on the species, such as the release of hydraulic fluids, lubricants and toxic anti-fouling coatings into the surrounding water [3].

3.1.2 Tidal stream generators

The installation and operation of tidal stream generators also directly affect the benthic habitat at the chosen site by altering water currents, wave structures or substrate composition and sediment dynamics. Small pilot projects on tidal stream power generation have shown that the physical effects are reversible when decommissioned, particularly because strong currents lead to a natural disturbance of the sediments at suitable sites. However, the cumulative effect of multiple turbines must be considered in terms of the impact on the surrounding environment. The deposition of sand can affect seagrass beds by increasing mortality and reducing the growth rate of plant shoots. Conversely, the deposition of organic matter in the wake of tidal stream power plants could promote the growth of benthic invertebrate species that are adapted to this substrate. While the new habitats created by such structures may increase the abundance and diversity of invertebrates, predation by fish attracted to artificial structures may lead to a sharp reduction in the number of benthic organisms [5].

Direct mortality of fish passing through turbines can be high and the disorientation resulting from fish behavior in relation to turbines can affect species viability. However, there is extensive experience with designing sluices, cooling water intakes and turbines to reduce fish injury. These mitigation measures are a critical part of any turbine design and can help to reduce the impact of a tidal stream generator on fish [5]. Studies have observed interactions between fish and turbines, with three distinct behaviors noted. Firstly, some schools of fish feel neither attraction nor repulsion towards the turbine and therefore do not change their course of movement. Secondly, some swarms avoid the turbines by changing direction. Finally, about 5% of the fish passed the turbines directly |2|.

The operation of tidal power plants differs significantly from that of tidal barrages. In the latter, a high-speed turbine is installed in a tunnel through which the water flows at high speed and high pressure. As a result, the entrained organisms have little or no chance of passing through the turbine. The system of a tidal stream generator can work without any rotating turbines at all. Some are based on the rocking oscillation of a beam with hydrofoils at both ends. When rotary turbines are used, they are mounted in the open flow field so that the rotational speed is much lower and the organisms have adequate opportunity to avoid direct contact [5]. As a result, the chance of a blade strike can be considered to be low.

No detailed information is available on the collision risk of marine mammals with tidal stream power plants. However, the likelihood of cetaceans failing to detect and avoid a large static structure is considered to be extremely low, especially for species that are echolocating, agile and fast moving. As part of risk mitigation management, the exact placement of a tidal power plant must take into account the species that visit certain areas either through site fidelity or seasonally. Furthermore, the impact of tidal stream generators on seabirds has been reported to be low. With the exception of some deep-diving species such as auks, guillemots and shags, which regularly dive to depths of 45-65 m, the risk of collisions is considered minimal. Given the slow turbine speeds compared to the agility of diving bird species, the risk of mortality is very low. However, diving birds may perceive the moving rotor blades as potential prey and therefore be attracted to their vicinity [5]. Concrete information on the probability of collision is not yet available.

3.2 Impacts on water flow and sediment distribution

3.2.1 Tidal barrage generators

The narrowing of the flow leads to turbulent currents downstream of the dam during outflow and immediately upstream during inflow, which increase mixing. Upstream, the water is static for much of the tidal cycle in the reservoir, leading to stratification and changes in phytoplankton dynamics in summer. Primary productivity is limited and reduced by high turbidity. Energy production can influence turbulent mixing and alter sediment distribution patterns. Currents with a speed of 9 to 15 km/h lead to a continuous intensive mixing process in the water column. At lower speeds, a certain degree of stratification of the water column can be expected. This can lead to increased water clarity due to reduced sedimentation [5].

According to Ref. [2], there are 5 estuaries on the west coast of the United Kingdom (UK) that have the potential for power generation from tidal barrages. Analysis has shown that these dams can increase the tidal amplitude on the east coast of Ireland, resulting in coastal flooding [2]. The impact of tidal barrages on tidal dynamics can also have a massive impact on other coastal areas that are not in the vicinity of the installation site and lead to flooding there.

3.2.2 Tidal stream generators

Tidal stream power plants increase turbulence in the water column, which in turn alters mixing characteristics, sediment transport and possibly wave characteristics. In both the near and far reaches, the extraction of kinetic energy from the tides reduces tidal amplitude, current velocities and water exchange in a region in proportion to the number of units installed, potentially altering hydrography and sediment transport [5]. Studies show that sediment transport depends on grain size. Furthermore, in some cases a tidal stream power plant can also cause a change in current direction [2]. In addition, tidal turbines can change the wave height by using the energy of the underlying current. The impact of structural drag on currents is not expected to be significant [5].

3.3 Noise and vibration

Tidal barrages and tidal stream power plants are all large structures whose construction and decommissioning are associated with significant noise impacts that are potentially harmful to marine life. During construction, noise and vibrations affect different species in different ways. Pile driving, blasting and seismic work, mostly required for installation, are likely to exceed nearby noise level limits for the protection of fish and marine mammals. Although the activities during the construction and decommissioning phases are short-lived, they have the potential to impact cetaceans. At offshore wind farms in Denmark, effects on the behavior and population of harbor porpoises were observed during pile driving. Fewer animals were foraging and there was a short-term reduction in echolocation activity. These effects were documented up to a distance of 15 km from the impact area. As soon as the construction work was completed, these effects were short-lived. Studies suggest that impulsive sounds at high levels have a greater impact on cetaceans than on pinnipeds. The effects on other species are not certain. Direct effects may include damage to sensory or sensitive tissues and indirect effects may include changes in behavior. When evaluating noise impacts, it is important to assess the cumulative impact of the entire system and not just the levels generated by individual elements [5].

It is considered unlikely that the operational noise from any of these facilities is ecologically significant, although very little information is available on the noise levels generated by the operation of tidal barrages and tidal stream power plants. In addition, there are very few specific studies on the response of fish and marine mammals to noise and vibration generated by operations. In the case of tidal stream power plants, operational noise from a small number of units may not exceed the thresholds, while cumulative noise generation from a large number of units may mask communication and echolocation sounds generated by aquatic organisms in the vicinity of the structures. Habituation effects must be taken into account in the behavioral responses of marine mammals to noise [5].

3.4 Electromagnetic fields

The environmental impact of electromagnetic field emissions from cables, switchgear and substations is the same regardless of the power generation facility and therefore the lessons learned from offshore wind developments are also applicable to tidal stream developments. The electricity generated by the existing tidal barrages is carried away via cables on top of the barrage and has no impact on the marine environment. For a typical industry standard cable, it has been shown that the electromagnetic field drops to a background level (approx. 50 μ T) within 20 m of the cable. It has also been shown that induced E-fields of up to 91 μ V are emitted from cables buried up to 1 m in the sediment [5].

High-voltage DC cables can generate fields of up to 5 μ T in up to 60 m around them. Some shark species have been shown to respond to localized magnetic fields of 25-100 μ T. There is also evidence that a 3-phase 130 kV cable (not buried) can be perceived by migrating European eels, but does not interrupt their migration [5].

For sea turtles, the effects of magnetic field disturbance range from minimal (i.e. temporary disorientation near a cable or structure) to significant (i.e. altered nesting patterns and corresponding demographic shifts due to large-scale magnetic field changes). In contrast, the survival and reproduction of various benthic organisms are not affected by long-term exposure of static magnetic fields. The evidence for the influence of electromagnetic fields on marine mammals is equivocal [5].

4 Discussion

The previous section presents the currently known environmental impacts of tidal power plants, some of which have already been investigated in more detail. Some of the impacts listed are based on predictions, as there is insufficient information available to the present day. These need to be investigated in more detail in order to obtain evidence. However, the majority of the environmental impacts mentioned have been proven with precise investigations and studies, so that this article provides a well-founded overview of them. The impacts that have not yet been proven are based on the assessment of technical experts and can therefore be classified as probable, as they are based on experience and deductions from other similar areas.

This article refers to the environmental impacts of conventional tidal power plants. These include tidal barrages and tidal stream power plants. Dynamic Tidal Power (DTP) technology offers an alternative to these. This is a newly developed and patented method for generating large amounts of energy from the tides, which promises to be cost-efficient and environmentally friendly. While DTP's energy source differs from the well-known concepts of tidal barrages and tidal stream power plants, the technical implementation is based on mature and reliable prefabricated concrete caissons containing turbines. However, DTP does not work with a closed reservoir like a tidal barrage, but catches the tidal energy as it flows through. Using a very long (>10 km) perforated dam built from the shore, Newton's second law is used as an energy source in reverse [6]. This article does not refer to this technology, which means that the environmental impacts listed cannot be transferred to DTP. DTP must be considered and examined individually.

5 Conclusion

Tidal power plants are generally located in coastal areas in bays, estuaries, inlets or straits that are characterized by strong tidal currents. In addition to the great potential for electricity generation, coastal waters also provide important near-shore habitats for many species of marine animals such as seabirds, fish and marine mammals. The construction of tidal power plants in coastal seas causes disturbance to the marine environment. First of all, tidal power plants change the habitats and thus influence the behavior and population of the species living there. In addition, the operation of tidal power plants can lead to a change in sediment distribution, a reduction in current velocities in the surrounding area, a change in current direction and a change in wave height. The construction of the power plants is also associated with noise, which primarily causes changes in the behavior of some species. The impact of operational noise on species is classified as minor. The generated electromagnetic fields can also have an impact on marine life, causing them to become temporarily disoriented in the vicinity of a structure or cable or to adapt their reproductive behavior.

How much and in what form a tidal power plant affects the environment depends on the specific location and the type of plant (tidal barrage or tidal stream power plant). As part of renewable energy, tidal power plants offer significant benefits by avoiding greenhouse gas emissions and providing a predictable and reliable energy supply. However, the impact on marine life and the limited availability of suitable sites pose challenges. Ongoing research and technological advances aim to mitigate these disadvantages and make tidal energy a more sustainable and environmentally friendly energy source. Dynamic Tidal Power (DTP) technology may be able to play a key role in this.

6 Outlook

It is imaginable that tidal power plants, as part of renewable energies, will play a greater role in the global energy supply in the future than they have done to this day. However, this share will be restricted by the limited availability of suitable sites, so that it will probably never be as large as that of wind turbines, for example, as these are better researched and developed and more potential sites are available. When deciding which renewable energies to use in the future, the environmental impact of the various technologies should be taken into account. In order to assess the environmental impact of tidal power plants in comparison to other renewable energies, further research should focus on the environmental impact of the different technologies in relation to the energy yield. The comparison can help to better understand the relative environmental impacts. When comparing the use of tidal power with the use of other renewable energy sources, it is also advisable to consider Dynamic Tidal Power (in contrast to tidal barrage and tidal stream).

References

- C. Shetty and A. Priyam. "A review on tidal energy technologies". Materials Today: Proceedings 56 (2022). 3rd International Conference on Contemporary Advances in Mechanical Engineering, pp. 2774-2779. ISSN: 2214-7853. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. matpr.2021.10.020. URL: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S2214785321064993.
- [2] A. Rahman, O. Farrok, and M. M. Haque. "Environmental impact of renewable energy source based electrical power plants: Solar, wind, hydroelectric, biomass, geothermal, tidal, ocean, and osmotic". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 161 (2022), p. 112279. ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112279. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S136403212200199X.
- [3] D. Greaves, G. Iglesias, and J. Wiley. *Wave and tidal energy*. Wiley Online Library, 2018.
- [4] S. P. Neill, A. Angeloudis, P. E. Robins, I. Walkington, S. L. Ward, I. Masters, M. J. Lewis, M. Piano, A. Avdis, M. D. Piggott, G. Aggidis, P. Evans, T. A. Adcock, A. Židonis, R. Ahmadian, and R. Falconer. "Tidal range energy resource and optimization Past perspectives and future challenges". *Renewable Energy* 127 (2018), pp. 763–778. ISSN: 0960-1481. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.05.007. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960148118305263.



- [5] C. Frid, E. Andonegi, J. Depestele, A. Judd, D. Rihan, S. I. Rogers, and E. Kenchington. "The environmental interactions of tidal and wave energy generation devices". *Environmental Impact Assessment Review* 32.1 (2012), pp. 133-139. ISSN: 0195-9255. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2011.06.002. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S019592551100076X.
- [6] K. Hulsbergen, D. de Boer, R. Steijn, and G. van Banning. "Dynamic tidal power for Korea". *Proceedings of the 1st Asian Wave and Tidal Conference. Seoul.* 2012, pp. 1–10.



How can artificial intelligence be used to find areas for wind turbines and solve other challenges associated with wind energy?

Jannes Bresgott*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

This article discusses the use of artificial intelligence in the wind energy industry, particularly in addressing challenges and optimizing the expansion of renewable energies in Germany. It highlights the application of artificial intelligence in wind forecasts and yield predictions, bird detection, wind turbine and farm design, condition monitoring, and predictive maintenance. Additionally, it introduces the "WindGISKI" research project, which aims to use artificial intelligence to identify new areas for wind turbines. The project utilizes a neural network to analyze and predict flight routes, potentially reducing bird mortality. The document also emphasizes the potential broader applications of "WindGISKI" in other fields of activity, such as land use planning and city development. Overall, it underscores the significant role of artificial intelligence in addressing challenges in wind energy and outlines the potential for artificial intelligence to drive the expansion of renewable energies while addressing key obstacles.

Keywords: wind turbine, WindGISKI, artificial intelligence

1 Introduction

1.1 Structure

The article begins by explaining the relevance of the topic. This is followed by an explanation of how the results were obtained and the research methodology. This is followed by a description of the four main areas in which artificial intelligence (AI) is already being used successfully in connection with wind turbines. The "WindGISKI" project is then explained. The article ends with a conclusion and outlook.

1.2 Relevance

The coalition agreement of the current German government stipulates: "To drastically accelerate the expansion of renewable energies". However, this is not proving to be easy. The expansion of onshore wind energy is being halted primarily by complaints from the public. [1]

Currently, around 0.8 % of the land area is designated for wind energy; the German government wants this figure to rise to 2 % by 2032. A solution must therefore be found to develop new potential areas and assess their quality in advance. [2]

Furthermore, the coal phase-out requires secure and stable electricity generation, which is currently not provided by solar and wind energy, as most of the energy generation is lost when there is no wind and clouds in the sky. A lot of research is currently being carried out and studies published in this area. Furthermore, AI is on the rise and has long since arrived in our everyday lives, at the latest with the release of ChatGPT and other chatbots. The use of AI can simplify many things and provide a solution to complicated problems. Problems with wind turbines can also be partially solved or simplified by AI. This article reflects the current state of research and describes the areas in which AI helps to use wind as a sustainable energy source. [3]

2 Methods of literature research

At the beginning, the methods of the literature research are described to make the procedure reproducible. Google Scholar and FH Münster's Findex were used to provide a good overview. The main search queries used were "artificial intelligence wind energy". Without the addition of "wind energy", the spectrum is not differentiated enough. To date, only the participating institutions have published an article on the topic of "GISKI"; even a complex search did not produce any further literature. Furthermore, several AI tools were used to organize this work logically, but also to gain an initial overview of the literature.

(†)

^{*}Corresponding author: bresgott@fh-muenster.de.

"Perplexity" and "Chat GPT 3.5" were used for this purpose. "Litmaps" was as well used for a visual overview of the literature. The article by Màrquez and Gonzalo was used as the source literature [4]. The articles on "GISKI" are too few for a literature map.

3 AI in the wind energy industry

3.1 Wind forecasts and yield predictions

AI is already being used in many areas of energy generation by wind turbines. Four examples are described below. The first is the calculation of wind speeds and the energy output of wind turbines. Before wind turbines can be integrated into the power grid on a large scale, the uncertainty must be reduced and the continuity of the power supply ensured. To this end, AI has long been used to predict wind speeds. Many studies are currently being published that use AI to provide forecasts for wind speeds. The forecasts are becoming more and more accurate and can look further into the future. It would make no sense to show the latest study here, as this article could no longer be up to date tomorrow. [5]

Nevertheless, an example of artificial intelligence in wind forecasting is given here. Currently, NASA uses the Global Forecast System (GFS) to make predictions with the help of advanced numerical models. However, they are researching machine learning models to make more accurate predictions with larger amounts of data in the future. They are also trying to increase the resolution of the predictions using AI. Given the amount of data generated, numerical algorithms would use too much computing space, which is why they are to be replaced by AI in the future. [6]

3.2 Bird detection

Another example of the use of AI in energy generation with wind turbines is bird detection. Wind turbines are currently a major threat to birds. Studies generally find that onshore and offshore pose a direct and or indirect danger. The Brandenburg State Office for the Environment has published the numbers of reported bird corpses that have died as a result of being hit by wind turbines. A total of 4990 corpses were reported. This figure is of course much lower than the actual number of birds killed by wind turbines because not all birds are found or reported. [7]

NABU estimates the number at over 100,000 per year [8]. To ward off these dangers, images are analyzed by machine learning to detect birds at an early stage. In the 2021 study, for example, Google AutoML Vision was used [9]. This service uses recurrent neural networks to find the best possible neural network. This allows flight routes to be analyzed and predicted,

which could reduce bird mortality in the future. [10, 11]

3.3 Wind turbine and farm design

The previous examples were applications for AI in the operation of wind turbines. However, AI is already being used in the development of wind turbines. The design process is characterized by many variables. The complex calculations for the design of wind turbines and entire wind farms are carried out by artificial neutral networks. In the article by Marugán et al. various studies are listed which are used in the calculation of individual variables such as the correction of the lift coefficient for the design of the angle of attack of airfoils. For the design of wind farms, even more variables must be considered. Here, too, artificial neutral grids are often used. [12]

3.4 Condition monitoring for predictive maintenance

AI can help with the condition monitoring of wind turbines in a variety of ways. It enables predictive maintenance, in which sensors continuously record data that is analyzed by AI systems. This allows potential defects to be detected at an early stage and maintenance work to be planned before failures occur. AI-based condition monitoring and predictive maintenance aim to maximize the uptime of wind turbines, prevent costly major damage and extend the service life of individual components through early action. They also enable better monitoring and evaluation of repair measures. AI models can detect anomalies discrepancies between actual measured and simulated behavior - at an early stage. This enables rapid action and prevents major damage to the main components. [13]

AI can also help to reduce the number of sensors required. For example, AI models can analyze vibration patterns to identify operating speed, eliminating the need for a cumbersome speed reference sensor. [14]

In summary, AI plays a crucial role in the condition monitoring of wind turbines by enabling early detection of faults, optimizing maintenance and ultimately helping to increase turbine efficiency and profitability.

4 Area development through AI

4.1 Research project

As the previous chapter shows, AI is already being used in many areas relating to wind turbines. One of the biggest hurdles in the expansion of renewable energies in Germany is currently the development of new areas for wind turbines or wind farms. With the wind-on-land act, the German government has decided to expand the amount of land available. By 2032, 2 % of the current 0.8 % of the land area is to be made available. Furthermore, this is to be divided fairly among the federal states and wind conditions as well as nature and species protection are to be considered equally. To this end, the new "WindGISKI" research project was approved by the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer Protection and supported with two million euros. The eight participating research institutes will develop an AI-based geoinformation system over three years. [2]

4.2 Use of the neural network

The biggest hurdle is to be removed with the help of AI. Currently, many areas are designated as unsuitable because incorrect minimum distances are set. In many places, however, these minimum distances exceed the necessary distances that would prevent a visually intrusive effect and ensure a reasonable level of shadow impact and noise pollution. These small areas are often excluded for wind turbines due to nature and species protection, which is why the areas are not sufficient for the area targets. To avoid these problems, the program starts with an empty map on which, at least theoretically, anywhere would be possible. An artificial neural network is used to solve this problem. [2]

Artificial neural networks solve problems that cannot be defined analytically, based on biological neurons. Simple processing units and weighted connections between them form a neural network, as shown in 1. The neural network is trained with data sets and the connections are reweighted. The network then predicts outputs and can identify fields for potential wind turbines. [15]

The neural network is fed with information on where the construction of wind turbines was possible and



Fig. 1: Structure of an artificial neural network [12]

where it was prevented by legal action, for example (training). The AI then uses the information to identify areas on the German map. This is divided into 50x50m tiles and each of these tiles is evaluated independently. Where clusters of positively rated tiles are located, potential areas can later be identified (output). [2]

5 Conclusion and outlook

5.1 What opportunities arise from the use of AI in wind turbines?

Renewable energies are set to replace fossil fuels in Germany. Independence from raw materials and the reduction of air pollution are the main reasons for the energy transition. However, the energy transition in Germany has not yet progressed as far as politicians had planned. There are various obstacles to the expansion of renewable energies. However, the expansion can be driven forward with new technologies. In wind energy, there are many opportunities to use technologies to drive expansion forward. Many problems that repeatedly arise in Germany in connection with wind power are primarily the fluctuation in electricity production, the dangers for birds and the design of the turbines.

AI is being used to find a solution to all these issues. This offers a good opportunity to simplify complicated algorithms and problems and solve them using computers. Progress is constantly being made and new technologies developed. Many studies have been published in this area in recent years and research is continuing. It will be some time before a real solution is found. Nevertheless, it can be said that the solution to these problems lies in AI.

Another problem is currently being researched. The development of land for wind turbines. Currently, 0.8 % of the land area has been designated for wind turbines. Another 1.2 % is to be added by 2032. To achieve this, new methods must be found to develop land. One suitable option could be AI. "WindGISKI" could provide a remedy, as the map of Germany is viewed neutrally and old minimum distances to residential buildings are no longer considered. Only current minimum distances and previous lawsuits against wind turbines are fed into the neural network. However, the project is currently still being researched and is by no means ready for use.

All in all, it can be said that AI offers good opportunities to expand the use of wind energy and prevent its current problems.



5.2 How can GISKI be used in other fields of activity?

It is quite conceivable that AI will soon be used in almost all areas. The combination of geoinformation systems and AI is another example of this. In the future, all land use plans could be optimized in the same way, making it easier to plan cities. Furthermore, the areas examined could be analyzed for the possibility of solar installations. The field of application is very broad and offers many possibilities. If "WindGISKI" produces a functioning program, it could also be used for all other countries that have a similar problem. The possibilities that this project could provide are huge and could mean a big step for the energy transition in Germany and around the world.

References

- S. Reichert. Windenergie schneller ausbauen mit Hilfe von Künstlicher Intelligenz. 12.01.2022. URL: https://idw-online.de/de/ news786568.
- J.-H. Piel, T. Bohne, and R. Rolfes. "WindGISKI". Unimagazin: Transformation der Energiesysteme (2022), pp. 64-65. ISSN: 1616-4075. URL: https://www.unihannover.de/fileadmin/luh/content/ alumni/unimagazin/2022_Energiesysteme/ unimagazin_3_4_2022.pdf.
- S. M. Valdivia-Bautista, J. A. Domínguez-Navarro, M. Pérez-Cisneros, C. J. Vega-Gómez, and B. Castillo-Téllez. "Artificial Intelligence in Wind Speed Forecasting: A Review". *Energies* 16.5 (2023). ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/ en16052457. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/ 1996-1073/16/5/2457.
- [4] F. P. Garcia Marquez and A. Peinado Gonzalo.
 "A comprehensive review of artificial intelligence and wind energy". Archives of Computational Methods in Engineering 29.5 (2022), pp. 2935– 2958. URL: https://link.springer.com/ article/10.1007/s11831-021-09678-4.
- H. Alkabbani, A. Ahmadian, Q. Zhu, and A. Elkamel. "Machine Learning and Metaheuristic Methods for Renewable Power Forecasting: A Recent Review". Frontiers in Chemical Engineering 3 (2021). ISSN: 2673-2718. DOI: 10.3389/fceng.2021.665415. URL: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fceng.2021.665415.
- [6] K. R. Sri Preethaa, A. Muthuramalingam, Y. Natarajan, G. Wadhwa, and A. A. Y. Ali. "A Comprehensive Review on Machine Learning Techniques for Forecasting Wind Flow Pattern". *Sustainability* 15.17 (2023). ISSN: 2071-1050. DOI:

10.3390/su151712914. URL: https://www. mdpi.com/2071-1050/15/17/12914.

- [7] T. Dürr. Vogelverluste an Windenergieanlagen in Deutschland. 2023. URL: https: //lfu.brandenburg.de/lfu/de/aufgaben/ natur / artenschutz / vogelschutzwarte / arbeitsschwerpunkt - entwicklung - und umsetzung - von - schutzstrategien / auswirkungen - von - windenergieanlagen auf-voegel-und-fledermaeuse/.
- [8] NABU. Das große Vogelsterben Interview mit dem Vogelschutzexperten Lars Lachmann. 2018. URL: https://www.nabu.de/tiere-undpflanzen/voegel/gefaehrdungen/24661. html.
- [9] P. Marcoň, J. Janoušek, J. Pokorný, J. Novotný, E. V. Hutová, A. Širůčková, M. Čáp, J. Lázničková, R. Kadlec, P. Raichl, P. Dohnal, M. Steinbauer, and E. Gescheidtová. "A System Using Artificial Intelligence to Detect and Scare Bird Flocks in the Protection of Ripening Fruit". Sensors 21.12 (2021). ISSN: 1424-8220. DOI: 10.3390/s21124244. URL: https: //www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/21/12/4244.
- B. K. Sovacool. "Contextualizing avian mortality: A preliminary appraisal of bird and bat fatalities from wind, fossil-fuel, and nuclear electricity". *Energy Policy* 37.6 (2009). China Energy Efficiency, pp. 2241-2248. ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2009.02.011. URL: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0301421509001074.
- [11] E. Salkanović, P. Enevoldsen, and G. Xydis. "Applying AI-Based Solutions to Avoid Bird Collisions at Wind Parks". *Complementary Resources for Tomorrow*. Ed. by A. Vasel-Be-Hagh and D. S.-K. Ting. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2020, pp. 111–124. ISBN: 978-3-030-38804-1. URL: https://link.springer. com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-38804-1_7#citeas.
- [12] A. P. Marugán, F. P. G. Márquez, J. M. P. Perez, and D. Ruiz-Hernández. "A survey of artificial neural network in wind energy systems". *Applied Energy* 228 (2018), pp. 1822–1836. ISSN: 0306-2619. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apenergy.2018.07.084. URL: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0306261918311048.
- [13] C. Fontius. Predictive Maintenance for Wind Turbines. 12.03.2022. URL: https://www. turbit.com/post/predictive-maintenancefor-wind-turbines.



- [14] K. Landrum and E. Salinas. AI Approach To Wind Turbine Condition Monitoring. 2023. URL: https://opportune.com/insights/news/ ai-approach-to-wind-turbine-conditionmonitoring.
- [15] M. A. Arbib. The handbook of brain theory and neural networks. MIT press, 2003. DOI: https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/3413. 001.0001. URL: https://direct.mit.edu/ books/book/4358/The-Handbook-of-Brain-Theory-and-Neural-Networks.



Technologies for structural health monitoring of wind turbine blades

An overview of different techniques

Florian Brinkschmidt*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

Wind turbine structures take a major role in the modern conversion to renewable energy sources and contribute to the creation of a greener world. In recent years, the development and installation of wind turbines have seen rapid growth. However, with the increasing capacity and size of wind farms worldwide, there are growing concerns about the safety and reliability of these installations. Therefore, structural health monitoring and the detection of damage to wind turbines have gained considerable importance in research. Wind turbine blades are particularly susceptible to various types of damage due to environmental influences. This article provides an overview of signal responses, sensors used and non-destructive testing techniques in the field of damage detection on wind turbine blades. The intention of the article is to give an insight into the possibilities of structural health monitoring and at the same time to point out unsolved problems in this field.

Keywords: structural health monitoring, wind turbine blades, damage detection, measurement, non-destructive testing

1 Introduction

Wind power is becoming increasingly important due to the concept of sustainability in energy generation and the expansion of renewable energies. In the first half of 2023, the number of onshore wind turbines in Germany amounted to around 28,500 [1] and the number of offshore wind turbines to 1,500 [2]. Wind turbines are constantly exposed to environmental influences such as changing wind loads or fluctuations in temperature and humidity [3]. For this reason, they are particularly susceptible to failure. According to [4], around 17 % of damage to wind turbines in Germany between 2016 and 2020 is caused by wind

 $\label{eq:corresponding} \mbox{author: florian.brinkschmidt@fh-muenster.de.} % \label{eq:corresponding}$

turbine blade (WTB) components. This figure shows, that early detection of this damage category is necessary in order to avoid economic losses and ensure the safe operation of the wind turbines. For this reason, structural health monitoring (SHM) of wind turbines is a current focus of research [5]. This review is intended to provide an overview of possible measures for SHM. The focus will be primarily on non-destructive testing (NDT) methods. This is accompanied by a brief explanation of the possibilities for signal evaluation and the different sensor types used for SHM. The idea is to determine which measures are currently important for research and which methods may already be established. The advantages and disadvantages of the methods must also be considered.

2 Material and methods

To explain the relevance of the topic based on reliable data, contact was made with an insurance company that keeps a damage report on wind turbines. Through e-mail correspondence, the questions relevant to the topic were answered on the basis of the damage report.

A literature review was conducted to identify SHM methods used worldwide. The individual methods were classified, described and the respective advantages or disadvantages were presented. Most of the compiled data was taken from previously published papers and reviews available on Google Scholar.

3 Signal based methods for failure detection

Signal-based damage detection methods comprise two main processes:

- 1. feature extraction and selection
- 2. pattern recognition

In the first process, the features are identified and selected to quantify the damaged state of the structure.



The data is condensed into a small data set that can be better analyzed statistically. This is done, for example, by data normalization to eliminate environmental conditions. [6]

Pattern recognition works with algorithms that can determine the state of damage from the extracted features. These can be divided into three signal processing techniques [6]:

- time-domain methods
- frequency-domain methods
- time-frequency-domain

Measured data from sensors in the **time-domain** contains structural information. It can work with linear and nonlinear functions and does not need any frequency transformation for damage detection [5]. Various approaches and models exist for the evaluation of time domain methods. [6] mentions the use of autoregressive models (AR model), autoregressive models with exogenous inputs (ARX models) and autoregressive moving average vector models (ARMAV models).

The methods of time-domain evaluation can be categorized into two subgroups which are statistical-methods and time-domain modal-based approaches. Statistical methods extract structural changes by statistical parameters such as mean value or standard deviation. Results from practical experience show, that the proposed method performed efficiently when "the data of all measured positions transformed into the normal vibration forms and conditions of the intact blade" [5]. Furthermore, it has been determined that the number of points measured is important for damage detection. Studies on time-domain modal-based approaches show that stable operating conditions must be available for this procedure, as environmental influences directly affect the measured signals. The "bagged tree algorithm", which is used for evaluation, achieved an accuracy of 98 %. [5]

Frequency-domain responses are resulting from the conversion of time-series responses into frequency responses [5]. Fourier analyses, cepstrum analyses, spectral analyses or frequency response techniques are used for signal transformation to extract features in a specific time window [6].

The fast Fourier transform (FFT) is often used for signal analysis. It is not suitable for analyzing nonstationary signals because signals like WTB-vibration are weak. In combination with other methods, such as statistical methods (time-frequency-domain [5]), a better accuracy of the signatures of anomalies and outliers can be achieved. The FFT is used to detect running surface faults in bearings and to detect cracks in gears. [7] **Time and frequency-based** approaches are used to analyze non-stationary signals. Current signal processing methods in research include the short-time Fourier transform (STFT), the Wavelet transform or Wigner-Ville distribution (WVD). [5]

4 Sensors for failure detection

This chapter is intended to provide a basic overview of the different sensors that can be used for the SHM of WTBs. According to [5], the following sensors are used for non-destructive testing:

- Strain gauges
- Fiber optic sensors
- Accelerometers
- Acoustic emission (AE) sensors
- Piezoeletric (PZT) sensors
- Scanning laser doppler vibrometer (SLDV) sensors

Strain gauges measure the change in strain of the material. Conventional strain gauges consist of a nonconductive carrier and are attached to the surface to measure the change in resistance. The accuracy depends on the installation and environmental influences such as temperature. [5]

Fiber optic sensors measure strain, temperature and humidity. Interferometers and wavelength-based sensors are used to detect damage to WTBs. They transmit the signals with low losses and do not suffer from electromagnetic interference. Fiber optic sensors are more expensive than conventional strain gauges. [5]

The principle of **accelerometers** is based on measuring the acceleration of a mass after the impact of a force that is suspended from a spring. A classification is made between piezoelectric, piezoresistive and capacitive sensors. For an exact measurement, many sensors are required whose position must be known and which each require an external power supply. However, the sensors are inexpensive and resistant to high temperatures. [5]

Acoustic emission (AE) sensors detect cracks, delamination¹, corrosion and detachment. They are made up of piezoelectric crystals that convert mechanical stress energy from the damaged areas into electrical signals. Because the signals from the sources of damage are detected, the sensors must be positioned close to the damage. However, the sensors do not require external excitation and can operate in a wide frequency range. [5]



¹ Delamination refers to the detachment of layers in advertising materials

The difference between **piezoelectric (PZT) sen**sors, accelerometers and AE sensors is that PZTsensors can act as both sensors and triggers. When it is used as a trigger, the sensors work like the reverse piezoelectric effect, converting voltage into mechanical effects. PZT sensors are very sensitive to structural changes and at the same time inexpensive. However, they should be placed close to the damage. [5]

The velocity sensor scanning laser doppler vibrometer (SLDV) is used to measure vibrations. This instrument emits laser beams that are specifically directed at the surface of a structure to analyze the beams reflected from it. The basis of this analysis is the doppler effect, which represents a change between the frequency emitted by the laser source and the frequency reflected by the moving surface. SLDVs can be used for inaccessible areas and work without contact. However, they are expensive. [5]

5 Non-destructive monitoring of WTBs

Non-destructive methods are primarily suitable for SHM of WTBs. Methods that destroy the material, for example through testing, are not considered here. Table 1 summarizes the advantages and disadvantages of the different methods based on the literature reviewed.

5.1 Acoustic emission measurement

Acoustic emission (AE) refers to the emission of elastic (sound) waves with low amplitude and high frequency range within a material. These waves arise from deformation as a result of the release of energy. The process is used during system loading. Elastic waves can also be induced and introduced into the structure and serve as an active SHM method. The waves are converted into electrical signals using piezoceramic sensors. The sensors are mounted close to the surface. Signals with low amplitude must be amplified. However, this also amplifies noise. To eliminate noise, the frequency bandwidth is limited or bandpass filters are used. Data acquisition is then carried out with A/D converters² that can operate in a high frequency bandwidth. Analysis parameters that are relevant for the evaluation of AE signals are event counts, rise time, peak amplitude, arrival time, duration, signal energy content and root mean square. [7]

[10] found that the threshold value for processing the sound waves is 45 dB. It was determined that a total of 72 sensors are required to localize damage for a WTB 45 m length. Reducing the threshold value to 40 dB through noise suppression and more complex signal processing could reduce the number of sensors to 32. The accuracy of this method is less than 1 cm [11].

5.2 Acoustic measurement

The acoustic-based method analyzes the airborne sound waves to monitor the blade conditions. The acoustic signals are generated and propagated by the structural defects. This is a natural phenomenon. The method analyzes the change in the airborne sound waves during transmission. Cracks, detachments, edge breakouts and holes are examined. The method can be divided into

- passive detection and
- active detection.

In **passive detection**, microphone sensors are installed inside the WTB to record the airborne sound in the cavity. This is illustrated in figure 1. Structural defects change the sound pressure level. Signal processing tools are required to minimize noise. [5]

For active detection, loudspeakers are installed inside the WTBs. Microphones are located on the tower of the wind turbines to record the acoustic signals. The damage transmits the sound energy easily through the wall and is detected by the microphones. [5]

The acoustic method is a new, modern procedure. Research in this area focuses primarily on the use of machine learning and the development of wireless systems. [5]



Fig. 1: Schematic illustration of acoustic measurement with passive damage detection (own illustration based on [13])

The method has already been successfully used in a study by [11] to detect cracks and edge breakouts on a 46 m long WTB. In addition to the severity, the location of the damage could also be determined.

5.3 Ultrasonic measurement

The ultrasonic method can be divided into three different types: The pulse-echo, the pitch-catch and the through-transmission [14, 15]. These differ in the positioning of the transmitter and receiver and are shown in figure 2.

 $^{^2}$ A/D converters are used to amplify signals

NDT	Advantages	Disadvantages
technique	-	-
Acoustic	Monitoring during operation $[5, 8]$	Multiple sensors are required to increase
emission		accuracy [5, 9]
measurement	For large areas [8]	Bad quantitation, difficult interpretation
		[5, 8]
	Wide frequency range [5]	Noise [5, 8]
	Detect small damages [5, 10]	Unsuitable for offshore WTBs [5]
	Online monitoring [11]	High costs [11]
Acoustic based	Detect damage and severity [5]	Signal processing algorithms required to
measurement	0 011	extract ambient noise [5]
	Requires only a few sensors [5]	Not detectable for damage where the
		sound energy stays the same [5]
	Monitoring during operation [5]	
	For large areas [5]	
Ultrasonic	High sensitivity and reliability [5]	Signal processing algorithms required to
measurement	8	extract ambient noise [5]
	For large areas [5]	Time required for large areas [5]
	Detect the damaged areas [5]	Sensitive to noise [5]
	Online monitoring [11]	Sensors contact surface [5]
	Removal of ice accumulations [12]	High costs [11]
Strain	Monitoring during operation [5, 11]	Many sensors are required for global mea-
measurement		surements and to increase accuracy [5]
inclusion children	High sensitivity [5, 11]	Sensors contact surface [5]
	Mature technique [5, 9]	Positioning of the sensors must be known
		[5]
	Real-time measurement possible [5]	Temperature influence on the measure-
		ment [5]
	Insensitive to electromagnetic interference	
	[5]	
	Online monitoring [11]	
Vibration	Mature technique with high reliability [5]	Many sensors are required to detect dam-
measurement		age locations and severity [5]
	Easy installation [5]	Difficult to detect early stages of damage
	[0]	[5]
	Detect damage location and severity [5]	[-]
	Online monitoring [11]	
Thermographic	Non-contact installation [5, 8]	Influenced by temperature fluctuations [5]
measurement	[0, 0]	a
1110000 01 01110110	Visual inspection with short time con-	Difficult to detect early stages of damage
	sumption [5, 8]	[5]
	Drones can be used [5]	Requires a high resolution [5]
	For large areas [5, 8]	High costs [1]
Visual	Low costs [8]	digital cameras required [8]
inspection	[0]	
mspeetion	Visual inspection with short time con-	Better results through good image process-
	sumption [5, 8]	ing software [5]
	Drones can be used	time consuming [8]
	Low costs [1]	
Badjoscopy and	Non-contact measurement [8]	Instruments for scanning required [8]
radiography	High resolution [8]	X-Bay hazards [8]
testing	man resolution [0]	
Eddy current	Non-contact measurement possible [8]	Instruments for scanning required [8]
testing		interior for sectioning required [0]

Tab. 1: Overview of the methods for structural health monitoring with advantages and disadvantages



Ultrasonic waves are emitted by a transmitter, penetrate the material and are reflected back to a receiver. The condition of the structure can be determined by analyzing the incoming signals. Transmission, attenuation, reflection and resonance all have an impact on the detection of damage to WTBs. [5]



Fig. 2: Three transmitter-receiver settlements used in ultrasonic inspection: a) pulse-echo, b) pitchcatch, c) through-transmission (own illustration based on [16])

A special type of ultrasonic measurement is the measurement using guided waves. In contrast to conventional ultrasonic measurement, the ultrasonic waves expand along the structure and are guided by the structure boundaries. In order to use guided waves for damage detection, the healthy condition of the structure must be known in advance so that it can be used as a reference. [7]

Currently, the procedure is mostly based on the pulseecho or pitch-catch approach [8]. The difference between conventional ultrasonic measurement and ultrasonic measurement with guided waves is simplified illustrated in figure 3. The precision of ultrasonic measurement is around 1 cm [11].



Fig. 3: The difference between a) ultrasonic guided wave measurement and b) conventional ultrasonic measurement

In a study conducted by [12], it was found that the guided ultrasonic waves are also suitable for preventing or removing ice build-up on the WTB by exciting the material particles.

5.4 Strain measurement

For strain measurement, strain sensors are attached to the surface of the WTBs or incorporated into the material to detect compressive and tensile stresses. In order to monitor the local strain continuously, the position of the sensor must be known. Strain gauges or fiber optic sensors are often used. Fiber optic sensors are currently used because they do not require an external energy source. [5]

Strain measurement can be divided into two types [5]:

- direct strain and
- shear strain.

The difference is illustrated in figure 4. The precision of this method is around 1 cm [11].



Key: F=force; l=length; x=strain

Fig. 4: The difference between a) direct strain and b) shear strain (own illustration based on [17])

5.5 Vibration measurement

Vibrations caused by rotating WTBs are the main cause of wind turbine failure [18]. Vibration analysis can be used to detect damage at an early stage. Damage leads to changes in the material properties of the WTBs. The approach is based on recognizing the change in physical properties through modal characteristics. The parameters which are affected are mass, consistency and damping. [5]

Wind turbines are exposed to wind currents and turbulence, which cause vibrations in the WTBs. Depending on the level of damage, the vibration signals contain different signatures. These are identified using signal processing techniques (time-based, frequencybased, time-frequency-based). [7]

Sensors are used to record the vibration signals. Due to the damping, several vibration sensors are required to identify fault locations. Currently, research is focusing on improving signal processing techniques, for example by integrating them with machine learning tools. [5]

During a 3.5-month test phase on a WTB in operation, [19] detected damage larger than 15 cm using the vibration-based approach.



5.6 Thermographic measurement

Temperature measurement is used to detect delamination and impact damage. The damage can be detected on the surface as well as in the substrate using this method. [5]

The method for detecting temperature changes is divided into the **passive monitoring method**, in which the ambient temperature is compared with the material temperature and the active monitoring method, which is based on the change in the material temperature due to different loads. Passive methods are rarely used in the monitoring of WTBs. The active method is used more often. This requires an external excitation source, such as heat lamps. The transferred energy leads to specific temperature distributions around the damage and thus enables detection. Internal damage such as cracks in the matrix or the pull-out of fibers can also be detected by thermographic measurement. This thermal imaging technology is not suitable for use during operation, because it is heavily dependent on the ambient temperature. [7]

Thermographic measurement can achieve an accuracy of 3-5 mm [11]. [20] have developed a continuous laser thermography method with an algorithm that detects internal delamination on WTBs. The method was successfully verified by an experiment using a WTB with internal damage of 20 mm. Further studies are required for practical use in order to increase the inspection speed.

5.7 Visual inspection

This method is used to detect damage to the surface such as cracks or scratches. Historically, this method is based on the principle of the "naked eye". [7]

Today, image processing systems are used, which include recording devices, computers and image processing algorithms. The method can be used to determine vibration behavior, structural stresses or strains and defects. It is suitable for measuring WTBs because it can capture large areas in a short time. [5]

5.8 Radioscopy and radiography testing

The x-ray imaging technique is based on the nonuniform absorption of x-rays of the damaged area. This method can be used to localize internal damage. An x-ray source and an x-ray detector are required. X-ray sources are often x-ray tubes with a low photon flux. x-ray film is widely used as the x-ray detector. The method is used more for checking the quality of WTBs and not for use during operation. [7]

5.9 Eddy current testing

Eddy current testing is based on the change in the conductivity of the material as a result of damage. Electromagnetic eddy currents are induced in the material. Measuring the high-frequency eddy currents allows conclusions to be drawn about the conductivity. If there is damage, the eddy current density changes and uneven heating occurs, which can be recorded using an infrared camera. The method is also suitable for composite materials. [7]

6 Results

Strain measurement and vibration measurement are two of the methods that have already been established for SHM of WTBs. However, these methods do not only have advantages. For this reason, other methods for SHM have been tested in the past and still offer further potential for research. One reason for researching new techniques is the high demand of sensors for strain measurement or vibration measurement. By using other techniques, the number of required sensors can be reduced without compromising the measurement accuracy and still enabling an area-wide measurement. Methods such as acoustic (emission) measurement or ultrasonic measurement are already widely used. Eddy current testing and radioscopy tend to be the exception. Measures whose data is available online are suitable for SHM. The measurement takes place continuously and during operation.

7 Discussion

With regard to continuous monitoring of the WTBs, SHM measures that can continuously evaluate data in real-time are of particular interest. Measures that cannot be used during operation and therefore do not enable real-time recording should be used as a supplement to increase the accuracy of the monitoring. The research has shown that no method has a unique position in the field of SHM. Rather, it will depend on the boundary conditions as to which method is suitable for the application. However, it can be assumed that strain measurement, acoustic (emission) measurement, ultrasonic measurement and vibration measurement methods in particular will continue to be important in the future, because these methods are already widely used and continue to offer significant scope for research.

The identified techniques provide a good overview of the possibilities for SHM. However, the individual methods can be specifically individualized, for example by using different sensors. The described advantages and disadvantages then apply generally to the method and it must be verified whether advantages and/or disadvantages can be eliminated or



supplemented by different configurations. It would also be possible to combine different methods to improve the measurements. For example, acoustic emission measurement could be combined with ultrasonic measurement. Ultrasonic measurement can be used to determine the shape and size of the damage. The acoustic emission measurement is then used to localize the damage. In the field, it is necessary to check which process can be used for which material.

8 Outlook

As the study has shown, there will be a need for further research in the field of SHM of WTBs in the future. No method is so mature and fully researched that there is no longer any need for optimization. The following points are particularly relevant:

- Minimizing the number of sensors with the same or better measurement quality
- Reduction of noise to improve measurement quality
- Use of artificial intelligence to detect damage patterns
- General improvement of the sensors and signal processing algorithms

References

- D. W. GmbH, ed. Status des Windenergieausbaus an Land in Deutschland - Erstes Halbjahr 2023. 18.07.2023. URL: https://www. windguard.de/id-1-halbjahr-2023.html? file=files/cto_layout/img/unternehmen/ windenergiestatistik / 2023 / Halbjahr / Status % 20des % 20Windenergieausbaus % 20an%20Land_Halbjahr%202023.pdf.
- [2] D. W. GmbH, ed. Status des Offshore-Windenergieausbaus in Deutschland - Erstes Halbjahr 2023. 25.07.2023. URL: https:// www.windguard.de/id-1-halbjahr-2023.html?file=files/cto_layout/ img/unternehmen/windenergiestatistik/ 2023/Halbjahr/Status%20des%200ffshore-Windenergieausbaus_Halbjahr%202023.pdf.
- [3] W. Yang, Z. Peng, K. Wei, and W. Tian. "Structural health monitoring of composite wind turbine blades: challenges, issues and potential solutions". *IET Renewable Power Generation* 11 (4 2016), pp. 411–416. DOI: 10.1049/iet-rpg. 2016.0087.
- M. Janning. Anfrage Schadensstatistik Windkraftanlagen. E-Mail-Korrespondenz. 13.11.2023.

- [5] P. Kaewniam, M. Cao, N. F. Alkayem, D. Li, and E. Manoach. "Recent advances in damage detection of wind turbine blades: A state-of-theart review". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 167 (2022), p. 112723.
- [6] L. Qiao and A. Esmaeily. "An overview of signalbased damage detection methods". Applied Mechanics and Materials 94 (2011), pp. 834–851.
- [7] N. Beganovic and D. Söffker. "Structural health management utilization for lifetime prognosis and advanced control strategy deployment of wind turbines: An overview and outlook concerning actual methods, tools, and obtained results". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 64 (2016), pp. 68–83. ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.05.083.
- [8] R. Yang, Y. He, and H. Zhang. "Progress and trends in nondestructive testing and evaluation for wind turbine composite blade". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 60 (2016), pp. 1225–1250. ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.02.026.
- [9] D. Li, S.-C. M. Ho, G. Song, L. Ren, and H. Li. "A review of damage detection methods for wind turbine blades". *Smart Materials and Structures* 24.3 (2015). DOI: 10.1088/0964-1726/24/3/033001.
- [10] J. Tang, S. Soua, C. Mares, and T.-H. Gan. "An experimental study of acoustic emission methodology for in service condition monitoring of wind turbine blades". *Renewable Energy* 99 (2016), pp. 170–179. ISSN: 0960-1481. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2016.06.048.
- [11] C. Beale, M. Inalpolat, and C. Niezrecki. "Active acoustic damage detection of structural cavities using internal acoustic excitations". *Structural Health Monitoring* 19.1 (2020), pp. 48–65. DOI: 10.1177/1475921719835761.
- H. Habibi, L. Cheng, H. Zheng, V. Kappatos, C. Selcuk, and T.-H. Gan. "A dual de-icing system for wind turbine blades combining high-power ultrasonic guided waves and lowfrequency forced vibrations". *Renewable Energy* 83 (2015), pp. 859–870. ISSN: 0960-1481. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2015. 05.025.
- [13] C. Beale, D. J. Willis, C. Niezrecki, and M. Inalpolat. "Passive acoustic damage detection of structural cavities using flow-induced acoustic excitations". *Structural Health Monitoring* 19.3 (2020), pp. 751–764. DOI: 10.1177/ 1475921719860389.
- [14] A. Raghavan and C. Cesnik. "Review of Guided-Wave Structural Health Monitoring". *The Shock* and Vibration Digest 39 (Mar. 2007), pp. 91– 114. DOI: 10.1177/0583102406075428.



- M. Coramik and Y. Ege. "Discontinuity inspection in pipelines: A comparison review". Measurement 111 (2017), pp. 359–373. ISSN: 0263-2241. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.measurement.2017.07.058.
- K. V. Jata, T. Kundu, and T. A. Parthasarathy.
 "An Introduction to Failure Mechanisms and Ultrasonic Inspection". Advanced Ultrasonic Methods for Material and Structure Inspection. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2007. Chap. 1, pp. 1–42. ISBN: 9780470612248. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470612248.chl.
- [17] R. Timings. Newnes Mechanical Engineer's Pocket Book. Newnes Pocket Books. Elsevier/Newnes, 2006. ISBN: 9780750665087. URL: https://books.google.de/books?id= IZdDk1cMlLcC.
- [18] A. Abouhnik and A. Albarbar. "Wind turbine blades condition assessment based on vibration measurements and the level of an empirically decomposed feature". *Energy Conversion and Management* 64 (2012). IREC 2011, The International Renewable Energy Congress, pp. 606– 613. ISSN: 0196-8904. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.enconman.2012.06.008.
- [19] D. Tcherniak and L. L. Mølgaard. "Active vibration-based structural health monitoring system for wind turbine blade: Demonstration on an operating Vestas V27 wind turbine". Structural Health Monitoring 16.5 (2017), pp. 536–550. DOI: 10.1177/1475921717722725.
- [20] S. Hwang, Y.-K. An, and H. Sohn. "Continuous Line Laser Thermography for Damage Imaging of Rotating Wind Turbine Blades". *Proceedia Engineering* 188 (2017). Structural Health Monitoring - From Sensing to Diagnosis and Prognosis, pp. 225–232. ISSN: 1877-7058. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.04.478.

Drawing up a catalog of criteria for special solutions for fish passages based on the DWA-M 509 leaflet

Tessa Finke*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

The preservation of water bodies continuity is fundamental for aquatic communities, particularly for fish populations. Various structures impede watercourse continuity, impacting fish migration and habitat distribution. Conventional fish passages often fall short in diverse scenarios, prompting the development of specialized solutions. This article proposes a criteria catalog for these special fish passage solutions based on DWA leaflet DWA-A 509. It discusses the need for these solutions, presents a selection of specialized options, and outlines criteria from DWA-M 509, construction guidelines, and economic perspectives. It scrutinizes criteria ranging from target fish species to cost considerations. Three examples, including the Runserau fish lift, the bristle ramp fish lock, and the Fishcon sluice, illustrate these specialized solutions, their functionalities, advantages, and drawbacks. Additionally, the article compiles criteria from industry standards and guidelines into a comprehensive evaluation catalog. The criteria, when applied, assist in the selection of suitable fish passage solutions based on specific site conditions and fish species requirements. This holistic approach aims to optimize fishway selection, fostering the ecological sustainability of watercourses. However, this catalog remains dynamic and open to expansion with evolving research and practical application, urging further exploration and validation of these criteria through diverse case studies and technological advancements in the field.

Keywords: Fish passages, Criteria catalog, DWA-M 509, Special solution , Forms of evaluation

1 Introduction

The introduction of the European Water Framework Directive not only gives greater importance to the ecological status of water bodies. It also emphasizes continuity as a fundamental prerequisite for the development of specific aquatic communities. [1] The continuity of water bodies is of great importance for fish. In some cases, fish benefit from the change of location through targeted migration. They can make the best possible use of the resources in their habitat and the population density is optimally distributed between suitable habitats. If watercourses are not passable, this leads to a lower population density and a change in species composition. [2] The continuity of watercourses can be interrupted by a wide variety of structures with different functions and constructions [1]. This is where fish passages can provide a remedy. Conventional fish passages cannot be used in every site-specific situation. In recent years, various special solutions for fish passage have therefore been developed and successfully implemented. [1] In order to provide an overview of the special solutions for fish passage and to be able to classify and use them more specifically, this article deals with a possible list of criteria for special solutions for fish passages based on the DWA-A 509 leaflet.

2 Material and Methods

In the following chapters, the necessity of special solutions for fish passages is discussed first. A selection of special solutions for fish passages is then presented, along with criteria from the DWA-M 509 leaflet used, criteria from the guidelines for the construction of fish passage and criteria from an economic perspective. The criteria presented are then compiled in a criteria catalog and an evaluation form is drawn up. At the end of the article, the catalog is applied using the example of the two evaluation forms and ends with a conclusion and an outlook on the establishment of a possible criteria catalog for special solutions for fish passages based on the DWA-M 509. The creation and the evaluation of the criteria catalog is limited to the German-speaking countries in this article.

3 Presentation of special options for fish passages

This article presents a selection of special solutions in brief. Three of the special solutions out of the fol-

 $[\]label{eq:corresponding} \ensuremath{^*\text{Corresponding author: tf} 509289@fh-muenster.de}.$

lowing list are described below. The special solutions for fish passage are used when standard forms of fish passage are not appropriate or effective. Reasons for inadequate performance of standardized fish passage may include the following :

- height difference [1]
- availability [1]
- estuary/entry situations [3]
- high water velocities [4]
- water level fluctuations [1]
- more ecological design [3]
- costs [4]

Special solutions are used when the standard forms of fish passages are not able to adequately meet the specific conditions of a body of water or the needs of the fish species living there. They form solutions that are tailored to more difficult requirements in order to maximize the efficiency and effectiveness of fish passages. Special solutions for fish passages include the following constructions:

- Multi-structure fish pass [1]
- Fish ladder screw [1]
- Modified denil pass [1]
- Fish lift [1]
- Fish lock [1]
- Double-slot pass [5]
- Combined fish lift system [1]
- Two-chamber fish lift [1]
- Bristle ramp fish lock [6]
- Bristle fish pass [6]
- Super-active baffle pass according to Larinier [6]
- Fish canoe pass [6]

3.1 Runserau fish lift as an example

The way fish lifts work is very similar to that of a passenger elevator. The cage, which contains a water-filled tub, is similarly to an elevator car and is moved from a starting point to an end point. [1]

Fish lifts are characterized by a movable lifting basket in which the fish are transported from the level of the lower water to the level of the upper water. [7] Fish lifts can be divided into three types:

- Vertical elevators (the most common type)[1],
- inclined elevators (such as at Wyaralong Dam and Teviot Brook),[1] and
- Ropeways (such as at the Frieira Dam on the Miño River). [1]

In the example of the fish lift at the Runserau weir, there is an access structure in front of the fish lift in the form of a conventional slotted pass to ensure that it is easy to find. Two entrances, one far from the weir and one close to the weir, which were positioned due to the different discharge situations, take all discharge situations into account. In addition, an attraction flow is flexibly divided between the entrance far from the weir and the entrance near the weir. The slotted passes and the attraction flow guide the fish to the fish lift after the entrance. [1] Fish lifts can be divided into three phases:

- 1. catching phase [1].,
- 2. lifting and emptying of the cage [1].and
- 3. lowering phase, after which the cycle begins again [1]

Figure 1 shows the structure of a fish lift.



Fig. 1: Illustration of the structure of a fish lift for salmonids as a cross-section [8].

The advantages of the fish lift over conventional fish ladders are Small space requirement, suitable for large height differences and fluctuating headwater levels, can be used at locations where other fish ladders do not work. [3] Disadvantages of the fish lift compared to conventional fish ladders are Limited individual locations to date, insufficiently proven functionality, increased maintenance requirements, lack of long-term experience, comparatively higher construction and operating costs, offers no habitat, no possibility for fish descent. [3]

3.2 Bristle ramp fish lock

The bristle fish pass is essentially a channel with a variable wall structure. At the bottom of this channel, which has a rectangular or trapezoidal cross-section, bristle bundles are attached that serve as hydraulic roughness elements. These packages consist of several bundles of elastic individual bristles, typically 5 to 8 bristles per bundle. The operating sequences are divided into several clearly defined phases. At the beginning of the collection phase, the underwater/outlet gate is opened completely, while the knife gate value of the upper water/intake gate opens partially in order to introduce a pre-determined attraction flow. The water flows under the gate, hits a bristle block and is distributed by percolation via the ramp into the collection chamber. Here it forms an attraction flow for immigration into the sluice chamber. This is followed by the sluicing phase, in which the underwater gate is closed to prevent the fish from leaving the sluice. The water level in the sluice rises to headwater level, while the fish follow the slowly rising current from the bristle field and are lured up the ramp. This phase is completed as soon as the water level in the sluice box corresponds to the headwater level. [9] The exit phase with siphon operation begins by opening the exit contactor to generate an exit lock flow. Siphons start shortly before full filling and draw off exactly the amount of water required for the exit lure flow. A calmed water outflow already attracts fish back into the entry area (see fig.2). [9] This is followed by the



Fig. 2: Components of the Bristle fish lock (longitudinal section) [10].

emptying phase with siphons, during which the upper water gate remains closed while the siphons continue to operate and maintain the lock flow. The water level in the lock drops. At the end of the emptying phase, the underwater gate opens partially to allow water to flow out in a controlled manner and to equalize the water level between the lock chamber and underwater. Immediately afterwards, the upper water gate is pulled into the position for the collection phase to reactivate the lock flow and restart the cycle. [9]

Advantages of the bristle ramp fish sluice compared to conventional fish ladders are: simple construction, low space requirement, shape can be adapted to available space, few fittings and moving parts, fast ascent, low costs. [9]

Disadvantage of the bristle ramp fish lock compared to conventional fish ladders are: one pilot plant has been realized so far. [9]

3.3 Two-chamber fish migration aid using the Fishcon sluice as an example

The two-chamber fish migration aid, also known as the Fishcon sluice, is a further development of conventional fish sluices. It is based on a patented technology that hydraulically connects two lock chambers operated in opposite directions (see fig. 3). This configuration enables a continuous passage of fish from both sides, in contrast to conventional fish locks and elevators, which operate intermittently. This increases the efficiency of the system, which enables both the ascent and descent of fish. [1] The Fishcon



Fig. 3: Structure of the Fishcon fish pass [11].

sluice minimizes turbulence in the chambers by dissipating energy outside the fish migration area and allows the flow velocity to be adjusted for optimum fish migration. It has a continuous bed as standard, which enables the passage of bed-related fish species. The system is resistant to flooding and insensitive to fluctuating water levels. [1] The advantages of twochamber fish migration aids over conventional fish ladders are: Small space requirement, cost-effective construction. [3] Disadvantages of two-chamber fish migration aids compared to conventional fish ladders are: Limited single sites to date, insufficiently proven



functionality, requires multiple modules with large height differences, provides no habitat. [3]

4 Criteria for special options for fish passages

In this chapter, the criteria to be met by fish passages are presented so that they can then be summarized in a list of criteria. Criteria from the leaflet DWA-M 509 "Fish passages and fish passable structures - design, dimensioning, quality assurance" and criteria from the guidelines for the construction of fish passages from the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Regions and Tourism as well as criteria from an economic perspective are presented.

4.1 Criteria from the DWA-M 509 leaflet

The information sheet lists eight general requirement criteria for fish passage.

- target species and target stages [2]
- operating time [2]
- migration corridor [2]
- detectability [2]
- passability [2]
- design of the exit [2]
- maintenance and operation [2]

In principle, a fish passages should allow all fish species, from low-performing to high-performing species, to migrate. The various fish species differ in terms of their behavior, growth and performance. The different species therefore have different requirements of the fish passage. In the early developmental stages of young fish, meeting certain requirements is problematic as their performance is still limited. For example, flow velocity can be a selective factor for certain fish species. [2] Fish passability should be guaranteed all vear round, as fish migration occurs all year round. As this can hardly be achieved technically due to absolute high and low water levels, there is a practical compromise of 30 days on which it is acceptable to exceed the limit. The fish passage must be in continuous operation around the clock, as fish migrate both during the day and at night and sometimes take several days to ascend. [2] The migration corridor is a space that provides ideal conditions for all fish to orient themselves and swim upstream against the current. These ideal conditions are created by sufficient dimensions of the corridor and a directed current with little turbulence. The migration corridor is continuous and extends from the underwater area of an obstacle

to the fish passage or structural work that can be passed by fish and extends into the upstream area. [2] The following points should be taken into account to ensure that fish passages are easy to find:

- Large-scale arrangement of fish ladders and fish passable structures in the watercourse [2]
- Character of the guiding current [2]
- Local positioning of the entrance (outlet) of a fish ladder or the migration corridor via a fishpassable structure [2]
- Design of the entrance [2]

The fish passages or a fish passable structure is considered passable if all fish species and developmental stages according to the fish species and fish stages that have found the entrance and are also able to pass the entire structure during high and low water. For smaller and less efficient species and individuals, the hydraulic conditions are particularly decisive, while the passability for larger specimens depends primarily on the size of the migration corridor. [2] Overcoming a fish passages is a considerable challenge and results in the fish swimming upstream being exhausted by the time they reach the headwater. The area should therefore be free of strong turbulence and high flow velocities. [2] The principle states that functionality is only guaranteed if it is regularly maintained. Proper maintenance includes weekly checks of the system and the occasional removal of floating debris and other faults. In addition, the lift should be taken out of service at least once a year to identify and rectify debris, potential damage to the bottom protection and problems in the areas below the water surface. [2]

4.2 Criteria from the guidelines for the construction of fish passage

The following general criteria are listed in the guidelines for the construction of fish passages:

- Ensuring findability [7]
- Ensuring passability [7]
- Sufficient service life throughout the year [7]
- Ensuring operational safety [7]
- Appropriate accident prevention [7]
- Size-determining fish species [7]

Criteria such as ensuring detectability, ensuring passability, passability of the facility, functional acidity, operational safety and the general criteria for fish

 (\mathbf{i})

species were explained in the chapter above. To prevent potential disturbance, measures must be taken to protect the facility in the event of flooding, driftwood or other forms of destruction. It is important to establish an appropriate procedure for any necessary fishing operations. In the event of a damming or low water levels, an emergency supply should be guaranteed. In the event of a failure of the regular water supply, defined minimum quantities of water must be statically available. [7]

4.3 Determined criteria for the selection of special solutions for fish passage

If there are specific conditions at a site that cannot be met by conventional fish passage, a special solution must be found. Factors such as the height to be overcome, space requirements, complex estuary and entry situations, high water velocities, water level fluctuations and financial resources are the criteria according to which special solutions for fish passage can be selected. By simultaneously considering the general requirements for conventional fish passage and the combination of site-specific requirements for special fish passage solutions, a list of criteria for the selection of special fish passage solutions can be drawn up.

5 Summary of the criteria in a criteria catalog

The requirements listed in chapter three are summarized in this chapter and formatted in an evaluation catalog for use in selecting a suitable special solution. A selection of criteria was chosen based on the general criteria listed and the criteria for the construction of special solutions for fish passages. As the general criteria must also be observed when constructing special solutions, these play a less important role in the catalog. There are general criteria and decisive ones for the choice of special solutions. For example, the target fish species is a strong criterion when choosing a special solution. In the case of passability, it is assumed that these criteria are prerequisites and do not need to be evaluated separately in a catalog for special solutions. The same applies to the operating time, which is defined in accordance with DWA-M 509, the migration corridor, findability and the design of the exit. At this point, it should be noted that criteria such as passability, maintenance and operation should be assessed in a different way. For example, the criterion of the number of structures already built by the special solutions plays a role here. The number of realized locations of special solutions and their evaluation can be used to draw conclusions about passability, maintenance and operation. As the disadvantage of the special solutions is the limited

number of individual locations, the existing locations of the special solutions are included as a criterion. In addition, the decisive factors for the need for a special solution (see section 3.3) are also taken into account. In summary, the following criteria form a possible catalog for the selection of special solutions for fish ladders:

- Target fish species
- Height difference
- Space availability
- \bullet Costs
- Realized locations
- Maintenance and service life

5.1 Presentation of the criteria catalog

The figure 4 shows a possible representation of the criteria mentioned in sections 4.3 and 5. Further criteria can be added in the columns if necessary. The respective special solutions for fish migration can be evaluated in the rows.

	Criteria						
special solution	Target fish species	Height difference	Space availability	Costs	Realized locations	Maintenance	Service life
Fischlift							
Bristle ramp fish lock							
Two-chamber fish migration aid							

Fig. 4: Presentation of the criteria in a catalog

5.2 Evaluation of the criteria catalog

The evaluation of the criteria catalog can be filled out site-specifically for a special case in order to be able to select a choice of special solutions for the fish ladder or generally in order to compare the special solutions with each other (see fig. 5). For a sitespecific evaluation, the evaluation catalog can be used as follows:

- \bullet ++: fully applies
- \bullet +: applies
- O: neutral
- -: does not apply
- \bullet -: does not apply at all

After the site-specific assessment, the special solution with the most positive results can be selected with ease.



			Criteria				
special solution	Target fish species	Height difference	Space availability	Costs	Realized locations	Maintenance	Service life
Fischlift	+	++	++		++		-
Bristle ramp fish lock	+		-	+	0	-	+
Two-chamber fish migration aid	++			+	o	++	++

Fig. 5: Exemplary evaluation form of the catalog for a special case

	Criteria						
special solution	Target fish species	Height difference	Space availability	Costs	Realized locations	Maintenance	Service life
Fischlift	Depending on the built-in catch chamber	10 m	low	Depending on circumstances: between 100.000 € and 30 Mio. €	Many and well- documente d locations	Comparatively higher	Rather lower in comparison due to many fittings and moving parts
Bristle ramp fish lock	Also for weak swimmers	/	Small and customizable	Comparatively low	Pilot plant on the Aare	Low due to few fittings and moving parts	High due to few fittings and moving parts
Two-chamber fish migration aid	sole migrants, weakly swimming fish species	1,5 – 6 m	Very small due to compact design	Cost-saving investment	Very many locations	Resistant	High due to few fittings and moving parts

Fig. 6: Exemplary evaluation form of the catalog for various special solutions

In a comparison of the special solutions for fish migration without site-specific conditions, which can be included in the criteria, the evaluation may be as the following figure 6.

For example, two types of application and forms of evaluation of the established criteria catalog could look like this.

6 Conclusion and outlook

The investigation of special solutions for fish ladders has shown that the importance of the continuity of water bodies for aquatic ecology is crucial. Standardized fish ladders reach their limits when it comes to adapting to site-specific conditions. The development of special solutions has proven to be an effective alternative to meet these requirements. A set of criteria that takes into account both general and site-specific requirements can optimize the selection and implementation of tailor-made fishways and thus promote the ecological sustainability of watercourses. It should also be noted that the established list of criteria is only one possibility for evaluation and can be supplemented by further criteria. Furthermore, a list of criteria for general consideration should always be updated, as new findings will emerge in the future. It was also not possible to provide a meaningful answer to every criterion in the evaluation examples, as some information was missing. The work on a catalog of criteria for special solutions for fish ladders represents an important step in supporting the field of aquatic ecology. Future research could focus on validating and expanding this catalog by applying it to different sites and new technologies. It would also be interesting to conduct case studies to verify the practical application of these special solutions and evaluate their effectiveness in different environments. This could help to

identify best practices and enable the development of even more effective special solutions for fish migration.

References

- M. Schletterer et al. "Sonderlösungen zum Fischaufstieg - Stand in Österreich". Wasserwirtschaft (2023), pp. 35–40. DOI: 10.1007/s35147– 023-1781-y.
- [2] DWA. "Fischaufstiegsanlagen und fischpassierbare Bauwerke – Gestaltung, Bemessung, Qualitätssicherung". 340 (2014). ISSN: 978-3-942964-91-3.
- [3] LUNG. "Landesamt für Umwelt Naturschutz und Geologie Mecklenburg - Vorpommern-Bewertung von Fischaufstiegsanlagen in Mecklenburg-Vorpommern - Bestandsanalyse -". 105 (2023).
- [4] G. S. Armstrong et al. "Environment Agency Fish Pass Manual". 369 (2009).
- [5] S. Heimer. Biologische Durchgängigkeit von Fließgewässern - Ausgewählte Beiträge aus der Fachzeitschrift WasserWirtschaft. Springer, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-13990-2.
- [6] R. Hassinger. "persönliche E-mail: Sonderlösungen Fischaufstieg - über Prof. Grüning" (2023).
- [7] BMLRT. "Leitfaden zum Bau von Fischaufstiegshilfen 2021". 224 (2021). ISSN: 978-3-942964-91-3.
- B. F. P. Piscic. "Fishways: biological basis, design criteria and monitoring" (2002). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1051/kmae/2002096.
- [9] R. Hassinger. "Versuchsanstalt und Prüfstelle für Umwelttechnik und Wasserbau Fachbereich Bauingenieur- und Umweltingenieurwesen, Universität Kassel". 6 (2022).
- [10] R. Hassinger. "Die Borstenrampen Fischschleuse - ein Konzept zur wirtschaftlicheren Lösung des Fischaufstiegsproblems Versuchsanstalt und Prüfstelle für Umwelttechnik und Wasserbau, Universität Kassel". 22 ().
- Fishcon. Simple structure that convinces. 2023.
 URL: https:\-//fish\-con\-.at/en/fish-pass/schleuse.



Water wheels for energy recovery in the outlet of wastewater treatment plants

Using the example of the water wheel at the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant

Kevin Kramer*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

1 Abstract

The annual wastewater flow that is treated by public wastewater treatment plants in Germany amounts to approx. $10 * 10^9 \frac{m^3}{a}$ and forms an "artificial" hydropower potential that can be used for energy generation or recovery. In the context of this paper, energy recovery in the outlet of wastewater treatment plants is examined using the specific example of the water wheel at the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant. The "artificial" hydropower potential can be roughly estimated at up to 20 to 105 $\frac{GWh}{a}$, whereby this is largely dependent on the hydraulic gradient. The strong variance results, among other things, from the findings of the water wheel operation in Warendorf. The decisive aspect here is the differential factor, which describes the deviation between the theoretical and actual energy yield of the water wheel. The factor includes maintenance work, downtimes and insufficient inflows, which are associated with a loss of output. In the case study, the annual energy recovery amounts to approx. 2 % of the annual electricity consumption of the wastewater treatment plant and can be estimated to 23,500 kWh (2022). In the context of the economic analysis, it can be seen that despite the "low" yield, economic operation is possible if the system is viewed as a long-term investment - payback period of the example is approx. 14,5 years. The 27-year operation (1996 - 2023) of the water wheel at the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant confirms this and important findings on successful practical operation can be shown in the context of this paper.

Keywords: energy recovery, wastewater treatment plant, water wheel, potential, real example

2 Introduction

Over 96 % of the total German population is connected to the public sewer system, which feeds the col-

lected wastewater into around 10.000 public wastewater treatment plants. The wastewater flow amounts to a total of approx. $10 * 10^9 \frac{m^3}{a}$, which is purified by the public wastewater treatment plants and then fed back into the water cycle [1].

This wastewater flow forms an "artificial" hydropower potential that can be used to generate or recover energy. This can take place, for example, within the sewer network, in drop structures or in the outlet of wastewater treatment plants [2, 3]. In the context of this paper, energy recovery in the outlet of wastewater treatment plants is considered using the specific example of the water wheel of the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant, although it should be mentioned that other hydropower machines are available for potential utilization, such as hydropower screws or various turbines.

3 Methods and approach

This paper is based on an on-site visit of the waterwheel of the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant (population value: 80.000), which was built in 1996. Through the operation of this waterwheel until today (2023), important practical knowledge could be collected regarding energy recovery through water wheels. These are supplemented by the results of online research and the associated literature, which is primarily based on the keywords. On the one hand, it is thus possible to estimate the total hydropower potential of wastewater treatment plant outlets in Germany and, on the other hand, advantages and disadvantages as well as practical experience can be shown with regard to utilization by means of top-shaft water wheels.

4 Hydropower potential of the wastewater treatment plant outlets

The theoretical hydropower potential in the outlet of a wastewater treatment plant results from the design discharge and the hydraulic gradient between the



^{*}Corresponding author: kk603508@fh-muenster.de.

receiving water and the outlet [3]. It can be calculated using the following formula [4]:

$$P_{el} = \rho * g * h * Q * \eta$$

(1)

- $P_{el} = electrical \ power \ in \ W$
- $\rho = density of the medium in \frac{kg}{m^3}$
- $g = gravitational \ acceleration \ in \ \frac{m}{s^2}$
- $h = drop \ height \ or \ wheel \ diameter \ in \ m$
- $Q = volume flow of the medium in \frac{m^3}{s}$
- $\eta = overall \ efficiency \ of \ the \ hydropower$ machine in %

Under the following assumptions, the theoretical total hydropower potential of Germany's wastewater treatment plant outlets can be estimated as shown in Figure 1 (potential according to drop height without differential factor [differential factor: Deviation between theoretical [Theoretical yield₈₇₆₀ $\frac{h}{a}$] and actual energy yield [Real yield (2022)], based on the water wheel at the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant shown in Table 1]):

- $\rho = 1000 \frac{kg}{m^3}$
- $g = 9,81 \frac{m}{s^2}$
- $Q = 317, 1 \frac{m^3}{s}$
- $\eta = 0, 7 [3]$

If the findings from the operation of the water wheel at the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant are taken into account, it can be seen that the potential can vary significantly due to the differential factor of approx. 4.95 (potential according to drop height with differential factor).



Fig. 1: Estimation of the total hydropower potential of wastewater treatment plant outlets in Germany

A more precise estimate of the total hydropower potential of wastewater treatment plant discharges in Germany is difficult, as this would require a closer examination of the individual plants with regard to their discharge volumes and hydraulic gradients.

5 Water wheel of the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant

Due to the hydraulic gradient of > 5 m between the outlet and the receiving water, the waterwheel of the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant was designed as a top-shaft cell construction - see Figure 2. The treated wastewater is fed (partly shown in Figure 2) via a foil-lined wooden channel and is equipped with an overflow so that the design flow rate of 400 l/s is not exceeded, for example in the event of heavy rainfall. A shut-off valve is also installed so that the flow to the water wheel can be shut off in the event of an emergency. The water wheel itself consists of a hot-dip galvanized steel shaft as well as spokes and reinforcing struts on which the stainless steel paddles/cells are mounted. The shaft rests on two bearings and ends in a coupling. In the event of a frictional connection, the speed is adjusted by a planetary gearbox, which enables the significantly higher nominal speed of the asynchronous generator. The design parameters and other key figures are shown in Table 1 [5]. The differential factor describes the deviation between the theoretical and actual energy yield of the water wheel. The factor includes insufficient inflows, maintenance work and downtimes, which are associated with a loss of output.



Fig. 2: Water wheel in the outlet of the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant (2023)





Tab. 1: Design parameters and key figures of the waterwheel at the Warendorf wastewater treatmentplant

Parameter	Unit	Value
	Om	value
Type of construction	-	top-shaft
Year of construction	уууу	1996
Drop height	m	$5,\!5$
Water wheel diameter	m	4,83
Width of water wheel	m	1,5
Wheel speed	rpm	6,5
Max. absorption capacity	l/s	400
Theoretical output (manufacturer		
specification)	kW	$13,\!6$
Actual output	kW	$12,\!6$
Theoretical yield _8760 $\frac{h}{a}$	$\frac{kWh}{a}$	116.219
Real yield (2022)	$rac{kWh}{a}$	23.500
Differential factor yield	-	4,95
Electricity requirement (2022)	kWh	1.270.000
Real energy recovery	%	2
Total energy recovery	$kWh_{1996-2023}$	634.500

6 Advantages and disadvantages of a water wheel for energy recovery and findings from practical operation in Warendorf

Due to the 27 years of existence and operation of the waterwheel at the Warendorf wastewater treatment plant, important findings could be gained, which are listed below in combination with advantages and disadvantages.

(+) Due to the continuous operation of the sewage treatment plant and the hydraulic gradient between the outlet and the receiving water, there is always (waste-)water potentially usable for energy recovery ([5], findings from internal study from 1990).

- (+) The system design is simple and tends to require little maintenance. Regular maintenance includes two gear oil changes per year as well as regreasing the shaft bearings [5].
- (-) Due to the established technology, water wheels are generally robust and durable systems [2, 6]. When designing or constructing the system, the resulting torque or mechanical forces and loads should not be underestimated. In the case of the Warendorf waterwheel, it was necessary to replace the coupling and redesign the spokes several times [5]:
 Version 1: Classic construction with a set of

version 1. Classic construction with a set of wooden spokes leading to insufficient stability
Version 2: Double spoke set made of hot-dip galvanized steel getting cracks at the weld seams after approx. 10 years of operation

- Version 3: Double set of spokes made of hotdip galvanized steel and reinforcing struts and plates

(+) The effluent water from a wastewater treatment plant does not contain any impurities [3] or fish populations, so that neither a screen nor a fish ladder is required, which reduces the construction costs.

- (-) The difference between theoretical and actual yield can be significant see differential factor yield at Table 1.
- (+) The Warendorf waterwheel was realized near the Ems-cycle-path and represents, among other things, visible public relations work [5] - "Fascination waterwheel".

7 Discussion and conclusion

It is already clear from the estimation of the hydropower potential of Germany's wastewater treatment plant outlets (Figure 1) that an individual consideration of the wastewater treatment plant with regard to discharge volume, hydraulic gradient and general location is always necessary. In general, however, the collection of this data is simple, so that a rough estimate of the potential is easy. Further planning is then possible, particularly in the context of the constant (waste-)water flow.

Table 1 shows that there can be a factor difference of up to 4,95 between the theoretical and actual yield. Furthermore, the energy recovery of 2 % of the annual electricity consumption can be assessed as low, but economically viable operation is possible, which is shown in Table 2 below. No statements were made by the Warendorf wastewater treatment plant with regard to investment, maintenance and operating costs. The values assumed in this regard in order to make an estimate are indicated by sources. The industrial electricity price for 2023 was assumed to be constant, although it is subject to annual fluctuations.

Tab. 2: Economic assessment (estimation) of energy
recovery by the waterwheel at the Warendorf
wastewater treatment plant

Parameter	Unit	Value
Operating time	a	27
Real yield (2022)	$\frac{kWh}{a}$	23.500
Industrial electricity price (2022) [7]	$\frac{Euro}{kWh}$	0,2251
Gross savings through energy recovery	$\frac{Euro}{a}$	5.290
Maintenance and operating costs [4]	$\frac{Euro}{a}$	1.500
Net savings through energy recovery	$\frac{Euro}{a}$	3.790
Investment costs (estimate [4])	Euro	55.000
Amortization time (excl. new construction spokes)	a	14,51
Net savings until 2023	Euro	102.330
Previous "profit" (2023)	Euro	47.325

Table 2 shows that the economically viable operation of a water wheel for energy recovery is possible, but that it is a long-term investment. With reference to the Federal Network Agency's electricity price analysis [7], however, the potential savings increase annually due to the constantly rising price trend. Apart from the repeated redesign and repair of the spokes, the 27 years of operation of the waterwheel at the Warendorf central wastewater treatment plant to date is a positive confirmation of the technology. Nevertheless, other technologies for energy recovery should also be considered in the course of planning, which include for example: Hydropower screws, Pelton turbines, through-flow turbines and submersible pump turbines [3].

8 Outlook

Due to the constantly growing global demand for energy [8] and the advancing energy transition, the topic of energy recovery will become even more relevant. Utilizing the "artificial" hydropower potential of wastewater treatment plant outlets is a possibility, regardless of the technology used. Building on this paper, a closer look at the differential factor and a detailed comparison of the available technologies would be useful.

References

- [1] Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz, nukleare Sicherheit und Verbraucherschutz (BMUV). Abwasser - Die aktuelle Situation in Deutschland. 2017. URL: https: / / www . bmuv . de / themen / wasser und - binnengewaesser / abwasser# : ~ : text = Die % 20aktuelle % 20Situation % 20in % 20Deutschland & text = In % 20 % C3 % B6ffentlichen % 20Kl % C3 % A4ranlagen % 20werden % 20j % C3 % A4hrlich , Prozent % 20biologisch%20mit%20gezielter%20N%C3% A4hrstoffentfernung..
- [2] Univ.-Prof. Dr.-Ing. J. Pinnekamp, Dr.-Ing. R. Haußmann, Dr.-Ing. F.-W. Bolle, Dipl.-Biol. K. Billmaier, Dipl.-Ing. R. Grebbin, Dipl.-Ing. B. Wienert and TAng J. Schunicht. "Wissenschaftliche Begleitung des Einsatzes eines Wasserrades zur Stromerzeugung in der Abwasserableitung" (2007). URL: https://www.lanuv.nrw.de/fileadmin/forschung/wasser/sonstiges/Abschlussbericht_wasserrad_neu.pdf.
- [3] Jesper Steuernagel, Thomas Kraus and Ulrich Zanke. "Wasserkraftnutzung in Kläranlagen" (2002). URL: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/296760959_Installation_of_ hydro_power_in_sewage_plants.
- [4] Cross-Innovation-Netzwerk IMPULS. Maβkonfektion für Ihren Mühlenstandort. 2023. URL: https://www.wasserrad. info/masskonfektion-fuer-ihrenmuehlenstandort/.
- [5] Interview: Kläranalge Warendorf, Bernhard Venherm, Interviewer: Kevin Kramer. Besichtigung des Wasserrades der Zentralkläranlage Warendorf. 24.10.2023.
- Karl Kraus Maschinenbau Oliver Kraus. [6]"Entwicklung und Bau einer Wasserkraftmaschine mit hohem Nutzungsgrad für bestehende Bauwerke im Abwasserbereich" (2016). URL: https : / / www . badenova . de / downloads / unternehmen / innovationsfonds engagement 1 downloads / unternehmensbereiche / stab / innovationsfonds / abschlussberichte / 2014/2014-02-ab-kraus-wasserkraft.pdf.

- Bundesnetzagentur. "Strompreise für Gewerbeund Industriekunden in Deutschland in den Jahren 2013 bis 2023 (in Euro-Cent pro Kilowattstunde) [Graph]. In Statista." (29.11.2023). URL: https://de-statista-com.ezproxy.
 fh - muenster . de / statistik / daten / studie/154902/umfrage/strompreise-fuerindustrie-und-gewerbe-seit-2006/.
- [8] energy institute. "Statistical Review of World Energy - 2023 - 72nd edition" (2023). URL: https://www.energyinst.org/__data/ assets/pdf_file/0004/1055542/EI_Stat_ Review_PDF_single_3.pdf.



Comparison of small wind turbines for urban areas, a market analysis

Julian Krehenbrink*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

This document presents a comparative analysis of horizontal and vertical small wind turbines for urban areas in three power classes up to 10 kW in different categories. The main objective was to conduct a market analysis to assess the marketability of these wind energy systems. The aim was to make it easier for potential customers to make a decision. However, due to the limited availability of data, the project encountered considerable difficulties. As a result, the study became a comparative assessment, which led to results that may not be readily transferable to urban environments, slightly missing the original objective of the study. The results underline the difficulties associated with conducting a comprehensive market analysis in this sector and highlight the need for an independent series of tests under specific conditions. The paper concludes with a plea for future research efforts to adapt data collection methods to urban conditions in order to improve the relevance and applicability of such studies in practice.

1 Introduction

The need to supply urban regions with sustainable energy has led to a growing interest in small wind turbines as a promising solution [1]. In the wake of this energy transition, the market for small wind energy is facing a remarkable challenge that needs to be addressed. However, the number of technologies, performance characteristics and economic aspects is confusing and has led to a complex landscape that needs to be untangled. This market analysis looks at the current confusion in the market for small wind turbines in urban areas. It looks at different models and manufacturers to help urban planners, energy experts and investors select the optimal solution for their specific requirements. In an environment where innovation is the norm, it is of great importance to keep an overview of the best available technologies. The aim of this analysis is to shed light on the current confusion in the market in order to help guide the urban energy transition.

2 Methodology

To prepare the paper, suitable sources were initially researched using the "Google Scholar" platform. However, high-quality sources were difficult to find, as both topicality and citation frequency and ratings had to be taken into account. Furthermore, search terms such as "market analysis of small wind turbines" in the context of urban areas did not lead to any useful results. There are many good sources on the topic of urban wind energy, but the market is very volatile, making it difficult to find up-to-date sources for a market analysis. After a suitable paper was found, the search was extended with the AI tool "researchRabbit". However, the sources found were not sufficient to create our own market analysis. For this reason, sources of lower quality and therefore less trustworthy were used. Some of these sources have not been verified by third parties.

With regard to the market analysis, it should be noted that various public market analyses were used for an initial overview. It was found that many of these analyses had qualitative shortcomings and only a little good information could be obtained from them [2-4]. When checking the facts, you often end up on the manufacturers' websites, which contain the information mentioned. It is noticeable that the manufacturer websites often provide more information than the compared analyses and further information can be provided on request.

Due to the size of the market for small wind turbines, only a small selection of available turbines are compared. The selection is based on a list of the most relevant companies in this sector. The list was compiled by "Market Research Future" in 2022 [5]:

- Kingspan Group Plc. (Ireland)
- Bergey Wind Power Co. Inc. (U.S.)
- S.L. (Spain)
- Guangzhou HY Energy Technology Co. Ltd (China)
- Shanghai Ghrepower Green Energy Co. Ltd (China)

^{*}Corresponding author: jk822137@fh-muenster.de.

• Aelos Wind Energy Ltd (U.K.)

A distinction is made between the horizontal and vertical axis. The key difference between these models is the position of the axis of rotation - horizontal or vertical - which distinguishes between horizontal and vertical axis wind turbines. The advantages and disadvantages of both variants will be worked out. A direct performance comparison is not possible due to the principle of operation. The following performance classes are also differentiated:

- $\bullet~{\rm less}$ than 2 kW
- 2 kW up to 5 kW
- 5 kW up to and including 10 kW

The following criteria are to be examined for the various systems:

- Investment
- Security
- Maintenance
- Power
- Noise emissions

The data collection comes from various sources and therefore a direct comparison cannot be guaranteed.

3 State of the art

The vast array of small wind turbine models available in today's market poses a significant challenge for prospective buyers seeking an overview. Horizontal wind turbines currently dominate the market and have established themselves as the technical standard in both the small turbine and megawatt range. There are no quality labels for the German market that are comparable to those in the USA or Japan. However, the IEC 61400-2 standard does exist, which prescribes comprehensive tests for wind turbines[6]. The international standard IEC 61400 is designed for large wind turbines. The following standards are relevant for small wind turbines:

- IEC 61400-2: Design requirements for small wind turbines
- IEC 61400-12-1: Measurement of the performance of a wind turbine
- IEC 61400-11: Sound measurement method
- ISO 9001

The certificate remains valid for a period of 5 years. If a change is made to the system, the certificate must be a new test must be carried out. Systems with IEC 61400-2 certification fully comply with the safety standards set out in the standard.

Alongside China, America is one of the largest markets for small wind turbines. In 2009, the American standard for small wind turbines was developed and published for certification by the American Wind Energy Association (AWEA) in cooperation with the American National Standards Institute (ANSI), manufacturers, technical experts, public authorities and consumers. Like most national standards, it is based on the IEC 61400 series of standards and focuses on ensuring the performance, quality and operational safety of turbines. The most important technical data, such as rated power at 11 m/s, noise emissions at 5 m/s and energy yield for a defined location, are presented in the form of a label and made available to consumers.

The systems in England are tested and approved by the Microgeneration Certification Scheme (MCS). This standard was developed jointly by consumer and public interest groups, manufacturers and interest groups. It applies to small wind turbines with an output of up to 50 kW (micro and small wind certification) and a swept rotor area of up to 200 m^2 . The tower and foundation are not tested. The implementing institutes are nationally recognized and accredited certification bodies of the United Kingdom Accreditation Service (UKAS). MCS006 (Micro and Small Wind Certification) refers to the "Renewable UK Small Wind Turbine Standard", or RUK for short, which was published in January 2014 and replaces the BWEA Small Wind Turbine Performance and Safety Standard. Similar to the US standard, quality (endurance test), performance and noise emissions are tested.

The operation of a small wind turbine in densely populated areas, in the immediate vicinity of buildings close to or on top of buildings requires additional requirements or changes to the assessment of aspects already taken into account. These additional requirements are not included in any recognized standard [7].

Small wind turbines are of particular interest in urban areas due to their use as a decentralized energy source in the immediate vicinity of consumers. The availability of this technology in urban environments is influenced by various factors such as building structures, local wind conditions and regulatory frameworks.

Real-world experience in urban environments provides valuable insights into the effectiveness of small wind turbines. Case studies and examples of successful implementations show not only positive results, but also challenges faced by users in cities. The evaluation of practical experience enables a realistic assessment



of the performance and potential impact of small wind turbines in urban areas. Unfortunately, not all small wind turbines available on the market are tested under urban conditions. Therefore, the turbines have to be compared based on the available data.

4 Use of wind power in urban areas

Wind conditions in the countryside and in the city differ due to various factors. In the city, the so-called "Urban Wind Island Effect" (UWI) occurs, where the average wind speed can be surprisingly higher than in the countryside, even though the city is rougher. This effect occurs in the afternoon and is caused by differences in the growth of the atmospheric boundary layer, surface roughness and ageostrophic wind between urban and rural areas [8]. But in generally the increased roughness of the city leads to a reduction in wind speed compared to open land [9]. The turbulence caused by buildings in urban areas increases the turbulence and thus deepens the boundary layer. This impairs the use of wind turbines [8]. Over urban areas or uneven terrain, the wind gradient effect can lead to a reduction in wind speed of 40 to 50 percent [10]. The change in wind speed over height in different environments is shown in Figure 1. Despite the difficult conditions, the use of wind energy in the city is possible. The following points must be observed for efficient use:

- 1. Location
- 2. Turbine
- 3. Approval process
- 4. Maintenance

The site of a potential wind turbine should have sufficient wind potential and be characterized by low turbulence and low interference from other structural elements and activities. The frequency of wind speeds above the starting speed of the turbine used should be as high as possible. No clear figures are available, as the economic efficiency also depends on the varying investment size. To avoid possible bad investments, it is advisable to carry out a one-year measurement at the site before the actual installation. Predictions of wind conditions in urban areas are often associated with a high degree of inaccuracy [11]. The choice of turbine has a significant influence on points 3 and 4. When making the decision, attention should be paid to noise emissions and maintenance intensity. Noise emissions and shadow impact in particular influence the approval. In areas with a high population density, these factors are much more likely to disturb local residents than in rural areas.



Fig. 1: Wind potential in different environments [12]

5 Results

To improve clarity, the company names and models in Table 1 have been numbered. The numbers are used in Tables 2, 3, 4 and 5.

There is only one company on the list that deals with the sale of small vertical axis wind turbines. The horizontal axis dominates the market, but the number of vertical axis small wind turbines for urban areas is increasing [13]. Table 2 compares the small wind turbines with a vertical axis.

All vertical small wind turbines are CE certified and have been tested in accordance with ISO 9001. They can be installed in urban areas and can also be installed on the roofs of buildings with suitable statics. The cheapest turbine is number 13 with a specific price of 2.51 C/W. The most expensive system is number 10 at 6.61 C/W, more than twice as much. The cut in speed, guarantee period and noise emissions are identical for all systems. The survival speed is 50 m/s for the three smaller systems and 52.5 m/s for the two larger ones.

Table 3 compares the small wind turbines with a horizontal axis. The table is sorted in descending order of turbine output.

The system with index number 2 belongs to the medium performance class and has the highest price of all the systems. It's specific price is 9.14 €/W. In contrast, the system with the index number 15 belongs to the lowest performance class and has the lowest specific price of 1.30 €/W.

The survival speed ranges from 45 m/s to 70 m/s. The most expensive system is at 70 m/s and the cheapest at 45 m/s. This shows a clear correlation between price and strength. Particularly in urban areas, strong turbulence and gusts of wind can occur, which cause a short-term and strong increase in wind speed. A wind turbine with insufficient strength therefore represents an increased risk in urban areas. The most expensive turbines come from the Kingspan Group and have the ability to bend their blades backwards elastically if the wind is too strong. This allows the rotor to continue


company	model	nr.
Kingspan Group Plc. (Ireland)	KW6	1
Kingspan Group Plc. (Ireland)	KW3	2
Bergey Wind Power Co. Inc. (U.S.)	BWC Excel 10	3
S.L. Borney (Spain)	wind 13	4
S.L. Borney (Spain)	wind 25.2	5
S.L. Borney (Spain)	wind 25.3	6
Guangzhou HY Energy Technology Co. Ltd (China)	HY 400 L	7
Guangzhou HY Energy Technology Co. Ltd (China)	HY 600	8
Guangzhou HY Energy Technology Co. Ltd (China)	HY 1000	9
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-V $300W$	10
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-V $600W$	11
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-V $1000W$	12
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-V $3000W$	13
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-V $5000W$	14
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-H $500W$	15
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-H $1000\mathrm{W}$	16
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-H $2000W$	17
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-H $3000W$	18
Aeolos Wind Turbine	Aelos-H $5000W$	19

del of th wind turbi . 11 .1

Tab. 2: Comparison of small wind turbines with vertical axis

nr.	price [€]	power [kW]	rotor diam- eter [m]	${f cut} {f in} {f speed}[{f m/s}]$	survival] speed[m/s]	warranty [a]	Noise emis- sions[dB(A)]
10	1982, 16	0.3	1.2	1.5	50	5	45
11	2971.72	0.6	1.6	1.5	50	5	45
12	4032.71	1	2	1.5	50	5	45
13	7516.18	3	2.8	1.5	52.5	5	45
14	14109.14	5	4.5	1.5	52.5	5	45

Tab. 3: Comparison of small wind turbines with horizontal axis

nr.	price	power	rotor	cut in	survival	warranty	Noise
	[€]	[kW]	diam-	speed[m/s]	$\operatorname{speed}[m/s]$	[a]	emis-
			\mathbf{eter}				sions[dB(A)]
			[m]				
3	60320.65	10	7	2.5	60	5	42.9
1	33621.04	6.1	5.6	3.5	70	5	40
6	8275.00	5	4.05	3	60	3	-
19	-	5	6.4	3	45	5	45
5	5675.00	3	4.05	3	60	3	-
18	-	3	4.8	2.5	45	5	40
2	22859.77	2.5	3.8	3.5	70	5	-
17	2766.35	2	3.2	2.5	45	5	30
4	4100.00	1	2.65	3	60	3	-
9	-	1	1.96	2.5	50	-	33
16	1657.66	1	3.2	2.5	45	5	30
8	1187.74	0.6	1.75	2.5	50	-	38
15	649.15	0.5	2.7	2.5	45	5	25
7	887.46	0.4	1.5	2.5	50	-	25

the survivability of the turbine. The less expensive variants use a simple brake for the rotor, which means considerably cheaper, it loses survivability. that the area exposed to the wind remains the same

turning with a reduced area of attack and increases and the mast supporting the rotor is not relieved. Although this variant has the advantage of being



The warranty period is 3 to 5 years and some providers offer their own service centers to support the product even after the sale. For maintenance, systems 1 and 2 require an inspection every 2 years, system 4 every 6 months, 7, 8 and 9 also every 6 months, but here the blades and possibly the battery must also be replaced every 5 years. This maintenance work means considerable additional costs. No maintenance information could be obtained for the remaining systems.

There is a correlation between system size and noise emissions, with larger systems emitting more noise. However, this correlation cannot be confirmed in the upper performance class. Notably, there are significant differences in price, which could indicate that cheaper models have lower quality sound insulation.

The systems can be divided into three categories: Systems with a starting speed of 2.5 m/s, systems with a starting speed of 3 m/s and the vertical systems with a starting speed of 1.5 m/s. At first glance, this does not appear to be a major difference. The incidence of wind speeds above this threshold in urban areas is quite low compared to rural areas. This difference can therefore have a major impact on the annual amount of energy produced [14].

Not all small wind turbines are suitable for roof mounting. In particular, systems from a size of 5 kW can only rarely be installed on roofs in urban areas for structural reasons. These systems are often installed on offshore platforms to ensure reliable self-sufficiency [15–17]. In the medium power range, there are only a few systems installed in urban areas [18]. Here too, the systems are often too large to be accepted in these areas. The smallest output class, on the other hand, is very often used in urban areas. Aeolos systems are a good example of this. Hundreds of Aeolos 300W and 500W wind turbines have been installed in China, Japan, Romania, Brazil and Spain for hybrid windsolar street lighting [19]. Smaller systems have the advantage that they are often quieter and do not generate large static loads, which increases acceptance in the surrounding area.

6 Discussion

The results have shown that there are sometimes considerable differences between the individual systems. One of the most significant differences is the price. The price range of the systems is very wide. This is partly due to the differences in quality, but also to the production process. The most expensive systems are only produced in small quantities, which means that the specific price of a system is significantly higher than for mass-produced systems. However, it is unclear why the higher quality products have not made it into mass production. One assumption is that the difference in quality was not communicated well enough to the consumer and therefore a large

Tab. 4: Certificates of individual small wind turbines

nr.	certificate
1	IEC61400-2
2	IEC61400-2
3	AWEA
4	IEC61400-2
5	-
6	-
7	ISO9001, CE
8	ISO9001, CE
9	ISO9001, CE
10	ISO9001, CE
11	ISO9001, CE
12	ISO9001, CE
13	ISO9001, CE
14	ISO9001, CE
15	ISO9001, CE
16	ISO9001, CE
17	ISO9001, CE
18	ISO9001, CE
19	ISO9001, CE

	Tab. 5: Sources of price	es and data
r.	source of the price	general source
	[20]	[15]

T 1

 \mathbf{n}

$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
3 [22] [17]	
4 [23] [18]	
5 [23] [18]	
6 [23] [18]	
7 [24] [25]	
8 [26] [25]	
9 - [25]	
10 [27] [28]	
11 [29] [28]	
12 [30] [28]	
13 [31] [28]	
14 [32] [28]	
15 [33] [28]	
16 [34] [28]	
17 [35] [28]	
18 - [28]	
19 - [28]	

number of pilot projects did not materialize. Only when a company can forecast a certain level of product sales with sufficient certainty will it go into mass production.

With regard to the installation potential in urban areas, it can be stated that vertical small wind turbines perform significantly better than some horizontal ones. However, an exact statement about the respective yield for urban areas cannot be derived from the data collected. All publicly available data was generated under standard conditions and is therefore difficult to transfer to urban areas. In order to secure a market advantage for urban areas, interested companies should adapt the environmental conditions to urban areas when collecting data. It has been shown that the wind potential in this area deviates significantly from the standard conditions [36].

The purpose of this document is to offer a basic outline of various small wind turbines to aid potential customers in decision-making. Nevertheless, customer requirements vary widely, hence it is essential to specify the desired performance class and the resultant yield first. For better comparability, it would be sensible to examine systems with the same output as much as possible, although acquiring the data presents a challenge. The limited number of systems within the three performance classes in this study prevents any overarching claims about generally available systems. The study shows, though, that a larger comparison is worthwhile, because even with this small sample, large differences in the individual categories could be identified. It would be prudent to increase the number of categories for further analysis. The comparison of yield under certain conditions would have been a suitable criterion to consider, although it could not be included here due to a lack of data. Some corporations conduct such tests, but the framework and parameters of these assessments differ. It would be more appropriate to administer a standardized test conducted by a neutral entity.

7 Conclusion

The market analysis reveals distinctions among the individual systems within their respective performance classes. It was not possible to identify the best system for a given power class, as all systems have their advantages and disadvantages. Nevertheless, a prospective purchaser can select a system for themselves if they specify particular weightings in each category. However, it is worth noting that this sample is only representative and therefore, it is possible that there are significantly more suitable systems available in individual cases. The actual suitability and comparability of the systems for urban areas could not be accurately analyzed. The effectiveness of some systems for urban areas can only be inferred from their real-life applications. No tests were conducted in this particular environment for any of the systems, thus making it challenging to interpret the comparison. The values given under standard conditions are the only reference available. Additionally, the collection of data was either carried out or commissioned by the companies themselves, thereby raising doubts about its authenticity. Consequently, the paper's goal could not be fully achieved. In order to achieve the aim of the paper, an investigation is recommended according to the following criteria:

- Selection of a performance class with minor deviations
- Construction of/ finding a test field representing the urban area
- Acquisition of the systems to be tested
- Testing the systems as an independent person
- Evaluation of the results

Significantly better comparability can be achieved through independent tests under defined conditions. However, this approach is associated with enormous costs for the purchase of the equipment and for the construction and operation of the tests. In addition, the market is subject to constant change, so that the results of this complex procedure can lose their significance after a short time. For these reasons, the implementation of such a test is considered unlikely. The question therefore remains as to how one can currently obtain a good overview of the market for small wind turbines for urban areas. As a customer, you are still faced with a large selection of turbines and are dependent on comparisons with little data or data that is unsuitable for the planned environment. When implementing larger projects, it is advisable to consult an energy consultant who may be able to provide information from various pilot projects. However, even this information will only relate to a small proportion of the systems available on the market.

References

- Der Markt f
 ür kleine Windkraftanlagen. 2023. URL: https://www.energiezukunft.eu/ erneuerbare-energien/wind/der-marktfuer-kleine-windkraftanlagen/.
- [2] energy sage. 2023. URL: https://www. energysage.com/about-clean-energy/ wind/small-wind-turbines-overview/.
- [3] bob vila. 2022. URL: https://www.bobvila. com/articles/best-home-wind-turbines/.
- BBC science fokus. 2022. URL: https://www. sciencefocus.com/buyers-guides/homewind-turbines.

- [5] P. Nagrale). "Small Wind Power Market Research Report Information". Market Research Report (2022). URL: https://www. marketresearchfuture.com/reports/smallwind-power-market-4568.
- [6] P. Jüttemann. "Wegweiser Kleinwindkraft" (2022). URL: https : / / www . klein - windkraftanlagen . com / wp content / uploads / 2022 / 12 / Wegweiser -Kleinwindkraft_2022-12.pdf.
- [7] K. R. I. W. Kurt Leonhartsberger (Technikum Wien GmbH). "Kleinwindkraftreport Österreich 2015". energy scripts – Eine Schriftenreihe des Instituts für Erneuerbare Energie der FH Technikum Wien Nummer 1/2010 (2015). URL: https://nachhaltigwirtschaften.at/ resources/iea_pdf/iea-wind-task-27anforderungskatalog-zertifizierung.pdf.
- [8] G. J. S. A M Droste1 and A. A. M. Holtslag.
 "Introducing the urban wind island effect". *Environmental Research Letters* (2015). DOI: 10. 1088/1748-9326/aad8ef.
- [9] T. E. o. E. Britannica. "urban climate". *Encyclopedia Britannica* (2023). URL: https://www. britannica.com/science/urban-climate.
- [10] R. D. Thompson. "Atmospheric Processes and Systems (Routledge Introductions to Environment: Environmental Science)" (1998), pp. 102– 103.
- T. U. Anup KC* Jonathan Whale. "Urban wind conditions and small wind turbines in the built environment: A review". School of Engineering and Information Technology, Murdoch University, Perth, 6150, WA, Australia (2019). URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.07.050.
- [12] Lamiot. "Potentiel éolien" (2013). URL: https: / / commons . wikimedia . org / wiki / File : Potentiel_%C3%A9olien_2.jpg.
- [13] Z. Tasneem, A. Al Noman, S. K. Das, D. K. Saha, M. R. Islam, M. F. Ali, M. F. R. Badal, M. H. Ahamed, S. I. Moyeen, and F. Alam. "An analytical review on the evaluation of wind resource and wind turbine for urban application: Prospect and challenges". *Developments in the Built Environment* 4 (2020), p. 100033.
- V. L. Brano, A. Orioli, G. Ciulla, and S. Culotta.
 "Quality of wind speed fitting distributions for the urban area of Palermo, Italy". *Renewable Energy* 36.3 (2011), pp. 1026–1039.
- [15] Kingspan Wind. 2023. URL: https:// www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/ 18289307/high-performance-wind-turbinekingspan-wind.

- [16] KW 3EX Global wind power solutions. 2023. URL: https://d3pcsg2wjq9izr.cloudfront. net/files/107/download/676319/17.9093kw3ex-wind-brochure-10-05-163.pdf.
- [17] bergey.com. 2023. URL: https://www.bergey. com/products/off-grid-turbines/excel-10-off-grid/.
- [18] borney.com. 2023. URL: https://www.bornay. com/en/products/small-wind-turbines/ wind-plus-swt.
- [19] Aelos Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https:// www.windturbinestar.com/500wh-windturbines.html.
- [20] renugen Kingspan Renewables KW6 6.1kW Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www. renugen.co.uk/kingspan-renewables-kw6-6-1kw-wind-turbine/.
- [21] renugen Kingspan Renewables KW3 2.5kW Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www. renugen.co.uk/kingspan-renewables-kw3-2-5kw-wind-turbine/.
- [22] watt u need.com 10kW Bergey Excel wind turbine 230 VAC or 48 VDC. 2023. URL: https: //www.wattuneed.com/en/wind-turbine/ 1595-10kw-bergey-excel-wind-turbine-230-vac-or-48-vdc-0712971129559.html.
- [23] Borney wind+. 2023. URL: https://www. bornay.com/en/products/small-windturbines/wind-plus-swt.
- [24] voelkner Phaesun 310125 Stormy Wings HY-400-12 Windgenerator Leistung (bei 10m/s) 400W 12V. 2023. URL: https://www.voelkner. de / products / 997865 / Phaesun - 310125 -Stormy-Wings-HY-400-12-Windgenerator-Leistung-bei-10m-s-400W-12V.html.
- [25] hyenergy.en. 2023. URL: https://hyenergy. en . made - in - china . com / product / WeymOnCoSqhM/China-400W-Wind-Turbine-HY-400L-12V-.html.
- [26] voelkner Phaesun 310127 Stormy Wings HY-600-24 Windgenerator Leistung (bei 10m/s) 600W 24V. 2023. URL: https://www.voelkner. de / products / 997871 / Phaesun - 310127 -Stormy-Wings-HY-600-24-Windgenerator-Leistung-bei-10m-s-600W-24V.html.
- [27] renugen Aeolos Aeolos-V 300w 300W Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www.renugen.co. uk/aeolos-aeolos-v-300w-300w-windturbine/.
- [28] windturbinenstar.com. 2023. URL: https://www. windturbinestar.com/english.html.
- [29] renugen Aeolos Aeolos-V 600w 600W Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www.renugen.co. uk/aeolos-aeolos-v-600w-600w-windturbine/.

- [30] renugen Aeolos Aeolos-V 1000w 1000W Off Grid Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www. renugen.co.uk/aeolos-aeolos-v-1000w-1000w-off-grid-wind-turbine/.
- [31] renugen Aeolos Aeolos-V 3000w 3000W On Grid Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www. renugen.co.uk/aeolos-aeolos-v-3000w-3000w-on-grid-wind-turbine/.
- [32] renugen Aeolos Aeolos-V 5000w 5000W On Grid Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www. renugen.co.uk/aeolos-aeolos-v-5000w-5000w-on-grid-wind-turbine/.
- [33] renugen Aeolos Aeolos-H 500W 500W Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www.renugen. co.uk/aeolos-aeolos-h-500w-500w-windturbine/.
- [34] renugen Aeolos Aeolos-H 1kW 1kW Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://renugen.co.uk/ aeolos-aeolos-h-1kw-1kw-wind-turbine/.
- [35] renugen Aeolos Aeolos-H 2000W 2kW Wind Turbine. 2023. URL: https://www.renugen. co.uk/aeolos-aeolos-h-2000w-2kw-windturbine/.
- [36] F. Emejeamara and A. Tomlin. "A method for estimating the potential power available to building mounted wind turbines within turbulent urban air flows". *Renewable Energy* 153 (2020), pp. 787–800.



Fish mortality at hydropower plants

Protection Measures and Solutions

Hendrik Müller*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

The construction and operation of hydropower plants for energy generation is a major issue in sustainable energy production. Nevertheless, hydropower plants have a negative impact on fish populations. It is crucial to understand the causes and consequences of fish mortality in hydropower plants in order to find sustainable solutions that reconcile the need for energy with the conservation of aquatic ecosystems. This article examines the fish protection measures that can be implemented to reduce fish mortality and maintain ecological balance. Based on the main literature reviewed, this article mainly refers to Germany in terms of studies carried out and hydropower plants.

Keywords: Fish mortality, Turbine-related injuries, Fish migration aids, Fish-friendly turbines, Mortality rates

1 Introduction

The number of hydropower plants is increasing rapidly worldwide. In Europe alone, 21,000 plants are already in operation, while a further 8,500 planned plants are waiting to be realized [1]. The impact of hydropower plants on fish populations is an increasingly important issue. The mortality of fish in such plants is a complex and controversial issue. The construction and operation of hydropower plants can have a significant impact on the aquatic environment by altering natural habitats and affecting fish populations. The Water Resources Act emphasizes the importance of protecting fish through appropriate measures at hydropower plants. Such begs the question: What measures can be taken for reducing fish mortality at hydropower plants? This article first delineates the risks posed to fish in hydropower plants. It then explores various potential solutions aimed at mitigating these risks and preserving fish populations in such settings.

2 Legal area

The implementation of fish protection measures at hydropower plants is highly relevant, as this is required by the Water Resources Act. According to Section 35 (1) of this Act, the use of hydropower may only be permitted if suitable measures are also taken to protect fish [2]. If no measures are implemented in this regard, the hydropower plant may not be put into operation. This regulation does not apply exclusively to specific fish species or water body types. According to this, plant operators must prove that the operation of the hydropower plant has no negative impact on the fish population or that sufficient measures are implemented to protect and maintain the population [3]. In order to achieve the objectives of the EC Water Framework Directive in many watercourse systems in Germany, measures are needed to improve fish passability both upstream and downstream. The installation of fish ladders at weirs and other barriers to fish migration as well as the integration of fish protection and downstream fish migration systems at hydropower plants, are of particular importance to achieve this goal. It is therefore urgently necessary to review the current state of knowledge on the effectiveness of fish protection and downstream fish migration systems. This requires methodological approaches to ensure a comparison of the efficiency of different concepts and to develop recommendations for preferred solutions [4].

3 Risks and Implications of Hydropower Plant Encounters for Migratory Fish

When fish migrate downstream, there is a possibility that they will be caught and pulled along by the turbines in hydropower plants and thus pass the obstacle. This could expose them to conditions that increase the risk of injury and mortality. These risks vary depending on fish species, developmental stage, size, turbine type and operating conditions. The main injury mechanisms occurring are due to contact with the turbine blade and the pressure drop in the turbine. Other mechanisms include shear forces and turbulence. Given the comparatively high costs of



^{*}Corresponding author: hm740811@fh-muenster.de.

fish protection measures and the associated technical or operational risks, a clear basis for decision-making on appropriate fish protection regulations is essential [5]. High killing risks arise when certain species have to travel long distances due to their behavior and reproductive cycle. Species that are forced to migrate are generally more likely to come into contact with hydropower plants. As hydropower plants are positioned as transverse structures in the main watercourse, the downstream movement inevitably requires passage through these structures. As a result, species such as the eel (Anguilla anguilla) and the anadromous sea trout (Salmo trutta) are particularly at risk. In the case of anadromous fish species that migrate repeatedly, the migrating juveniles in particular are at risk. These juveniles are often not protected from passing the turbines by screens. Potamodromous species such as the nase (Chondrostoma nasus) sometimes traverse extensive distances within a water system and are therefore also at risk of passing existing hydropower sites during their migration. Compared to typical river fish species, lake species are generally less likely to encounter hydropower plants. Although the probability of encounter for lake species was classified as very low, it cannot be completely ruled out that certain lake species may encounter hydropower plants, particularly in the vicinity of lake outlets or storage power plants [3].

3.1 Injuries caused by turbines

As fish mortality is mainly caused by turbines, the rest of the article refers to turbine-related fish mortality. A study showed fish experiments at one of the world's first construction sites for a shaft hydropower plant (SHPP) on the Loisach near Großweil in southern Bavaria to investigate the mortality of fish at this plant. The fish were released in front of the hydropower plant and then caught again. The hydropower plant has a head of 2.5 meters, a power plant discharge of 22 cubic meters per second and an output of 420 Kilowatt-hours (kWh). The power plant also has two identical, double-regulated, horizontally arranged Kaplan bulb turbines, each with four blades [6]. The study focused on how the fish population reacted to the specific operating conditions and structural features of this plant. The potential for fish mortality and injury following turbine passage of the SHPP was investigated. The fish species used for the study included:

- European eel (Anguilla anguilla L.)
- Common nase (Chondrostoma nasus L.)
- Brown trout (Salmo trutta L.)
- Perch (Perca fluviatilis L.)
- Barbel (Barbus barbus L.)

- Roach (Rutilus rutilus L.)
- Grayling (Thymallus thymallus L.) and
- Danube salmon (Hucho hucho L.)

For each of these fish species, the widest available size range was used, which was within a range of 3 to 67 centimetres [7]. The recaptured test fish showed various injuries after passing through the turbines. The most common were fin tears and scale loss, which were found in 83% and 66% of the recaptured fish respectively. More serious injuries such as amputations and bruises to the head and body occurred less frequently and were only found in 2.7% and 3.7% of the recaptured treated fish respectively after turbine passage [7]. A comprehensive assessment of fish injuries requires the capture of fish below hydropower plants. Both recapture and subsequent handling can cause stress to the fish, resulting in significant injuries such as fin tears, scale loss or skin lesions [8].

3.2 Turbine-related fish mortality

The mortality rates of the various test fish species in relation to the SHPP study varied significantly. There were clear differences in the specific mortality rates of the individual fish species. Mortality after passage through the turbines was significantly increased for all test fish species. Particularly high turbinerelated mortality rates were found in roach, with 20%at high turbine loads and 44% at low turbine loads [7]. Furthermore, fish tests at different locations with three different turbine types - the Kaplan turbine, the screw turbine and the Very-Low-Head turbine (VLH turbine) yielded different results in terms of fish mortality rates. In general, maximum mortality rates of less than 83% can be determined for conventional Kaplan turbines and less than 64% for novel turbines. The lowest average mortality rates, with mean values between 2% and 6%, were recorded for the VLH turbines [9] as slow-turning turbines such as verylow-head turbines and water wheels are less harmful than most conventional turbine types [1]. This was followed by the screw turbines with 3% to 6% and the conventional Kaplan turbine with 5% to 8%. At locations with the highest maximum and average mortality rates were both Kaplan and one of the VLH sites recorded. Here, most of the severely injured fish died immediately after passing through the turbines. Accordingly, the pattern of fish injuries and mortality is strongly dependent on various factors, such as the life stage of the fish [1], the type of turbine, the location and the specific characteristics of the fish. The circumferential speed of the runner has a more significant influence on fish injuries than other turbine parameters. In the case of Kaplan turbines, blade runout is the decisive factor for the risk of mortality. The same applies to VLH turbines, whereby their passage mainly leads to collision-related injuries that are



either internally visible or of lesser severity, such as internal vertebral fractures or deformations as well as bone fractures. Furthermore, the number of turbine blades, the drop height and the total length of the fish have a significant influence on certain types of injury. Loss of scales, internal fractures, pigmentation and fin amputations, for example, increase with the number of turbine blades. This tendency is particularly evident in VLH turbines with eight blades, which have a comparatively low impeller speed, however, leading to an increased probability of low-intensity collisions. In addition, the rate of body part amputations increases with increasing drop height. A comprehensive overview of the presence or absence of fish damage, as well as fixed effects such as turbine or hydropower plant and fish characteristics, but also random effects such as location and fish species, can be seen in Figure 5 by Mueller et. al [9]. Furthermore, vertebral fractures also increase with increasing total length of the fish and the circumferential speed of the impellers. This emphasizes that the European eel, as the longest fish in this study, has the highest mortality rate in the Kaplan turbines [9]. From this it can be concluded that the risk of mortality generally increases with the size of the fish, with larger fish tending to have the highest risk of mortality [1].

4 Possible Solutions for Reducing Fish Mortality at Hydropower Plants

In the context of this paper, two specific approaches are now briefly presented that aim to reduce or avoid fish mortality at hydropower plants.

These are:

- Fish-friendly turbine design
- Fish migration aids

4.1 Fish-friendly turbine design

The best solution are turbines that reduce fish mortality due to technical and operational configurations and at the same time successfully prevent the animals from entering the turbines in the first place [1]. Fishfriendly turbines such as the Minimum-Gap-Runner are characterized by a small number of turbine blades. They have a large diameter, a comparatively low rotational speed, low head and generate only minimal negative pressure. These characteristics make it possible to significantly reduce mortality to below 3%. Similarly turbines currently under development, such as the Alden turbine, also reduce the mortality of fish, which in tests caused mortalities of 0% to 2% in 20 centimeter long individuals of various fish species [10]. The goal in developing a fish-friendly turbine is to maintain high efficiency while minimizing low-pressure

zones. This is achieved by having a low number of blades and minimizing gaps to avoid fish entrapment. The reduction of the gaps has a positive effect on the scouring of the blade profiles, both on the pressure and suction side of the turbine. This measure has a positive effect in two ways. Firstly, the risk of cavitation is reduced at this point. Cavitation leads to abrupt pressure drops followed by rapid pressure increases, which would be potentially harmful to fish. Secondly, minimizing the gap positively contributes to reducing zones of high turbulence that could otherwise affect the fish laterally [5].

43

4.2 Fish migration aids

4.2.1 Slotted pass

The main principle behind the construction of a slotted pass is to divide the entire height difference of the dam between the upstream and downstream water into numerous smaller water level differences. This is achieved by the arrangement of basins whose dividing walls are well permeable for the passage of fish through narrow slits [11]. With the slot pass, which is also known as the "vertical slot pass", one or two open slots run vertically across the entire transverse wall, which leads to improved passability. The number of slots installed depends on the size of the watercourse and the available discharge capacity [12]. The fish migrating upstream must orient itself to the current in order to recognize the outgoing current, which emanates from both the fish ladder and the attracting current. The attracting current is generated, for example, by sheet piles or guide piles consisting of armourstones or wooden pile foundations. These guide the fish into the entrance of the fish facility. Once the fish has found the entrance to the system, there is a high probability that it will be able to swim through it successfully. It is important that the maximum current speed is maintained [13].

4.2.2 Fish lift

Fish lifts are characterized by a movable lifting basket or container that enables the fish to be transported from the level of the underwater to the level of the upper water [14]. In this system, a luring current guides the upward-migrating fish into a cage. In order to overcome the height difference with the fish lift, the cage acts as a transport container for the fish and is pulled upwards with the help of a winch. The fish are then transported to the upper water. As soon as the difference in height has been overcome, the transport container opens and the fish are guided down a chute into the upper water. However, the descent of the fish requires additional equipment [15]. Another variant of the fish lift is the fish lift sluice. This has a structure consisting of floats, fixed connecting pieces



and perforated plates. This arrangement enables the transport system to float up and down without additional external energy. This means that even large differences in height can be overcome without taking up too much space. During the transport phase of the fish over the height, it is not possible for them to enter the lifting basket or the container from below. Access to the fish lift can be via a slotted pass [14].

4.2.3 Fish ladder snail

The fish ladder screw conveyor is used to transport the fish effortlessly and without injury to the headwaters [16]. This type of fish migration aid differs between the monotube auger and the twin-tube auger. The monotube screw conveyor is a simple screw conveyor that is driven by an electric motor. The systems realized to date have diameters between 1,000 and 1,400 mm. The double-tube screw consists of two concentric, counter-rotating screws. The outer screw is used to move the inner fish ladder screw and also serves to generate energy. The diameter of the fish ladder screws manufactured to date is 1.2 m, while the diameter of the outer tube screw varies between 1.8 m and 2.4 m. With fish ladders, the water is generally transported upstream. For the fish that migrate upstream against the current, an internal guiding current is generated in the lower part of the fish ladder screw. This directs the fish into the screw conveyor so that they can be transported further from there [14]. The guiding current encourages fish and other aquatic creatures to swim into the slowly rotating fish ladder on their own [16].

4.2.4 Fish ladder

There are various types of near-natural fish ladders. These include riverbed ramps and slides, bypass channels and streams. Bottom ramps and glides are integrated directly into the course of the river and do not require any special adjustments to the adjacent bank area. This involves placing boulders about 1 meter in size on the bed substrate to create natural currents. Care is taken to create different current strengths to allow different species of fish to swim upstream. The bypass channel is an artificially created, stream-like river course. This form of fish ladder is very popular as it creates additional habitats and spawning grounds. Fish swimming upstream are guided to the bypass channel by an attracting current, which they can then pass through [12].

Table 1 summarizes the advantages and disadvantages of the fish migration aids described in Chapter four, based on the literature reviewed.
 Tab. 1: Overview of the advantages and disadvantages of fish migration aids

Fish migra- tion aids	Advantages	Disadvantages	
Slotted pass	Suitable for upstream and downstream hikes [17], Suit- able for confined spaces [12]	High quanti- ties of water required [17]	
Fish lift	Space-saving and height- independent [14]	Not suitable for a downhill hike [14]	
Fish ladder snail	No susceptible risk of injury [16], Low energy consumption [16], Uniform conveying [16], No scaring effect on fish [16], Introducing the motive water at the inlet [14]	Additional en- ergy required [14]	
Fish ladder	Optics adapted to nature [12]	Costs depend on the size of the river [12]	

5 Conclusion

In summary, the application of fish protection measures is essential. Studies have shown that the mortality rate of fish at hydropower plants is high and that these affect the fish population. Accordingly, this article describes two separate main measures to meet the requirements of the Water Resources Act and to address the question: What measures can be taken for reducing fish mortality at hydropower plants? This includes a fish-friendly turbine design, which aims to reduce fish mortality by reducing gaps, cavitation and turbulence [5] as well as various possible fish migration aids to overcome barriers. The paper argues for ongoing research, comprehensive strategies and a balanced approach to ensure both fish protection objectives at hydropower plants and the protection of the aquatic environment. However, it is up to the hydropower plant operator to decide which of these measures will be implemented.

6 Outlook

In order to continue to ensure fish protection at hydropower plants in the future, further investigations



are required. The following approaches could be proposed as potential improvements:

- Further investigation of effectiveness and continuous improvement of new turbine designs
- Application of monitoring and control systems to reduce the interaction between fish and turbines
- Development of new fish protection measures to further reduce fish mortality

There is only a low risk of killing fish if there is adequate fish protection. Therefore, the aim of hydropower plants should be to improve the ecologically and energetically balanced solution.

References

- A. Tittmann. "Jeder fünfte Fisch stirbt bei der Passage von Wasserkraftturbinen". IGB (2022). URL: https://www.igb-berlin.de/news/ jeder-fuenfte-fisch-stirbt-bei-derpassage-von-wasserkraftturbinen.
- [2] B. der Justiz. "§ 35 Abs. 1 Wasserkraftnutzung" (2009).
- [3] C. Wolter, D. Bernotat, J. Gessner, A. Brüning, J. Lackemann, and J. Radinger. "Fachplanerische Bewertung der Mortalität von Fischen an Wasserkraftanlagen" (2020), pp. 15–69.
- [4] F. Wagner, P. Warth, and W. Schmalz. "Evaluierung von Fischschutz- und Fischabstiegsmaßnahmen an einem Wasserkraftstandort für die Umsetzung des WHG § 35". 81 (2021), p. 6.
- [5] H. Benigni, J. Schiffer, and I. Giersemehl. "Fischfreundliches Turbinendesign" (2023), p. 2.
- [6] "Hydroshaft" (2022). URL: https:// hydroshaft.com/grossweil/.
- [7] J. Knott, M. Mueller, J. Pander, and J. Geist. "Ecological assessment of the world's first shaft hydropower plant". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 187 (2023), pp. 3–8. ISSN: 1364-0321.
- [8] M. Mueller, J. Pander, and J. Geist. "Evaluation of external fish injury caused by hydropower plants based on a novel field-based protocol". *Fisheries Management Ecology* 3 (2017), pp. 240–255.
- [9] M. Mueller, J. Knott, J. Pander, and J. Geist. "Experimental comparison of fish mortality and injuries at innovative and conventional small hydropower plants". *Journal of Applied Ecology* (2022), pp. 2360–2372. DOI: 10.1111/1365– 2664.14236.

- [10] C. Weber, R. Bösiger, A. Peter, and S. Vollenweider. "Fischwanderung in genutzten Gewässern – Herausforderungen und Lösungen". Wasserwirtschaft (2015), pp. 109–112.
- M. Henning and R. Weichert. "BAWMitteilungen Nr. 106 – Hydraulik von Fischaufstiegsanlagen in Schlitzpassbauweise". BAW 106 (2020), p. 66. URL: https://izw.baw. de/publikationen/mitteilungsblaetter/0/ BAWMitteilungen_2020_106.pdf.
- M. Kind. "Fischtreppen in der Ruhr als bauliche Maßnahme zur Wiedereinbürgerung der Lachse" (2004), p. 22. URL: https://www.lachsverein. de/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2018/ 01/schuelerarbeit_fischtreppen.pdf.
- [13] T. Saretzki-Hippeli. "Wasserbau im Einklang mit der Natur". Wasserkraft Energie 2 (2019), pp. 21–26.
- [14] R. u. T. Bundesministerium für Landwirtschaft. 2021. URL: https://info.bml.gv.at/ dam/jcr:e07c21be-e598-44d5-a545ee2603292b0d/20210713%20V9%20FAH-Leitfaden%20gsb.pdf.
- S. Heimerl. Biologische Durchgängigkeit von Fließgewässern. Springer, 2017, p. 324. DOI: 10. 1007/978-3-658-13990-2.
- [16] K. Schülein and C. Habermann. "Fischaufstiegsschnecke FAS: Eine clevere Alternative zu bekannten Aufstiegslösungen". Wasserkraft Energie 1 (2018), pp. 35–38.
- [17] C. Ratschan, W. Lauber, M. Mühlbauer, M. Zauner, and G. Zauner. "Der Fischabstiegsschlitzeine innovative Lösung an Kleinwasserkraftanlagen durch Nutzung der Fischwanderhilfe". Österreichische Wasser-und Abfallwirtschaft 75.1-2 (2023), pp. 87–96.

Impact of robotics on the operation and maintenance of offshore wind turbines

A review

Lukas Nölken*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

This article analyses the impact of robotics on the operation and maintenance (O&M) of offshore wind turbines (OWTs), with a particular emphasis on the challenges and benefits. As the world's reliance on renewable energy, particularly offshore wind, increases to reduce climate change, the growing number of OWTs requires effective O&M. Challenges consist of logistics, accessibility and high costs. The paper presents the application of climbing robots, unmanned aerial vehicles and underwater robots to overcome these challenges.

The combination of multiple robotic platforms, such as autonomous surface vehicles and autonomous underwater vehicles, represents a collaborative approach to O&M. Obstacles include the need for accurate navigation, building trust between humans and robots, and research into artificial intelligence.

In conclusion, the integration of robotics in O&M presents considerable advantages, increasing efficiency, safety and cost-effectiveness. Further progress and research into artificial intelligence are crucial in achieving complete automation, which will transform the O&M of OWTs.

Keywords: offshore wind turbine, operation and maintenance, robotics, climbing robots, underwater robots, unmanned aerial vehicles, multi-robot platform, LCOE

1 Introduction

Renewable energies are being expanded worldwide to reduce CO_2 emissions and to counteract climate change. Offshore wind in particular has a significant impact on meeting these targets. One reason for this is that, in addition to the limited area available for the development of wind energy on land [1], a comparable system at sea requires less area [2]. Furthermore, installation sites located further from the coast offer an opportunity to harness stronger winds, allowing for higher and more consistent energy production. This also helps to mitigate conflicts of interest, such as social acceptance [3]. Meanwhile, the increasing number of turbines is having an unavoidable impact on the O&M of offshore wind parks. As a result, there has been an increase in the use of robots in the O&M of OWTs. The incorporation of robots presents both challenges and opportunities.

This article evaluates the effects of robotics on the O&M of OWTs. It focuses on the challenges and benefits of using robotic systems for the maintenance of OWTs. The paper also highlights the emerging trends in this field and presents practical application examples.

2 Methods

This chapter offers an overview of the methodology implemented in the creation of this review article. The objective is to present readers with a clear understanding of the methodological approach and to guarantee the transparency and reproducibility of the analyses performed.

Initially, the systematic literature search was carried out through the *Google Scholar* search engine, employing a range of keywords, including those listed previously. Next, a literature map was developed with assistance from the AI tool *Research Rabbit*. The method enabled a re-evaluation of sources and facilitated the discovery of new, pertinent literature. In addition, the writing assistant *Deepl Write* was used to improve text quality during writing.

The application of literature research and evaluation in conjunction with AI tools enabled a comprehensive approach to creating this review article. The use of supporting tools ensured the quality of sources and the development of a well-founded overview of the research field.

 $[*] Corresponding \ author: \ lukas.noelken@fh-muenster.de.$

3 Operation & Maintenance of offshore wind turbine

3.1 Current state

The O&M of OWTs is more and more dependent on logistics and transport due to the increasing distance from the mainland. Crew transfer vessels (B), as shown in figure 2, are the current means of transport. For maintenance work further offshore, service operation vessels are used as floating hubs. They provide accommodation for offshore technicians and store spare parts for OWTs. A service operation vessel can accommodate up to 88 technicians at sea for 4 weeks. Helicopters (D) can be used to supplement ships. They reduce transit time and improve access, but come at a higher cost [3, 4].

All vehicles carry divers (C) and rope-access technicians, who typically carry out inspection and repair work on the OWT. The technicians face difficult environmental conditions that may compromise safety. Furthermore, adverse weather conditions that hinder accessing the OWT elevate their downtime. This, together with logistics and transportation costs, is a significant contributor to O&M costs [5].

3.2 Importance of effective Operation & Maintenance

Early detection or prediction of damage is essential to reduce costs. This can prevent further damage that would necessitate replacement of system components. Failure to identify faults in a timely manner can result in extensive maintenance work and consequently increase the downtime of the OWT. This leads to a decrease in electricity generation and consequently an increase in the levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) (refer to figures 4 and 5 in [6]). In particular, due to the increasing output of recently installed turbines.

Therefore, the primary objective for every wind farm operator is to minimize their maintenance expenses while maximizing operational hours [7]. With an average annual failure rate of 8.3 per OWT and a growing number of turbines, these developments highlight the difficulties associated with the O&M of OWTs [1, 8].

3.3 Current Challenges

As previously stated, OWTs have an advantage over onshore turbines in terms of available area. However, onshore turbines have a decisive advantage in terms of LCOE, as shown in figure 1. These costs depend on several factors, such as the environmental conditions at sea, accessibility and O&M costs.

To meet these challenges, it is necessary to develop efficient and cost-effective O&M strategies, as described by Ren et al. [9] to ensure continuous operation of the OWT. This requires balancing factors such as capacity, timing, route planning or risk, among others, to ultimately achieve the maximum component life, maximum wind turbine operating hours, minimum repair and maintenance costs for the operator, and minimum downtime. Weather and environmental conditions due to wind and sea also influence this planning [9]. In the following chapters, the challenges of the O&M of OWTs are discussed and implemented in more detail.



Fig. 1: Comparison of LCOE for onshore and OWTs between 2009 and 2019 [9]

3.3.1 Environmental conditions & Accessibility

One of the biggest challenges in operating and maintaining OWTs is the harsh environment at sea. This places a constant strain on the equipment, transport vehicles and technicians. For example, wave action and salt water affect the corrosion of the turbines. In addition, the high wind speeds are beneficial for higher power generation, but they also put continuous stress on the rotor blades. Both result in shorter lifetimes and an increasing number of inspections of turbine components and infrastructure. Carroll et al. [8] show that there is a strong correlation between increasing wind speed and increasing failure rate (see figure 10 in [8]). This alone leads to a 33% higher failure rate due to wind speed compared to onshore wind turbines.

Due to the prevailing environmental conditions, OWTs face a number of challenges. The high wind speeds and wave movement hinder the accessibility of these turbines by helicopters or transport vessels, necessitating the use of more expensive ships equipped with motion-compensating gangways. Furthermore, the transportation of equipment, components, and personnel has become increasingly challenging. When technicians are sent from shore to perform maintenance, the increasing distance of installed OWTs from shore results in longer repair times and smaller weather windows available for maintenance. Consequently, work must be rescheduled, thus increasing downtime and subsequently the LCOE [1, 9].





Fig. 2: Current assets and the supporting infrastructure within the lifecycle of an OWF array [4]

3.3.2 Operation & Maintenance costs

OWTs exhibit a higher failure rate under high wind speeds. This results in increased repair and maintenance costs. Although wind farm operators strive to mitigate this issue by selecting turbines with low failure rates and minimal maintenance needs [8], the expenses involved in the O&M of an OWT account for 30 to 35% of the total life cycle costs. For onshore wind turbines, these costs are lower, ranging from 25 to 30% of the life cycle costs [3]. In terms of total investment costs, the difference is considerably greater with OWTs accounting for 23% of the investment cost, compared to 5% for onshore turbines.

The offshore sector incurs average maintenance costs that are two to three times higher than those on the mainland. Mitchell et al. [4] argue that this is mainly due to shipping and logistics, which account for 60% of operating costs. They also note that accessibility, and therefore the transport of technicians to OWTs, accounts for 80% of O&M costs. As OWT installations increase, repair and maintenance work expands, and more transport and personnel capacity is required further driving up these costs [9].

As a result, OWTs have a noteworthy drawback in terms of O&M costs as compared to onshore turbines. This highlights the importance of implementing effective strategies. As a solution, robots can be employed to overcome this challenge, rather than relying on maritime technicians.

4 Robotics

Current trends in the industry indicate the continued development of new robotic technologies for OWT maintenance. This trend is underlined by the findings of Mitchell et al. [4], which show a sharp increase in the number of patents. The various technological and robotic advancements consequently offer differing advantages.

For structures above water, this work focuses on the two technologies, unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) and climbing robots, using the example of rotor blades. This is due to their high failure rates in OWT, as previously mentioned. Figure 3 in [8] illustrates that the failure rate of OWT blades per component ranks fifth. In terms of system component failures, the rotor blades rank second and third in average repair time and material costs respectively, at approximately 290 hours and 90,000 \mathfrak{C} (see Figures 13 and 14 in [8]). Regarding the average number of technicians required to repair a component, rotor blades top the list with over 20 technicians (see Figure 15 in [8]).

The failure of the blades is caused by the environmental conditions and forces. The rotor sheets are exposed to large loads due to strong winds, rain, snow, and ice, which in turn affects the aerodynamics [2]. In addition, the blades are mainly made of fibre-reinforced composite materials, which are relatively new materials for use in such environments. Although composite materials display no external damage when subjected to forces, they can still be damaged internally. These damages can lead to greater consequential damage over time. Regular checks are therefore essential [10].



4.1 Climbing robots



Fig. 3: Schematic illustration of a climbing robot for inspection of a OWT blade [2]

Nevertheless, carrying out the inspections poses a significant risk to the cable access technicians and is prohibited at wind speeds of 20m/s and above [9]. To overcome this, climbing robots can be used to inspect the rotor blades, allowing inspections to be carried out in harsh conditions. A modular climbing robot capable of spanning the entire tower is shown in figure 3. By doing so, a better distribution of forces and a higher payload can be achieved. Furthermore, the ring's diameter can be adapted to the tower using feathers while climbing. For rotor scanning, an arm equipped with measuring instruments can be installed on one side of the robot. Using two motors mounted on the modules, Sattar et al. [10] built a prototype that allows the robot to move horizontally, vertically and spirally on the tower of the OWT.



Fig. 4: friction-based climbing robot [2]

In addition to the increase in safety, the use of climbing robots makes it possible to work directly on the blade. Unlike UAVs, which need to keep a safe distance from OWTs, robots provide a more stable scanning platform, leading to more accurate data and precise results in identifying damages. In relation to O&M costs, a climbing robot, as shown in figure 4, has the potential to lower them by approximately 30% [2].

4.2 Unmanned aerial vehicles

UAVs can inspect various components of the OWTs with greater efficiency. Thus, the disadvantage of UAVs having to maintain a safe distance from OWTs is offset by their flexibility as an advantage. However, adverse weather conditions like wind or rain may pose operational challenges. In addition, lower payloads and inefficient flight times are caused by limited battery capacity. In summary, while UAVs have a lower payload and need to maintain a safety distance, they offer greater efficiency and flexibility [2].

Table 1 indicates that the inspection costs can be reduced by approximately 90% when an inspection with drones is compared to an inspection by technicians at the same OWT. This is due to the considerably reduced inspection time. An OWT inspection takes a technician 7 hours, but a UAV within the visual line of sight (VLOS) can reduce this time to 15-30 minutes. With full automation and no human intervention, the UAV can complete the inspection in just over 6 minutes. To do this, path points are created around an OWT, as shown in Figure 7 in [6] or Figure 3 in [2]. These are then flown off from the UAV. As noted by Poleo et al. [6], there is currently no definitive information or study on the lifetime of these systems in offshore operating conditions. It is believed that drones have a lifetime of 4,000 flight hours.

Overall, the faster inspection time can lead to significant cost reduction while enhancing safety by eliminating the need for height work [6]. If the UAV is not operational, another one can maintain the system by overlapping usage areas [4].

4.3 Underwater robots

For structures below the water surface, underwater robots are presented in this section. Their applications include the creation of 3D models and the performance of inspections and maintenance for foundations or mooring systems. The robots are able to hold their position in water currents of up to 1.5m/s or follow road points like UAVs [2].

Mooring lines for connecting the floating foundations of OWT to the seabed require regular maintenance. However, a detailed inspection of the mooring lines only takes place every five years on the surface [3]. If any damage to an mooring line is detected, and a replacement is required, the costs can vary from £0.6 million to £1.2 million [4]. As the number of turbines connected by multiple mooring lines continues to increase, maintenance demands will also rise



	Technicians		UAVs	
Item	DI Cost per	Time-units	DI Cost per	Time-units
	time unit	required	time unit	required
Workforce (Technicians)	£18/h	139*3*7 ^a	£18/h	18*2*7 ^f
Workforce (boat)	£18/h	139*7 ^b	£18/h	18*7 ^g
Transport (boat)	$\pounds 600/day$	139 ^c	$\pounds 600/day$	18
Consumables	£1500/year	4^{d}	$\pounds 5.35/h$	18*7 ^g
Onshore Admin	$\pounds 20/day$	139 ^c	-	-
Revenue lost (worst case)	£237/h	$139^{*7} e$	£237/h	$139^{*}0.5$ ^h
Training	-	-	$\pounds 1500/year$	1
Insurance	-	-	$\pounds 1500/year$	1
Civil Aviation Regulation Fees	-	-	£750/year	1
Total	Up to £392 k per year		Up to £39	k per year

Tab. 1: Comparison of Directly incurred (DI) cost of inspecting 139 individual wind turbines once a year: OPEX and revenue lost for technicians and UAVs based VLOS case according to Poleo et al. [6]

On 8th December 2023, the exchange rate between the British pound and the Euro was $1\pounds = 1.17 \textcircled{\bullet}$.

^a Based on 3 technicians, inspecting 139 turbines and assuming each turbine takes 7 h to inspect.

^b Based on utilising 7 h a day for 139 days.

 c 1 day per turbine.

 d 1 per person involved (3 wind turbine technicians and 1 boat operator).

 e Based on shutting down the turbine.

^f Based on 2 UAV operators being able to survey a 139 turbine farm in 18 days (8 turbines per day).

 g 18 days for 7 h each.

^h Assumes turbine needs to be shut down for 30 min for inspection.

correspondingly. Hence, there is a necessity for autonomous systems in this field of maintenance that can conduct maintenance activities more safely, deeper, less expensively and more efficiently than divers.

An example of an underwater robot that can perform underwater inspections, maintenance and repairs is the *Eelume*, shown in figure 5. Its flexible body is equipped with batteries, lights, sonar, cameras, sensors and positioning systems, and it can remain underwater permanently either autonomously or under the control of an operator [1]. Integration into the wind farm can be achieved by using underwater garages, which function as both storage and charging points for the robots. Maintaining the robots presents a challenge due to the environmental conditions. Moreover, these conditions might affect the photos or videos captured by the robots [2].

Multi-robot platform 4.4

An important emphasis in the integration of robots is the development of collaborative robots that form a complete system and can autonomously perform inspection, maintenance and repair tasks on OWTs. Research conducted by Khalid et al. [3] describes how an autonomous surface vehicles (ASVs) is capable of transporting and launching an autonomous underwater vehicle (AUV) as a part of an extensive system. During the inspection, the AUV can stream the recorded video to the ASV. The two devices can also communicate with each other via data exchange, thereby enabling recovery. A comparable system is shown in figure 6.



by NTNU and Equinor [1]



Fig. 5: The Eelume underwater robot was developed Fig. 6: Sea-kit Maxlimer ASVs recovering the HUGIN AUV [3]



Bernardini et al. [5] describe a similar system in which the ASVs brings a unit of UAVs and climbing robots, as shown in figure 4, to the OWTs. Both robot types then inspect the turbines, where the UAVs can be used as both inspection and transport units for the climbing robots, see figure 3 in [5]. To do so, the challenge is to land safely on the rotor blade without causing damage, and to recover the climbing robot safely.

5 Future challenges in the implementation of robotics

Besides the challenges in the interaction of multiple robots, trust between human and machine is probably the biggest challenge. When autonomous robots operate in the sea and act beyond the VLOS, there can be problems with the understandability of the robot's behaviour. This problem may be exacerbated by further or full automation of OWT O&M, as human operators increasingly rely on robotic data for decision making [5].

Another challenge, for example, is the introduction of more precise navigation systems that will enable UAVs to get closer to OWTs and thus carry out more accurate and safer inspections. Additionally, there is an effort ongoing to optimise the payload and battery capacity of UAVs to extend their operational time beyond the current 30-minute limit [2].

6 Conclusion

The development and implementation of robots to assist in the O&M of OWTs is increasing. This is due to the ability to enhance efficiency, productivity and safety when compared to the current maintenance process. The comparison of technicians and UAVs has indicated that the costs of inspection alone can be reduced by up to 90%. Since O&M costs account for approximately one-third of the total life-cycle costs of an OWT, significant savings can be achieved.

Furthermore, the significant reduction in inspection time per turbine from 7 hours to up to 6 minutes means that the number of inspections can be increased. Moreover, the robots have been designed with enhanced weather resistance, which can help to minimise turbine downtime and ultimately lower the LCOE. Overall, it is becoming apparent that the incorporation of robots in the O&M of OWT offers numerous benefits.

7 Outlook

However, much further development and practical effort is needed to fully automate O&M. It is worth

exploring the potential application of artificial intelligence, which was not analyzed in this article. The increasing number of OWTs also requires more robots, which collect a large amount of data. The analysis of these data could be more accurate and faster with the use of artificial intelligence.

All of the factors described above will lead to robots and artificial intelligence replacing the current workforce. One possible initial step is the remote control of robots by human operators within the VLOS. Subsequently, remote control can be extended beyond the VLOS. Both steps build trust in the technology. This shift in workplace dynamics has the potential to significantly restructure roles and responsibilities, necessitating that employees acquire additional skills for efficient collaboration with the robots. Consequently, the ways in which OWTs are managed will change significantly in the future.

References

- E. E. Ambarita, A. Karlsen, O. Osen, and A. Hasan. "Towards fully autonomous floating off-shore wind farm operation maintenance". *Energy Reports* 9 (2023), pp. 103–108. ISSN: 2352-4847. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr. 2023.09.148.
- Y. Liu, M. Hajj, and Y. Bao. "Review of robotbased damage assessment for offshore wind turbines". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Re*views 158 (2022), p. 112187. ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser. 2022.112187.
- [3] O. Khalid, G. Hao, C. Desmond, H. Macdonald, F. D. McAuliffe, G. Dooly, and W. Hu. "Applications of robotics in floating offshore wind farm operations and maintenance: Literature review and trends". *Wind Energy* 25.11 (2022), pp. 1880–1899. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1002/we.2773.
- [4] D. Mitchell, J. Blanche, S. Harper, T. Lim, R. Gupta, O. Zaki, W. Tang, V. Robu, S. Watson, and D. Flynn. "A review: Challenges and opportunities for artificial intelligence and robotics in the offshore wind sector". *Energy and AI* 8 (2022), p. 100146. ISSN: 2666-5468. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyai.2022.100146.
- [5] S. Bernardini, F. Jovan, Z. Jiang, S. Watson, A. Weightman, P. Moradi, T. Richardson, R. Sadeghian, and S. Sareh. "A Multi-Robot Platform for the Autonomous Operation and Maintenance of Offshore Wind Farms". Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and MultiAgent Systems. AAMAS '20. Auckland, New Zealand: International Foundation for Autonomous Agents

and Multiagent Systems, 2020, 1696–1700. ISBN: 9781450375184.

- [6] K. Kabbabe Poleo, W. J. Crowther, and M. Barnes. "Estimating the impact of drone-based inspection on the Levelised Cost of electricity for offshore wind farms". *Results in Engineering* 9 (2021), p. 100201. ISSN: 2590-1230. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rineng.2021.100201.
- G. Rinaldi, P. R. Thies, and L. Johanning. "Current Status and Future Trends in the Operation and Maintenance of Offshore Wind Turbines: A Review". *Energies* 14.9 (2021). ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en14092484.
- [8] J. Carroll, A. McDonald, and D. McMillan. "Failure rate, repair time and unscheduled O&M cost analysis of offshore wind turbines". Wind Energy 19.6 (2016), pp. 1107–1119. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1002/we.1887.
- [9] Z. Ren, A. S. Verma, Y. Li, J. J. Teuwen, and Z. Jiang. "Offshore wind turbine operations and maintenance: A state-of-the-art review". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 144 (2021), p. 110886. ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2021.110886.
- T. P. Sattar, H. L. Rodriguez, and B. Bridge.
 "Climbing ring robot for inspection of offshore wind turbines". *Ind. Robot* 36 (2008), pp. 326– 330. URL: https://api.semanticscholar. org/CorpusID:111732153.



Effects of Noise Emissions from Offshore Wind Turbines on the Marine Environment

Thiark Ortmann*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

The pursuit of Offshore Wind Energy (OWE), integral to the German government's ambitious renewable energy goals raises concerns about the environmental impact of noise emissions on marine life. This paper delves into the theoretical background of Offshore Wind Turbine (OWT) noise, exploring its various phases from the survey to decommission. It examines the types and causes of noise emissions, their effects on marine wildlife and potential mitigation measures. Highlighting the regulatory framework in Germany, the paper emphasises the need for nuanced approaches to balance renewable energy objectives with marine ecosystem preservation.

Keywords: Offshore Wind Turbines, Noise Emissions, Marine Wildlife, Environmental Regulations, Mitigation Measures

1 Introduction

The German government has taken significant steps in promoting OWE as a crucial component of the global energy transition. Enacted through the OWE Act, the government aims to achieve a minimum installed capacity of 30 gigawatts by 2030, almost twice as much as the current capacity and 70 gigawatts by 2045 [1]. The pursuit of OWE presents a viable path for sustainable power, but it raises environmental concerns, particularly regarding noise from Offshore Wind Farm (OWF) activities. Such begs the question: What impact do noise emissions from Offshore Wind Turbines have on marine wildlife? This paper explores the theoretical background of OWT noise and its impact on marine wildlife. It examines various phases from survey to decommission and delve into types and causes of noise emissions, their effects on wildlife and potential mitigation measures. Achieving a harmonious coexistence between renewable energy objectives and marine ecosystem preservation demands a nuanced understanding and proactive solutions.

2 Theoretical Background

2.1 Significance of the Topic

OWF activities, along with other sources of underwater noise, can harm marine wildlife by affecting their physiology and behaviour. The impact depends on factors like intensity, frequency, distance and duration of the noise, as well as the animals' hearing ability, distribution and habitat use [2]. Marine species heavily rely on sound as their primary sense for communication, navigation and survival [3]. Human-generated noise often overlaps with natural ocean sounds, posing a challenge for marine wildlife (cf. Fig. 1) [3].



Fig. 1: An overview of biological, natural physical and anthropogenic noises in marine environments and the hearing ranges of marine animals [4], adapted from [3]



 $[\]label{eq:corresponding} \mbox{``to367822@fh-muenster.de.}$

2.2 Acoustic Background

Sound travels at 1,500 m/s in the sea, five times faster than in the air [5]. Acoustic signals consist of sound pressure and particle movement [5]. Sound pressure, measured in Pascals (Pa) or micro Pascals (μ Pa), is a scalar quantity [5]. A distinction must be made between different parameters. The Sound Pressure Level (SPL) (in dB re 1 μ Pa) measures the sound pressure at a specific point and time [6]. The Sound Exposure Level (SEL) (in dB re 1 μ Pa² · s) represents the cumulative exposure to sound over a specified period [6]. Additionally, the Peak Sound Pressure Level (LPeak) (in dB re 1 μ Pa) indicates the maximum sound pressure reached during an event, irrespective of its duration [6].

2.3 Environmental Regulations of Noise Emissions from Offshore Wind Turbines

The noise protection standard for impact sound in Federal Maritime and Hydrographic Agency (BSH) approval documents, determined since 2008, is specified as a dual criterion. Within a 750 m radius from the pile-driving location, the following thresholds must not be surpassed [2, 7]:

- Sound Exposure Level (SEL)¹ of 160 dB re 1 μPa^2s
- Peak level (LPeak)² of 190 dB re 1 μ Pa

Since 2011 it has been compulsory to implement noise a batement systems to meet the specified noise mitigation values in the German Exclusive Economic Zone of the North and Baltic Seas, because without proper measures, the measured values at a distance of 750 m from the source would be up to 183 dB re 1 μ Pa² · s (SEL) and 205 dB re 1 μ Pa (LPeak). [6]

The third OWE Ordinance, in addition to previously stated requirements, mandates specific measures in section seven to mitigate noise emissions during the foundation, installation and operation of OWTs. The ordinance requires noiseless work methods during facility foundation and installation. This involves following the state of the art and considering the prevailing circumstances. Additionally, the ordinance emphasises the imperative for deterrent measures against marine animals. Furthermore, it obligates project proponents to choose construction methods that are

operationally soundproof according to contemporary standards, explicitly prohibiting detonations. Also, each foundation type, like Monopiles or Jackets, has a designated maximum ramming duration (Monopiles: 180 min, Jackets: 140 min). Section eight emphasises compliance with the 'Concept for the Protection of Harbour Porpoises from Sound Exposures during the Construction of Offshore Wind Farms in the German North Sea' (2013). This requires project proponents to coordinate piling activities with concurrent OWF developments in the North Sea's exclusive economic zone. All of these requirements serve to ensure compliance with the prohibition of killing and injuring species and the prohibition of disturbance under the German Federal Nature Conservation Act (Section 44(1)(1) and (2). [7]

In the United States and the United Kingdom, similar guidelines are followed, drawing from technical recommendations provided by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration [8] and Southall et al. (2019) [9]. These guidelines incorporate frequencyweighted parameters tailored to different species [6].

3 Noise Emissions of Offshore Wind Turbines

In the case of OWTs and their noise emissions, various phases of the wind turbine project need to be considered. This includes site surveys, the construction phase, the operational phase and the decommissioning phase (cf. Fig. 2). [10]



Fig. 2: Acoustic life of an Offshore Wind Farm area, including during site surveys, construction, operation and decommissioning [5]

3.1 Survey Phase

3.1.1 Types and Causes of Noise Emissions

The survey phase involves geophysical profiling with multibeam and side-scan sonar, mapping the seabed.

¹ Sound Exposure Level in dB re 1 μ Pa² s; dB = Decibel; re = in reference to; 1 μ Pa = 1 Micro Pascal; 1 μ Pa² s = 1 Micro Pascal squared * second; the reference level for water is 1 μ Pa.

² Peak Sound Pressure Level in dB re 1 μ Pa; dB = Decibel; re = in reference to; 1 μ Pa = 1 Micro Pascal; 1 μ Pa² s = 1 Micro Pascal squared * second; the reference level for water is 1 μ Pa.

Special sensors, cameras, sampling and seismic systems can be used to characterise the benthos (depth, morphology, sediment, geology and biology). Examples for seismic systems are echosounders and sparkers. Echosounders have depth limitations (< 2–20 m) and a 240-250 dB re 1 μ Pa source level, offering a 2-22 kHz frequency range and 5-15 cm vertical resolution. For deeper grounds (100 m to 1 km), sparkers with 222 dB re 1 μ Pa source level are used (40 Hz to 1.5 kHz, 20 cm to 10 m vertical resolution). It should be noted that seismic airguns are rarely used in the survey phase of OWTs, which is why they are not discussed any further. [5]

3.1.2 Effects on the Marine Wildlife

While active acoustic benthic surveys are common, the impact of echosounders and related technologies on marine wildlife remains insufficiently explored. Sonar systems, operating at frequencies often undetectable by aquatic organisms, have limited effects [11, 12]. Extensive research on mid-frequency active (MFA) sonar in the 1-7 kHz range has been conducted, yet echosounders and chirp sonars lack comprehensive studies [5]. Clupeids exhibit sensitivity to midfrequency sonar, but MFA sonar experiments on adult herring reveal no significant behavioural responses [13]. Limited MFA sonar studies suggest marginal effects on fish hearing, with no observed impacts on rainbow trout and minimal, inconsistent shifts in auditory thresholds for channel catfish [12]. One study acknowledges potential hearing loss induced by low-frequency sonar at high SPLs (193 dB re 1 μ Pa) [11]. Its impacts on invertebrates remain unexplored [14]. Ship noise (130-200 dB re 1 μ Pa [15]) during site surveys, despite its intermittent nature, can mask communication signals of haddock, cod and other taxa, inducing physiological stress, impairing foraging and predator responses in fish and invertebrates [16]. The intermittent nature of vessel noise is a key factor in elevating stress-related responses [17]. While harmful effects on marine mammals are unlikely, their exposure to noise levels above the background could induce behavioural changes in sensitive species (cf. Fig. 3) [15, 18].



Fig. 3: The different effects of noise on marine mammals, adapted from [19, 20]

3.2 Construction Phase

3.2.1 Types and Causes of Noise Emissions

OWTs can be categorised based on foundation types (cf. Fig. 4), which is crucial for determining installation methods [21].



Fig. 4: Different types of foundations of Offshore Wind Turbines [22]

The selection of foundation types, such as Monopiles and Tripod systems, depends on site conditions. Monopile foundations, characterised by a single steel tube, emerge as the most frequently employed and cost-effective solution for OWTs (cf. Fig. 5). For larger turbines positioned farther offshore, there is a growing preference for Jacket and Tripod systems. [5]



Fig. 5: All foundations installed with and without grid connection by the end of 2020 in Europe, adapted from [23]

The construction phase of OWFs typically spans one to three years and raises ecological concerns, primarily due to the substantial noise generated during the installation of foundations using impact or vibrational hammers [5, 24]. During the foundation installation LPeaks result at 220 dB re 1 μ Pa at 10 m and 200 dB re 1 μ Pa at 300 m from (0.75 m and 5 m diameter) piles [25]. The primary energy is concentrated below 500 Hz, extending beyond 1 kHz [5]. This aligns with the auditory bandwidth of marine species, potentially impacting underwater ecosystems (cf. Fig. 6) [5].





Fig. 6: Sound propagation paths associated with piledriving [26], adapted from [27]

Additionally, a pile-driving operation can take 157 min required 7,000 blows of the hammer. Predicting effects is challenging due to the dynamic nature of acoustic pulses during propagation. LPeaks at 205 dB re 1 μ Pa at 100 m, yet signals remain detectable up to 70 km. Close to the source (1 km), the initial waveform peak lasts 10 ms, but at 40 km, durations extend to 200 ms, indicating a less impulsive nature of signals at greater distances. This complexity is amplified by additional noise sources like vessel movements, trenching, dredging, drilling and scour protection laying within 1 km of the turbine site. [28]

3.2.2 Effects on the Marine Wildlife

Numerous studies have investigated construction noise, notably pile-driving, in aquatic ecosystems. Results, spanning various methods and species, reveal a spectrum of effects from severe physical injury to minimal impact. For instance, hybrid striped bass experienced multiple injury types when exposed to simulated pile-driving signals, with injury numbers and severity increasing with fish size (cf. Fig. 7) [29]. In Lake sturgeon and Nile tilapia, injuries occurred at lower SELs (204 dB re 1 μ Pa² · s), intensifying at higher levels (216 dB re 1 $\mu Pa^2 \cdot s$) [30]. Comparative studies highlight greater vulnerability in fish with physoclistous swim bladders (closed structures not connected with digestive tract) compared to physostomous swim bladders (open structures connected with digestive tract) [29, 30]. European seabass displayed physiological and behavioural effects, including disrupted schooling structures and increased swimming speeds at 154 dB re 1 μ Pa² · s [31]. Also, they demonstrate heightened swimming speeds and depths, decreased inter-fish distances, increased startle responses and a tendency to move away from the sound source at exposure levels ranging from 200 Hz to 1 kHz and a mean SPL of 180–192 dB re 1 μ Pa [32]. Certain fish species, like sheepshead and flatfish, minimally



Fig. 7: Barotrauma effects on marine species exposed to pile-driving noise [5], adapted from [29, 30]

respond to noise from activities such as pile-driving [33, 34]. Limited research on invertebrates highlights potential negative effects on species like hermit crabs and blue mussels due to simulated pile-driving and sediment vibrations [35, 36].

Marine mammals face potential hearing loss, for cetaceans at 5 m and pinnipeds at 20 m and temporary at 10 m respectively 40 m within the pile-driving operation [28]. If noise levels at 100 m are below safe limits (166 dB re 1 μ Pa² · s), there is no indicating damage beyond this distance for these types [28]. Harbour porpoises may experience behavioural disturbances up to 70 km, with strong avoidance reactions up to 20 km [28]. Pinnipeds are affected within a 14 km zone [28]. Bottlenose dolphins and minke whales may show disturbances at 50 and 40 km, respectively [28]. Acoustic deterrent devices and gentle approaches can cause a significant directional movement away from the sound source before pile-driving [37].

3.3 Operation Phase

3.3.1 Types and Causes of Noise Emissions

The underwater sound generated during the operation of an OWE system mainly comes from rotating machine parts like rotor blades, gearbox and generator (cf. Fig. 8) [38]. These components cause vibrations in the nacelle and tower structure, propagating beneath the waterline and emitting underwater sound [38]. The SPLs can range from 111 to 123 dB re 1 μ Pa (< 1 kHz) at 100 m, contingent on wind and rotation speed [39]. These sounds, inclusive of those from ships and transformers, can extend over several kilometers [5]. Turbine size influences the noise and different foundation types may have varied acoustic impacts [5]. With a lifespan of 20-30 years [5], the emissions persist at least for a long time and pose challenges for marine animals. Current noise mitigation methods may be unsuitable due to prolonged operational times and relatively low noise levels [5].





Fig. 8: Schematic representation of the entry of machine noise into the water [38]

3.3.2 Effects on the Marine Wildlife

Operational noise from OWFs has varying effects on fish. While direct physical injury is unlikely due to moderate noise levels, long-duration exposure may induce temporary threshold shifts, affecting fish communication, foraging and predator detection [5]. Studies in Sweden indicate a negative correlation between fish abundance and local noise levels, with reduced catches at higher noise levels [40]. Behavioural responses differ; some fish show increased catchability near turbines when not operating, while others, like tagged cod in a Belgian OWF, exhibit no change [41]. Studies dismiss the possibility of killing or injuring marine mammals due to temporary or permanent threshold shifts (TTS and PTS) [9]. Other studies affirm these findings with minimal impacts like reacting to avoidance or disruptive effects [42]. Also new gearless OWTs generate lower-frequency tones with reduced amplitudes compared to geared OWTs [38]. This decreases for instance the likelihood of detection by porpoises (cf. Fig. 9) [38]. OWTs may have a more notable impact in regions with minimal background noise and limited ship activity [39].



Fig. 9: Harbour porpoise hearing thresholds vs. operational noise at 100 m from three turbines (OWP = OWT) [38], created from [43, 44]

3.4 Decommission Phase

3.4.1 Types and Causes of Noise Emissions

Decommissioning involves the removal of turbines, foundations, cables and other structures, which can have a significant impact. One of the few studies found that the SPL, when cutting a steel pylon during OWF decommissioning, can be high (198.7-199.8 dB re 1 μ Pa) at a 10-50 m distance. The predominant portion of this sound energy fell within the frequency range of 250 Hz to 1 kHz. [45]

3.4.2 Effects on the Marine Wildlife

Research on the impact of OWF decommissioning on marine wildlife is limited as decommissioning is still in its early stages. The effects on marine wildlife are difficult to predict, but there is the potential for disturbance such as masking, displacement, physiological stress and other factors, particularly in habitats around OWF piles or foundations while decommissioning. [5]

4 Measures to Minimise Noise Emissions

Recognising the significance of environmental sounds and minimising human-made noise impacts is crucial for the economy, national security and maintaining a balance with the ocean's essential role [3].

In general, noise mitigation involves two main categories: primary measures (Noise Mitigation Systems) aim to reduce impulsive noise during foundation structure installation through source strength reduction or alternative, low-noise methods. Secondary measures (Noise Abatement Systems) focus on minimising impulsive pile-driving noise in water. Experience from 21 offshore wind projects shows that three effective secondary noise abatement systems are in use: Noise Mitigation Screen (IHC-NMS), Hydro Sound Damper (HSD) and Big Bubble Curtain (BBC and Double BBC), which have successfully reduced noise levels by approximately 17 dB re 1 μ Pa in water depth 25-40 m. The combination of near-pile and far-pile protection systems enables a reduction of > 20 dB re 1 μ Pa up to a depth of 40 m. Technical requirements and site-specific adaptations are important. The spectral sound reduction varies depending on the system and frequency range. A sound-optimised pile-driving process can achieve additional reductions. [6]

Koschinski and Lüdemann (2011, 2013, 2020) overview sound protection and alternative foundations, highlighting innovations like AdBm and Blue-Piling for reduced noise and environmental impact. Suction Bucket, Floating Foundation and ongoing research on Vibro-Piling are discussed. [46–48]



5 Knowledge Gaps and Research Needs R

- Survey Technologies: Impacts of current-use seismic sources on marine wildlife
- Alternative Foundations: Research technologies to reduce noise and environmental impact
- Long-term Noise Effects: Study continuous operational noise on marine wildlife
- Operational Noise Effects: On early developmental stages in various species
- Decommissioning Impact: Evaluate OWF decommissioning, particularly noise
- Decommissioning Practices: Evaluate adherence to environmental regulations

6 Conclusion

In conclusion, while the German government's push for OWE signifies a positive step in the global transition to sustainable power, the question arises: What impact do noise emissions from Offshore Wind Turbines have on marine wildlife? This paper has illuminated environmental concerns related to noise emissions from OWTs. The examination of various project phases reveals complex issues impacting marine wildlife, necessitating robust environmental regulations. Existing German standards are discussed, emphasising the importance of nuanced approaches and mitigation efforts such as bubble curtains. Despite progress, challenges persist, particularly in understanding the decommission phase impacts on marine mammals, fish and invertebrates. The paper calls for ongoing research, comprehensive strategies and a balanced approach to ensure the coexistence of renewable energy goals and marine ecosystem preservation. Future advancements and collaborative efforts will be crucial for refining mitigation measures and addressing knowledge gaps in this evolving sector.

7 Outlook

As the OWE sector continues to expand globally, proactive research and collaborative efforts are crucial to refine noise mitigation measures and address knowledge gaps. Ongoing technological advancements will play a pivotal role in minimising the impact of noise emissions on marine ecosystems. A balanced approach that harmonises renewable energy development with environmental conservation is essential. The call for continued research underscores the commitment to achieving sustainable coexistence between offshore wind energy objectives and the preservation of marine wildlife.

References

- D. Bundesregierung. "Mehr Windenergie auf See" (2023). accessed on 15.11.2023. URL: https: //www.bundesregierung.de/breg-de/ schwerpunkte/klimaschutz/windenergieauf-see-gesetz-2022968.
- [2] B. für Seeschiffahrt und Hydrographie. "Underwater sound" (2020). accessed on 20.11.2023. URL: https://www.bsh.de/EN/TOPICS/ Offshore/Environmental_assessments/ Underwater_sound/underwater_sound_node. html.
- [3] A. Scholik-Schlomer. "Where the Decibels Hit the Water: Perspectives on the Application of Science to Real-World Underwater Noise and Marine Protected Species Issues". Acoustics Today 11.3 (2015), pp. 36–44.
- [4] A. E. Copping and L. G. Hemery. OES-Environmental 2020 State of the Science Report: Environmental Effects of Marine Renewable Energy Development Around the World. 2020, p. 70. DOI: 10.2172/1632878.
- T. A. Mooney, M. H. Andersson, and J. Stanley.
 "Acoustic impacts of offshore wind energy on fishery resources". *Oceanography* 33.4 (2020), pp. 82–95. DOI: 10.5670/oceanog.2020.408.
- [6] M. A. Bellmann, J. Brinkmann, A. May, T. Wendt, S. Gerlach, and P. Remmers. Underwater noise during the impulse pile-driving procedure: Influencing factors on pile-driving noise and technical possibilities to comply with noise mitigation values. Technical Report. Supported by the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), FKZ UM16 881500. Commissioned and managed by the Federal Maritime and Hydrographic Agency (BSH), Order No. 10036866. itap GmbH, 2020, p. 137.
- [7] B. für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie. Dritte Verordnung zur Durchführung des Windenergieauf-See-Gesetzes. 3. Gesetzblatt oder andere relevante Informationen. 2023, p. 48.
- [8] N. M. F. Service. Revisions to: Technical Guidance for Assessing the Effects of Anthropogenic Sound on Marine Mammal Hearing (Version 2.0): Underwater Thresholds for Onset of Permanent and Temporary Threshold Shifts. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-OPR-59. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, NOAA, 2018, p. 167.
- [9] B. L. Southall, J. J. Finneran, C. Reichmuth, P. E. Nachtigall, D. R. Ketten, A. E. Bowles, W. T. Ellison, D. P. Nowacek, and P. L. Tyack. "Marine mammal noise exposure criteria: Updated scientific recommendations for residual hearing effects". *Aquatic Mammals* 45.2 (2019), pp. 125–232. DOI: 10.1578/AM.45.2.2019.125.

- [10] A Müller and C Zerbs. "Offshore-Windparks-Messvorschrift für Unterwasserschallmessungen: Aktuelle Vorgehensweise mit Anmerkungen". Bundesamt für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie ", BSH, Hamburg (2011), p. 35.
- [11] A. N. Popper, M. B. Halvorsen, A. Kane, D. L. Miller, M. E. Smith, J. Song, P. Stein, and L. E. Wysocki. "The effects of high-intensity, lowfrequency active sonar on rainbow trout". *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 122.1 (2007), pp. 623–635. DOI: 10.1121/1.2735115.
- [12] M. B. Halvorsen, D. G. Zeddies, W. T. Ellison, D. R. Chicoine, and A. N. Popper. "Effects of mid-frequency active sonar on hearing in fish". *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 131.1 (2012), pp. 599–607. DOI: 10.1121/1. 3664082.
- [13] L. Doksæter, N. O. Handegard, O. R. Godø, P. H. Kvadsheim, and N. Nordlund. "Behavior of captive herring exposed to naval sonar transmissions (1.0–1.6 kHz) throughout a yearly cycle". The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 131.2 (2012), pp. 1632–1642. DOI: 10.1121/1.3675944.
- D. M. Hudson, J. S. Krumholz, D. L. Pochtar, N. C. Dickenson, G. Dossot, G. Phillips, E. P. Baker, and T. E. Moll. "Potential impacts from simulated vessel noise and sonar on commercially important invertebrates". *PeerJ* 10 (2022), p. 19. DOI: 10.7717/peerj.12841.
- [15] C. Erbe, S. A. Marley, R. P. Schoeman, J. N. Smith, L. E. Trigg, and C. B. Embling. "The effects of ship noise on marine mammals—A review". *Frontiers in Marine Science* 6 (2019), p. 21. DOI: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00606.
- J. A. Stanley, S. M. Van Parijs, and L. T. Hatch.
 "Underwater sound from vessel traffic reduces the effective communication range in Atlantic cod and haddock". *Scientific Reports* 7.1 (2017), p. 12. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-14743-9.
- [17] L. E. Wysocki, J. P. Dittami, and F. Ladich.
 "Ship noise and cortisol secretion in European freshwater fishes". *Biological Conservation* 128.4 (2006), pp. 501–508. DOI: 10.1016/j.biocon. 2005.10.020.
- [18] D. Cholewiak, A. I. DeAngelis, D. Palka, P. J. Corkeron, and S. M. Van Parijs. "Beaked whales demonstrate a marked acoustic response to the use of shipboard echosounders". *Royal Society* open science 4.12 (2017), p. 15.
- [19] C. Audoly and C. Rousset. "European project for achieving quieter oceans by shipping noise footprint reduction". *Proceedings of Meetings* on Acoustics. Vol. 21. 1. AIP Publishing. 2014, p. 15. DOI: 10.1121/1.4877560.

- [20] W. J. Richardson, C. R. Greene Jr., C. I. Malme, and D. H. Thomson. Marine Mammals and Noise. San Diego: Academic Press, 1995, p. 576. ISBN: 0-12-588441-9. DOI: 10.1016/C2009-0-02253-3.
- [21] Z. Jiang. "Installation of offshore wind turbines: A technical review". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 139 (2021), p. 21. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2020.110576.
- [22] Energiewinde. "Gebohrt, nicht gehämmert" (2023). accessed on 17.11.2023. URL: https:// energiewinde.orsted.de/trends-technik/ offshore-wind-fundamente-gebohrt-demeherrenknecht-frankreich.
- [23] WindEurope. "Offshore Wind in Europe: Key Trends and Statistics 2020". 1 (2021), p. 38.
- [24] National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine and others. "Atlantic Offshore Renewable Energy Development and Fisheries: Proceedings of a Workshop—in Brief" (2018), p. 12.
- [25] P. G. Reinhall and P. H. Dahl. "Underwater Mach wave radiation from impact pile driving: theory and observation". *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 130.3 (2011), pp. 1209–1216. DOI: 10.1121/1.3614540.
- [26] C. Pyć, Z. D., S. Denes, and M. Weirathmueller. "Supplemental Information for the Assessment of Potential Acoustic and Non-acoustic Impact Producing Factors on Marine Fauna during Construction of the Vineyard Wind Project". 3 (2018), p. 84.
- [27] P. David Buehler, R. Oestman, J. Reyff, K. Pommerenck, and B. Mitchell. Technical Guidance for Assessment and Mitigation of the Hydroacoustic Effects of Pile Driving on Fish. Report CTHWANP-RT-15-306.01.01. California Department of Transportation, 2015, p. 533.
- [28] H. Bailey, B. Senior, D. Simmons, J. Rusin, G. Picken, and P. M. Thompson. "Assessing underwater noise levels during pile-driving at an offshore wind farm and its potential effects on marine mammals". *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 60.6 (2010), pp. 888–897. DOI: 10.1016/j. marpolbul.2010.01.003.
- [29] B. M. Casper, M. B. Halvorsen, F. Matthews, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. "Recovery of Barotrauma Injuries Resulting from Exposure to Pile Driving Sound in Two Sizes of Hybrid Striped Bass". *PLoS ONE* 8.9 (2013), p. 12. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073844.
- [30] M. B. Halvorsen, B. M. Casper, F. Matthews, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. "Effects of Exposure to Pile-Driving Sounds on the Lake Sturgeon, Nile Tilapia, and Hogchoker". *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 279.1748 (2012), pp. 4705–4714. DOI: 10.1098/rspb.2012.1544.

- [31] J. E. Herbert-Read, L. Kremer, R. Bruintjes, A. N. Radford, and C. C. Ioannou. "Anthropogenic Noise Pollution from Pile-Driving Disrupts the Structure and Dynamics of Fish Shoals". *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 284.1863 (2017), p. 9. DOI: 10.1098/rspb.2017. 1627.
- [32] Y. Y. Neo, J. Hubert, L. Bolle, H. V. Winter, C. Ten Cate, and H. Slabbekoorn. "Sound Exposure Changes European Seabass Behaviour in a Large Outdoor Floating Pen: Effects of Temporal Structure and a Ramp-Up Procedure". *Environmental Pollution* 214 (2016), pp. 26–34. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2016.03.075.
- [33] J. D. Iafrate, S. L. Watwood, E. A. Reyier, D. M. Scheidt, G. A. Dossot, and S. E. Crocker. "Effects of Pile Driving on the Residency and Movement of Tagged Reef Fish". *PLoS ONE* 11.11 (2016), p. 17. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163638.
- [34] D. Wilber, D. Carey, and M. Griffin. "Flatfish Habitat Use near North America's First Offshore Wind Farm". *Journal of Sea Research* 139 (2018), pp. 24–32. DOI: 10.1016/j.seares. 2018.06.004.
- [35] L. Roberts and M. E. Laidre. "Finding a Home in the Noise: Cross-modal Impact of Anthropogenic Vibration on Animal Search Behaviour". *Biology Open* 8.7 (2019), p. 7. DOI: 10.1242/ bio.041988.
- [36] L. Roberts, S. Cheesman, T. Breithaupt, and M. Elliott. "Sensitivity of the Mussel Mytilus edulis to Substrate-borne Vibration in Relation to Anthropogenically Generated Noise". Marine Ecology Progress Series 538 (2015), pp. 185–195. DOI: 10.3354/meps11468.
- [37] I. M. Graham, D. Gillespie, K. C. Gkikopoulou, G. D. Hastie, and P. M. Thompson. "Directional hydrophone clusters reveal evasive responses of small cetaceans to disturbance during construction at offshore windfarms". *Biology Letters* 19.2 (2023), p. 6. DOI: 10.1098/rsbl.2022.0101.
- [38] M. A. Bellmann, T. Müller, K. Scheiblich, and K. Betke. Experience Report on Operational Noise - Cross-Project Evaluation and Assessment of Underwater Noise Measurements from the Operational Phase of Offshore Wind Farms. Report 3926. Funded by the German Federal Maritime and Hydrographic Agency, Funding No. 10054419. itap, 2023, p. 101.
- [39] J. Tougaard, L. Hermannsen, and P. T. Madsen.
 "How loud is the underwater noise from operating offshore wind turbines?" The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 148.5 (2020), pp. 2885–2893. DOI: 10.1121/10.0002453.

- [40] L. Bergström, F. Sundqvist, and U. Bergström. "Effects of an offshore wind farm on temporal and spatial patterns in the demersal fish community". *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 485 (2013), 199–210. DOI: 10.3354/meps10344.
- [41] H. V. Winter, G. Aartsw, and O. A. van Keeken. Residence Time and Behaviour of Sole and Cod in the Offshore Wind Farm Egmond aan Zee (OWEZ). Tech. rep. Institute for Marine Resources & Ecosystem Studies, 2010, p. 50.
- [42] A. Rose, M Brandt, R. Vilela, A. Diederichs, A. Schubert, V. Kosarev, G. Nehls, M Volkenandt, V Wahl, A Michalik, et al.. "Effects of noise-mitigated offshore pile driving on harbour porpoise abundance in the German Bight 2014-2016 (Gescha 2)". Report by IBL Unweltplanung GmbH (2019), p. 204.
- [43] R. A. Kastelein, L. Hoek, C. A. de Jong, and P. J. Wensveen. "The effect of signal duration on the underwater detection thresholds of a harbor porpoise (Phocoena phocoena) for single frequency-modulated tonal signals between 0.25 and 160 kHz". The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 128.5 (2010), pp. 3211–3222. DOI: 10.1121/1.3493435.
- [44] R. A. Kastelein, L. Helder-Hoek, and S. Van de Voorde. "Hearing thresholds of a male and a female harbor porpoise (Phocoena phocoena)". *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 142.2 (2017), pp. 1006–1010. DOI: 10.1121/1. 4997907.
- [45] N. Hinzmann, P. Stein, J. Gattermann, J. Bachmann, and G. Duff. "Measurements of hydro sound emissions during internal jet cutting during monopile decommissioning". COME-Conference on Maritime Energy 2017-Decommissioning of Offshore Geotechnical Structures, 28.-29. März 2017 in Hamburg, S. 139. Vol. 161. 2017, p. 22.
- [46] S. Koschinski and K. Lüdemann. "Stand der Entwicklung schallminimierender Maßnahmen beim Bau von Offshore-Windenergieanlagen". Studie im Auftrag vom Bundesamt für Naturschutz (BfN) (2011), p. 88.
- [47] S. Koschinski and K. Lüdemann. "Development of noise mitigation measures in offshore wind farm construction". *Commissioned by the Federal Agency for Nature Conservation* (2013), p. 102.
- [48] S. Koschinski and K. Lüdemann. "Noise mitigation for the construction of increasingly large offshore wind turbines". Technical Options for Complying with Noise Limits; The Federal Agency for Nature Conservation: Isle of Vilm, Germany (2020), p. 40.

State of the art: Corrosion protection for offshore wind turbines

Luis Recker*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

This review paper provides an initial overview of the state of the art of common corrosion protection methods for offshore wind turbines. The functions of the individual corrosion protection methods and their interaction are explained. In addition, the specific corrosion protection of different zones and components of an offshore wind turbine will be discussed. Finally, some information is given on current and possible future developments in this subject area.

Keywords: corrosion protection, offshore wind turbines

1 Introduction

In recent decades, the use of offshore wind turbines to generate electricity has significantly increased as they present a sustainable and environmentally friendly energy source. A major expansion of renewable energy is required in all sectors to meet the German government's ambitious target of making German electricity generation 80 % climate-neutral by 2030 and completely climate-neutral by 2045. In the first half of 2023, renewable energy sources only provided around 52 % of the electricity consumed in Germany [1]. Offshore wind can therefore represent an important component for climate-neutral electricity generation in the coming years. Offshore installations are exposed to extreme environmental conditions such as salt water, wind and waves, which leads to an increased risk of corrosion. Corrosion can not only significantly shorten the service life of the turbines, but also lead to significant economic losses. As a rule, these structures are designed to last more than 25 years. It is therefore of great importance to develop and apply effective corrosion protection measures to ensure the long-term performance and reliability of these systems.

2 Corrosion mechanisms at sea

The environmental conditions at sea demand much greater resistance and durability from wind turbines. The turbines are exposed to various, sometimes extreme stresses at sea:

- Extreme weather conditions
- Mechanical stresses
- Biological stresses

Extreme weather conditions at sea are characterised by wind, waves, extreme temperatures, UV exposure and especially increased exposure to salty seawater [2, 3]. Compared to drinking water, seawater can be characterised as corrosive due to its salt content. Corrosion effects increase with rising salt content [4].

Offshore wind turbines are exposed to additional mechanical stresses due to currents and waves, floating objects, the landing of boats and the installation of the structure [2, 5].

Furthermore, marine growth, e.g. by mussels, barnacles or algae, can have an additional influence on the chemical conditions of the metal surface of the structure and negatively affect the corrosion behaviour [2, 5].

When considering corrosion-promoting stresses at sea, it is therefore a complex combination of different influencing factors. Careful analysis of all factors and their interaction is necessary to ensure sustainable utilisation of the systems over a long life cycle. Due to their high susceptibility to corrosion, offshore structures are categorised in the most critical category CX "extreme corrosiveness" [6].

Corrosion and fatigue are the main causes of the primary loss of strength of steel in offshore wind turbines [3]. Corrosion can reduce the thickness of steel components and thus increase the risk of fatigue cracking and buckling. Information on corrosion appearances and failures on offshore wind turbines is generally rare, as systematic analyses were or are often not part of the maintenance and repair activities and information on damage is kept secret for intellectual property reasons [5].

 $[\]label{eq:corresponding} \ensuremath{^*\text{Corresponding author: luis.recker@fh-muenster.de}.$

Plagemann and Momber [5] provide an overview of the causes of corrosion in the first years of operation of a plant:

- Mechanical damage (30 %)
- Wrong design (30 %)
- Insufficient coating (24 %)
- Welding (11 %)
- Environment (5 %)

The causes of corrosion can often be traced back to defects or damage to the protective coatings during the installation of the plant or the manufacture of the components [2, 3, 5]. Flange connections, in particular, can be critical structural parts due to corrosion in gaps (crevice corrosion) resulting from moisture and inadequate coating adhesion during installation [2, 7]. For corrosion protection reasons, welded connections are generally preferable to flanged connections.

Wind turbines at sea are usually categorised into different zones, which are exposed to different conditions, show varying degrees of corrosion and therefore require different corrosion protection. Figure 1, based on [5], provides an overview.



Fig. 1: Stresszones offshore wind turbines

Different corrosion rates are assumed for each zone. According to DIN EN ISO 12944 [6], the maximum corrosion rate for heavily loaded components is 0.7 mm/a, whereas Momber et al. [2, 3] report maximum corrosion rates of up to 2.5 mm/a under extreme conditions. Components located in the tidal and splash zones experience the highest levels of stress because they are subject to alternating wet/dry cycles and the surface is often permanently covered with a thin film of moisture through which oxygen can easily diffuse to the metal surface, allowing corrosion to progress most rapidly. The rate of corrosion is reduced underwater (submerged zone) because oxygen can hardly reach the metal surface. The impact of marine growth has not been clearly investigated in the literature, although it is known that microbiologically induced corrosion (MIC) can lead to serious and rapid corrosion failures [2, 3, 5]. In addition, the corrosion rate is lower when in the atmospheric zone, where salt has a reduced influence, and infrequent wet/dry cycles occur.

3 Corrosion protection

Corrosion protection at sea is not a fundamentally new issue that has come up with the construction of wind turbines at sea. The majority of measures to protect against maritime corrosion originate from shipping, harbours, and oil and gas extraction at sea [2–4]. Nevertheless, offshore wind turbines differ from oil and gas extraction in that they mostly remain unmanned structures with very limited access. On oil and gas platforms, corrosion protection systems are usually subject to permanent inspections, which is often not the case with offshore wind energy. Therefore, reliable corrosion protection is all the more important to guarantee a long, reliable service life. To achieve this, several guidelines and standards provide reliable guidance, such as [8–12].

It is generally split into active and passive corrosion protection. However, it is important to note that corrosion allowance, a corrosion-friendly design, as well as maintenance and inspection also have important roles to play.

3.1 Passive corrosion protection

Passive corrosion protection describes the application of a barrier layer to prevent the material from coming into contact with the corrosive environment. This creates an artificial barrier on the material surface and represents the most used form of corrosion protection on offshore structures [3].

The most important criteria when choosing a coating system are [3]:

- Type of building
- Importance of the structure
- Environmental condition
- Required durability
- Performance

62



- Costs
- Surface preparation
- Application

Several layers of coating with different properties can be applied to structures. The compatibility and adhesion between individual layers is of great importance. These layers can be metallic, non-metallic or a combination of both [2, 3]. Metallic layers protect the structure through galvanic protection and by acting as a barrier layer. As a rule, non-ferrous metals such as

- Aluminium
- Zinc
- Alloys of both metals

can be used because they are more corrosion-resistant than ferrous metals. Non-metallic coatings are mainly organic based. Developments are focused on [2, 3]:

- Antifouling coatings
- Composite materials
- Nanocoatings
- Self-healing coatings
- Sol-gel coatings

As mentioned by Price and Figueira [3], there are only a limited number of studies and field reports on self-healing and sol-gel coatings, as these coating systems are not yet established on the market and are still in the development and optimisation phase. Organic protective coatings are commonly used in combination with metallic coatings [3, 5]. It is also important to note that the use of only metallic coatings is not allowed [10]. The most corrosion-resistant protective coating is currently considered to be the duplex system, as reported in [2, 3, 5]. This includes applying a metal coating (ZnAl15 base layer that is thermally sprayed) along with an intermediate layer made of particles-reinforced epoxy resin and a top layer made of polyurethane.

This coating system is used on all metallic components of the offshore structure, including the submerged zone. It is important to note that repairs cannot be made in these underwater areas after installation. To effectively prevent corrosion, active corrosion protection must be used in addition.

The long-term impact of coating systems in terms of emissions and impact on the marine environment is still unclear [4].

3.2 Active corrosion protection

Active corrosion protection aims to minimise the rate of corrosion if the protective barrier has been damaged, and corrosive substances have come into contact with the metal surface. This protection is electrochemical in method.

The aim is to supply electrons that prevent the metal from dissolving through an electrochemical reaction. This is done by providing the metal surface with a protective electrochemical potential. To achieve this, an electric direct current (DC) is passed through the corrosive medium into the object to be protected. The direct current causes cathodic polarisation, which shifts the metal potential to more negative values and simultaneously reduces the corrosion rate [4, 5, 13, 14]. Effective corrosion protection occurs when the current density on the surface is strong enough to decrease the potential to an acceptable level, resulting in an acceptable corrosion rate for the structure [14].

This type of corrosion protection is known as "cathodic corrosion protection" and is mainly applied to the components of an offshore structure that come into contact with water, making it a key factor in the stability of the system [11]. There are two widely-used techniques to implement cathodic corrosion protection. These include employing either galvanic anodes (GACP) or inert anodes (ICCP), also known as impressed current system. These two options provide a protective current for the polarization of the metal surface, either through the galvanic reaction of a metal that is less noble than the metal structure (GACP) or through an active current (ICCP) [4]. It is regardless for the protective effect of the structure which method is used to supply the protective current, be it from a galvanic anode or a DC power source [13].

Even a hybrid system consisting of GACP and ICCP can be used. This is especially useful during the installation phase of the offshore plant, when the structure will be without power for an extended period of time. During this phase, the galvanic anode serves as the primary cathodic corrosion protection; once the power supply is connected, the galvanic anode can support the impressed current system [10].

3.2.1 Galvanic Anodes Cathodic Protection (GACP)

Galvanic anodes represent the most basic form of cathodic corrosion protection. Their function is to dissolve a metal with a lower electrochemical potential than steel (colloquially known as a less noble metal). The typically used materials for technical applications are zinc, magnesium or aluminium as the anode material [5]. Aluminium anodes are mainly used for offshore wind turbines due to their protective effect and light weight [4, 5]. Aluminium has a high electrochemical capacity in seawater (2000 Ah/kg)



compared to zinc (780 Ah/kg) or magnesium [4]. Galvanic anodes vary in the amount of required anode material per year from a few kilograms (e.g. monopile structures) to several tonnes (e.g. jacket structures) [4]. The quantity of anodes material required depends on:

- Type of foundation (different surface)
- Desired service life
- Seawater conditions
- Combination with other corrosion protection methods

Galvanic anodes are generally not provided with a monitoring system, even though this would be beneficial for early detection of increased wear. Only about 10 % of offshore structures with GACP are equipped with remote monitoring [11].

Due to the high rate of anode wear, this method of corrosion protection is considered to be the most emission generating. Annual emissions from a system range from kilograms to tonnes [4].

3.2.2 Impressed Current Cathodic Protection (ICCP)

Unlike galvanic anodes, where protection is achieved by the difference in electrochemical potential of the materials, impressed current systems provide direct current (DC) from an external power source to the steel surface of the structure [4]. Inert anodes are used which typically consist of [4]:

- Titanium
- Iridium
- Iridium/ruthenium MOX coatings
- Magnetite
- Platinum with titanium, niobium and tantalum coatings

These do not need to be replaced and have low annual emissions in the range of milligrams to grams [4, 5].

Unlike GACP systems, impressed current systems must be equipped with measurement, monitoring and control systems to monitor and control key system parameters. The output current of the protective device can be controlled by [14]:

• Constant output voltage: Current is controlled by the resistance of the circuit, external influences lead to changes in the values of the current fed in.

- Potential control: The system potential is measured at one point and signalled to the protection device. The DC current fed is then controlled according to the set target value of the system potential.
- Current control: The protective current device supplies a predefined current.

The correct device settings must be permanently secured [10, 11]. The height of the required protective current depends on:

- Type of surrounding medium
- Type of protected object
- Type of surface
- Combination with other corrosion protection methods

Bette and Büchler [13] specify a required protective current density of approximately 120 to 160 mA/m^2 for the North Sea.

3.3 Corrosion allowance

Corrosion allowance implies the use of thicker steel than required for the construction of the system to withstand corrosion effects in a marine environment. Its use is only considered as a backup solution when conventional protection systems do not work or when damage to coatings needs to be covered. In addition, a corrosion allowance covers the period until a cathodic protection system is installed.

The thickness of the corrosion allowance is estimated based on the expected corrosion rate of the structure and is between 0.2 and 1.2 cm [4].

The emission potential of this corrosion protection method is classified as low [4].

3.4 Corrosion protection of individual zones

The offshore wind turbine zones are subject to different loads and conditions and must be individually protected against corrosion. Table 1 relates the corrosion protection methods to different zones of the wind turbine.

3.5 Maintenance and inspection

Maintenance, inspection and repair work in an offshore environment is associated with difficult conditions. In order to inspect the system, personnel have had to climb the system in most cases. The same applies to

Zone	Corrosion protection method	Reference
Submerged zone	Combination of coating systems with cathodic protection and	[3-5]
	corrosion allowance for corrosion losses. Mainly protected thru	
	cathodic protection. Coating systems cannot be repaired here.	
Tidal & splash zone	Area affected by oscillations, subject to wet and dry cycles, highest	[3]
	corrosive loads. Corrosion protection primarily through coating	
	systems, additional use of cathodic protection and corrosion al-	
	lowance for critical components.	
Atmospheric zone	Low corrosive load. Corrosion protection mainly through coating	[3]
	systems and corrosion allowances. Critical components made of	
	resistant material, e.g. stainless steel.	
Indoor area/ gondola	Sensitive electrical and mechanical components indoors must be	[3, 5]
	protected from high humidity. Aerosol and air separators are used	
	for this purpose. Mild overpressure inside prevents penetration of	
	salty aerosols. Coating of coatable components. Critical compo-	
	nents made of resistant material, e.g. stainless steel.	

	Tab. 1:	Corrosion	protection	from	different	turbine	zones
--	---------	-----------	------------	------	-----------	---------	-------

maintenance and repair work, especially on the outside of the turbine. This is not only time consuming, but can also be dangerous.

The coating systems should be inspected every 4200 hours, which represents an enormous amount of work with approximately two inspections per year [8].

Repairing the coating system on site is difficult. Salt and moisture residues and difficult surface preparation make application difficult and expensive. The cost of on-site coating can be up to $1000 \ \text{C/m}^2$, a huge increase compared to factory coating costs of 15-20 $\ \text{C/m}^2$ [3].

The latest developments in this field have resulted in a repair paint that is better able to handle the conditions it is exposed to and can therefore guarantee a good protective performance despite poor surface preparation (moisture, salt) [5]. In addition, inspections of protective systems are increasingly being carried out using drones or quadrocopters [5]. These are unmanned flying objects equipped with camera systems with image stabilisation systems and laser scaling systems. The flying objects and digital image analysis ensure that only identified repair areas need to be inspected and repaired by hand. Furthermore, the use of the quadrocopter is more flexible, as it can also be used in higher wind situations, compared to manual inspection, for example.

The additional integration of camera and sensor monitoring systems and the connection to existing plant monitoring systems (e.g. SCADA) could significantly reduce on-site inspection work in the future.

4 Conclusion and outlook

The protection against corrosion for offshore wind turbines is of utmost importance and should not be underestimated. The harsh conditions at sea can result in increased corrosion rates and significant wear and tear on the structures of an offshore turbine.

The adoption of known standards, regulations and procedures from the oil and gas industry for the extraction of fossil fuels provides a good basis for providing reliable corrosion protection for offshore structures. For the protection of steel structures in the marine environment, active and passive corrosion protection methods are generally suitable, as long as the protection devices are not damaged or worn.

Intensive inspection and maintenance are necessary for offshore wind turbines to detect and repair damage in a timely manner, as these turbines are not typically monitored continuously. Currently, personnel must climb the turbines to conduct these tasks manually, resulting in significant time, potential shutdowns, and costs.

However, there is a trend towards increased digital monitoring and a reduced use of manpower for specific fault analysis and repair only. Furthermore, the development of dependable and uncomplicated repair processes is of significant importance. These developments need to be followed and driven forward.

Only by combining active and passive corrosion protection, with a reliable digital monitoring system and sophisticated repair procedures, can the demands to ensure the strength of each turbine over a lifetime of more than 25 years be met while the number of offshore wind turbines rises and their distance from the coast increases.

References

[1] Presse- und Informationsamt der Bundesregierung. Anteil der Erneuerbaren



Energien steigt weiter. 2023. URL: https: //www.bundesregierung.de/bregde/schwerpunkte/klimaschutz/faqenergiewende-2067498.

- [2] A. Momber, P Plagemann, and V. Stenzel. "Performance and integrity of protective coating systems for offshore wind power structures after three years under offshore site conditions". *Renewable Energy* 74 (2015), pp. 606–617.
- [3] S. J. Price and R. B. Figueira. "Corrosion protection systems and fatigue corrosion in offshore wind structures: current status and future perspectives". *Coatings* 7.2 (2017), pp. 1–51.
- [4] T Kirchgeorg, I Weinberg, M Hörnig, R Baier, M. Schmid, and B Brockmeyer. "Emissions from corrosion protection systems of offshore wind farms: Evaluation of the potential impact on the marine environment". *Marine pollution bulletin* 136 (2018), pp. 257–268.
- [5] P. Plagemann and A Momber. "Corrosion protection of offshore wind energy constructions in Germany: Challenges and approaches". Journal of Telecommunication, Electronic and Computer Engineering (JTEC) 10.2-3 (2018), pp. 1–4.
- [6] DIN EN ISO 12944: Beschichtungsstoffe Korrosionsschutz von Stahlbauten durch Beschichtungssysteme - Teil 2: Einteilung der Umgebungsbedingungen. Norm. Apr. 2018.
- [7] DIN EN ISO 12944: Beschichtungsstoffe Korrosionsschutz von Stahlbauten durch Beschichtungssysteme - Teil 3: Grundregeln zur Gestaltung. Norm. Apr. 2018.
- [8] DIN EN ISO 12944: Beschichtungsstoffe Korrosionsschutz von Stahlbauten durch Beschichtungssysteme - Teil 9: Beschichtungssysteme und Leistungsprüfverfahren im Labor für Bauwerke im Offshorebereich. Norm. June 2018.
- [9] GfKORR Gesellschaft f
 ür Korrosionsschutz. Korrosionsschutz von Offshore-Windenergieanlagen. Richtlinie.
- [10] vgbe energy e.V. VGBE-S-021-01-2023-05-DE vgbe/BAW-Standard Korrosionsschutz von Offshore-Bauwerken zur Nutzung der Windenergie Teil 1: Allgemeines. Essen: vgbe energy service GmbH, 2023. ISBN: 978-3-96284-314-4.
- [11] VGB PowerTech e.V. VGB-S-021-04-2018-07-DE vgbe/BAW-Standard Korrosionsschutz von Offshore-Bauwerken zur Nutzung der Windenergie Teil 4: Kathodischer Korrosionsschutz (KKS). Essen: VGB PowerTech Service GmbH, 2018. ISBN: 978-3-86875-067-9.
- [12] NORSOK Standard. NORSOK M-501:2022 Surface preparation an protective coating. Norm. Nov. 2022.

- [13] Ulrich Bette und Markus Büchler. Taschenbuch für den kathodischen Korrosionsschutz 9. Auflage. Essen: Vulkan Verlag, 2017. ISBN: 978-3-8027-2867-9.
- [14] DIN EN 12954: Grundlagen des kathodischen Korrosionsschutzes von metallenen Anlagen in Böden und Wässern. Norm. Feb. 2020.

67

Dismantling of wind turbines

An overview of methods

Jannis Reintjes*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

This paper outlines the three main areas relevant to dismantling: the rotor blades, hub and nacelle, the tower and the foundation. The paper discusses the dismantling procedures, including the removal of the top structure, the tower and the foundation, and evaluates various methods of dismantling the tower, such as modular dismantling, collapse blasting, folding blasting, wrecking ball demolition and hydraulic ram demolition. The assessment of these methods in practice and the potential challenges and considerations for future dismantling, particularly as wind turbine heights increase, are also addressed.

Keywords: dismantling, disassembly, deconstruction, demolition, blasting, onshore, wind turbine, repowering

1 Introduction

Germany currently has around 28,500 onshore wind turbines in operation [1]. Since the expansion in 2000, there has been an increasing number of questions about their continued operation and eventual dismantling. On the one hand, dismantling is necessary because the technical service life of the turbines is limited. On the other hand, the subsidy period for wind turbines under the Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) ends after twenty years [2]. Given the trade-off between revenues from alternative marketing channels and the costs of continued operation, it is generally the operator's decision whether and when to decommission a wind turbine. Based on the date of installation, decommissioning is expected to peak in the years up to 2030 [3]. The development of wind energy is a key pillar of the energy transition, which is intended to enable the phasing out of fossil fuels and nuclear power. According to the current coalition agreement of the German government for 2021-2025, two per cent of the country's land area is to be designated for onshore wind energy [4]. The detailed formulation of the area target is to be set out in the Building Code § 249 [5]. The importance of the necessary expansion of wind energy is also reflected in current geopolitical changes, such as the war in Ukraine. The current German government has set itself the goal of doubling the amount of electricity generated from renewable sources by 2030 [4]. Wind energy has an important role to play. The "Windan-Land Gesetz" aims to significantly accelerate the expansion of wind energy in Germany by requiring the federal states to designate 2 % of the federal territory for wind energy by the end of 2032 [6]. By 2027, 1.4 % of the country's land area should be available, with priority given to repowering measures at the same location [6]. Many wind turbines therefore need to be dismantled. There are several methods of dismantling wind turbines. This paper will list and compare these methods.

2 Methodology

The methodology for this essay on the "Dismantling of Wind Turbines" involved a targeted literature search using keywords such as

- "Demontage von Windkraftanlagen" (dismantling of wind turbines),
- "Rückbau von Windenergieanlagen" (decommissioning of wind energy plants),
- "Onshore-Windenergie Rückbau" (onshore wind energy decommissioning),
- "Repowering",
- "Sprengen" (blasting) and
- "Rückbauverfahren" (dismantling methods).

The search was conducted in both German and English to ensure comprehensive coverage of available literature. Due to the limited literature on the topic, publications from the Umweltbundesamt (UBA) and DIN SPEC 4866 were primarily used as key sources. These selections were made to provide a well-rounded overview of legal frameworks, standards, and methodologies in the field of wind turbine decommissioning. An interview was also conducted. The literature



^{*}Corresponding author: jr016192@fh-muenster.de.

search was conducted systematically in GoogleScholar, ResearchGate and FINDEX, considering search results in both German and English. The selected sources were carefully analyzed to ensure they represented current standards and developments in the field of wind turbine decommissioning. A literature map was developed with assistance from the AI tool Research Rabbit. The analyzed information from the identified sources was integrated into the essay to offer a comprehensive insight into the methods, legal regulations, and current practices.

3 Legal framework for wind turbine dismantling in Germany

The legal framework plays a central role in the context of wind turbine dismantling, as it defines the guidelines, standards and regulations that shape this process. This chapter presents the main legal aspects that influence the dismantling of onshore wind turbines in Germany. These legal standards have a direct impact on the methods, approval procedures and environmental requirements associated with the dismantling of wind turbines. Only public law regulations are considered. The operator of the wind turbine is responsible for the dismantling, or the client who commissioned the dismantling bears the overall responsibility. The areas of responsibility are divided into planning, monitoring and disposal responsibility. If the responsible person does not have his own expertise, suitable specialists must be engaged. Financial provisions in the amount of the expected costs of complete dismantling are required under Section 35 of the German Building Code (BauGB) for the licensing of the plant, so that the public authorities do not have to bear the costs in the event of insolvency[5]. The obligation relates to the dismantling, which includes the building itself, but may also include ancillary facilities, pipes, paths and yards. The soil sealing caused by the installation must also be removed. In particular, wind turbines with a hub height of more than 50 metres require an immission control permit in accordance with § 4 of the Federal Immission Control Act (BImSchG)[7]. This Act requires the site to be restored to its original condition after the plant has been shut down. The protection of soil is of secondary importance in this area and only applies when the specialised laws do not cover the impacts on the soil. In individual cases, additional claims may arise under private law. Annex A of DIN SPEC 4866-2020-10 provides an overview of the applicable laws for the dismantling of wind turbines^[8]. From a legal perspective, dismantling and the disposal of the waste generated during dismantling fall under different regulatory regimes. Therefore, the existing regulations for disposal are not presented. Other relevant laws, guidelines and regulations apply during the dismantling process, such as the German Occupational Health and Safety Act (ArbSchG), TA

Lärm, AVV Baulärm, as well as the German Waste Management Act (KrWG), nature conservation laws and water legislation.

4 Methods of dismantling windturbines

A modern wind turbine is made up of a large number of components, which can be broadly divided into mineral and metallic components, as well as various types of plastic[9]. The weight of a typical wind turbine can be broken down as follows: Concrete tower systems consist of approximately 80-90 % concrete (tower and foundation), steel tower systems consist of approximately 20-25 % concrete based on the foundation. Even if a steel tower is not used, a large amount of iron is used in the concrete tower. The hub, to which the rotor blades are attached, and the nacelle, which houses the drive train with the rotor shaft, generator and possibly the gearbox, are also mainly made of iron. The rotor blades themselves are usually made of composite materials such as glass fibre reinforced plastics (GRP) and carbon fibre reinforced plastics (CFRP). Small amounts of non-ferrous metals such as copper and aluminium, cable materials such as polyvinyl chloride (PVC) and operating fluids are also used [10].

4.1 Building structure of a wind turbine

A wind turbine can be divided into three assemblies or areas relevant to dismantling: The first consists of the rotor blades, hub and nacelle. In addition to their height, their weight, attachment points and weight distribution are important. The second area is the tower, where information on design, structure, weight with mass proportions of construction materials, radii and segment geometry and their attachment points are important. The third area is the civil engineering with the foundation. Relevant information here is the type of foundation, weight including steel and concrete content, depth and, where applicable, the number and length of piers. Ancillary systems such as cabinets, cabling and other infrastructure are not taken into account [9].

4.2 Dismantling procedure

Regardless of the method of dismantling, the basic procedure will be similar as the preparatory measures will be the same. Before the actual dismantling begins, instructions are given with the site kick-off meeting, ensuring that no voltage is present and that the power supply is disconnected, securing the site and setting up the site. In preparation for dismantling, lubricants and other hazardous substances are removed from open and closed systems. Following the preparatory measures, the three assemblies are dismantled in the reverse order to the assembly of the wind turbine [8].

4.2.1 Dismantling of the upper structure

The first components to be removed are the rotor blades, hub and nacelle. There are two options for the removal of the rotor blades and the hub. In the case of single blade disassembly, the rotor blades are separated from the hub one by one and lowered by crane. The hub is removed separately. This is necessary due to the weight and height at which the cranes have to operate, compared to star disassembly where the hub is lifted together with the rotor blades. The wind turbine manufacturer usually specifies the option of single blade or star disassembly. Due to the size of the turbines, single blade disassembly will be the preferred method in the future. Special cranes, such as mobile cranes or crawler cranes, are used because of their height and weight, and there are very few of these in Germany and neighbouring European countries. The nacelle can then be lifted off, leaving behind the tower, which forms the second assembly. The controlled dismantling of this assembly can only be carried out using special cranes. [9] If it is not possible to dismantle the first assembly in this way, due to an accident or limited stability, the only remaining option is to demolish the tower including the building structures, which results in a large amount of flying debris, mixing of building materials and increased exposure to dust. This does not meet environmental requirements and is not state of the art for systems that do not meet these specific conditions [11].

4.2.2 Dismantling of the tower

Five different methods are available for dismantling the wind turbine tower:

- 1. Modular dismantling
- 2. Collapse blasting
- 3. Folding blasting
- 4. Wrecking ball demolition with crawler cranes
- 5. Crumble with hydraulic rams

Modular dismantling Modular dismantling is possible for tower structures that were also built using modular construction methods. This includes tubular steel and lattice towers, as well as concrete towers built using segmental construction. The individual modules are hooked into a special crane, which is also used for dismantling the buildings, separated from the tower by industrial climbers, lifted, swung away and lowered. The size of the modules to be dismantled is based on the size previously determined for construction, so weight and size are not a problem. [12] However, the large number of modules or lattice tower sections results in a large number of crane lifts, which is time consuming. The components can be crushed on site or, after removal, at the dismantling company's premises. The advantages of this method are the low emission dismantling of the tower and the small space required for dismantling, which is limited to the crane site with the handling area. On the other hand, the process is very time-consuming, especially with regard to the use of the special crane, which increases the cost of dismantling. Hybrid towers are a special case. These tower structures consist of a prestressed concrete tower made of precast concrete elements and a steel tower connected to the concrete tower by a transition piece. They are dismantled in the same way as pure steel and concrete towers. If the tower is not of modular construction or cannot be dismantled because the modules are glued together, the tower can be cut into transportable modules using sawing technology. However, there are significant additional costs associated with the use of sawing technology. Modular dismantling offers the possibility of secondary use of the system. However, the market for reuse of systems is small compared to the number of systems to be dismantled [13].



Fig. 1: Execution of a tower demolition using the folding blast method. Using a second explosive charge at 1/3 of the total height, the upper part of the tower collapsed in the opposite direction to the lower part. This method is more space-saving than a conventional tower collapse blasting. © Reisch Sprengtechnik GmbH

Collapse blasting Collapse blasting usually involves sawing a wedge into the base of the tower, leaving small supports so that the targeted blast will cause the tower to fall. Alternatively, this wedge can be blown up, which is more expensive but increases safety when working on damaged wind turbines. After blasting, the tower falls over lengthwise. The advantage of this method is that it is much faster than dismantling the modules or using mechanical methods. This method also eliminates the need for costly special cranes. This option is economically advantageous for both damaged and very tall wind turbines. In exceptional cases, this method can also be used to demolish wind turbines, including the nacelle, hub and rotor blades. The main disadvantage of blasting is the vibration caused by the impact of the tower and the flying debris from the blast and impact, which also creates a considerable amount of dust. A vibration expert report may be required. [11]

Folding blasting Folding blasting is the process of weakening the tower by sawing out another wedge at a second level, causing it to collapse. This results in a significantly reduced impact on the surrounding area, as a smaller drop bed is required and low impact speeds are achieved, resulting in less flying debris and dust. The advantages therefore lie in the environmental aspects, while the disadvantage is the increased cost of sawing the second wedge and loading the second blast layer. [11]

Collapse by wrecking ball with crawler crane Causing the collapse of a component by deliberately weakening the structure using a wrecking ball as a mechanical method has long been the state of the art. This method has rarely been used to demolish tower structures because the height of the structure does not allow the crane operator to work at a safe distance from the tower. This makes it impractical for tower demolition. [14]

Crumble with hydraulic rams Crumbling the tower with hydraulic rams is a development of the Wörmann Group. The new process is based on a traverse that is inserted into the tower from above using a crane, and then the tower is pushed apart from the inside using hydraulic rams. The advantages of this method are said to be the cost reduction compared to blasting, the avoidance of earthworks and vibrations, and the time advantage compared to modular dismantling. The main disadvantages are the cost of the special crane needed to lift the truss, the lack of proof of stability due to cracks, a high debris shadow due to small spalling, and the low maturity of the truss as there are increasing problems with the iron mesh of the reinforced concrete. [15]

4.2.3 Dismantling of the foundation

Foundation demolition is the final step after the tower has been removed from its foundation. Once the existing topsoil has been removed and the foundation exposed, it can be crushed by conventional demolition using hydraulic chisels on mobile excavators or, alternatively, by detonation blasting. The reinforced concrete is then scooped out and the foundation components removed. It should be noted that the higher the structure, the stronger the foundation. Accordingly, shallow foundations of more than 800 $\mathrm{m^3}$ of reinforced concrete are possible, speeding up the demolition of these heavily reinforced foundations with loosening blasting. The main advantage is the cost saving, as the costs of drilling the blast holes and the blasting process are quickly recouped. The emissions from the hydraulic chisels are also not significantly lower than those from loose blasting. [11]

5 Assessment

The methods are first evaluated on the basis of a survey of the application in practice. Of all the companies surveyed by the Umweltbundesamt, mechanical demolition, such as modular dismantling, was the most frequently used demolition method. The second and third most common methods were blasting to loosen the foundations and folding blasting. In the civil engineering sector, all companies mainly demolished shallow foundations. As with the tower demolition method, all respondents indicated that mechanical demolition was the most commonly used method of demolition prior to blasting, including the demolition of foundations. [16] Although mechanical dismantling was the most common method, blasting is the second most common method of tower dismantling. This is because especially small towers were dismantled and blasting does not block cranes, which will be in high demand in the coming years. The addition of $115\,$ GW of onshore wind turbines under the EEG will tie up a lot of crane capacity [2]. The resulting annual addition of 9 GW is already a major task, which will increase the prices of special cranes due to the supply and demand effect.

6 Conclusion

It should be borne in mind that relatively few turbines have been dismantled to date and that the number of small turbines with low hub heights, which are increasingly in the 90 metre hub height range, has also decreased. Therefore, the experience from the survey does not yet take into account the turbines that will be dismantled in the coming years. In addition, the hub height of wind turbines is currently 175 metres, and taller towers are already being planned, which

Assessment categories	Modular	Collapse	Folding	Wrecking	Crumble
	disman-	blasting	blasting	ball demo-	with hy-
	tling			lition	draulic
					rams
Required time	-	+	+	-	-
Machine utilisation	-	+	+	-	-
Material usage	+	-	-	+	+
Required space	+	-	+	-	+
Debris area	+	-		-	-
Safety during dismantling	+	+	+	-	
Environmental impact	+	-	+		
Authorisation effort				-	
Total costs	-	+	+	-	-
Environmental impact Authorisation effort Total costs	+	- +	+	-	_

Tab. 1: Overview of the different methods of	dismantling the tower
--	-----------------------

Key: + = relative advantage; - = relative disadvantage; blank = neutral advantage

will make dismantling even more difficult [16]. The situation is further exacerbated by the availability and cost of the cranes needed to erect and dismantle wind turbines. As a result of the increased costs, there will be no alternative to folding blast technology where environmental factors allow. However, a rethink will be necessary in five years' time, as more attention has been paid to dismantling in recent years and the modular construction method has also been designed for dismantling. In particular, the technological changes in machine technology will require a review, as these are developing significantly.

7 Outlook

The new technology for dismantling will initially involve robots or, increasingly, remote-controlled excavators and vehicles, as the use of personnel is costly and risks can be minimised. Automated work in high-risk areas using three-dimensional models and the drilling of blast holes will be the first to enter the market. Developments in crane technology will change applications and costs through faster set-up times and higher lifting capacities. It is not yet possible to predict how the increased use of drones will affect demolition activities in the future. Blasting technology will also continue to evolve. Examples include recently developed emulsion explosives, which are faster, cheaper and safer to use, and ignition technology with electronically programmable detonators.

References

 Deutsche WindGuard GmbH. Windenergiestatistik: Windenergie-Ausbau in Deutschland. 2023. URL: https://www.windguard. de/windenergiestatistik.html (visited on 07/12/2023).

- [2] Deutscher Bundestag. Gesetz für den Ausbau erneuerbarer Energien (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz - EEG 2023). URL: https://www. gesetze - im - internet. de / eeg _ 2014 / BJNR106610014.html (visited on 05/12/2023).
- [3] Umweltbundesamt. Windenergie an Land. 2023. URL: https://www.umweltbundesamt.
 de/themen/klima-energie/erneuerbareenergien/windenergie-an-land#flaeche (visited on 06/12/2023).
- [4] SPD, BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN, and FDP. KOALITIONSVERTRAG ZWISCHEN SPD, BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN UND FDP. 2021. URL: https://www.bundesregierung. de/resource/blob/974430/1990812/ 93bd8d9b17717c351633635f9d7fba09/2021-12-10-koav2021-data.pdf?download=1 (visited on 06/12/2023).
- [5] Deutscher Bundestag. Baugesetzbuch (BauGB). URL: https: / / www.gesetze - im internet.de / bbaug / BJNR003410960. html#BJNR003410960BJNG003604116 (visited on 05/12/2023).
- [6] Deutscher Bundestag. Gesetz zur Festlegung von Flächenbedarfen für Windenergieanlagen an Land (Windenergieflächenbedarfsgesetz -WindBG). URL: https://www.gesetze-iminternet.de/windbg/BJNR135310022.html (visited on 05/12/2023).
- [7]Deutscher Bundestag. Gesetz zum Schutz vorschädlichen Umwelteinwirkungen durch Luftverunreinigungen, Geräusche, Erschütterungen und ähnliche Vorgänge (Bundes-Immissionsschutzgesetz BIm-_ SchG). URL: https://www.gesetze-iminternet.de/bimschg/BJNR007210974.html (visited on 05/12/2023).
- [8] Deutsche Institut f
 ür Normung e.V.(Hrsg.) DIN SPEC 4866:2020-10. 2020. DOI: 10.31030/ 3196083. URL: https://www.beuth.de/


de / technische - regel / din - spec - 4866 / 328634880 (visited on 04/12/2023).

- [9] Bundesverband WindEnergie e.V. "Rückbau und Recycling von Windenergieanlagen" (2023). URL: https://www.wind-energie. de / fileadmin / redaktion / dokumente / publikationen - oeffentlich / themen / 02 technik - und - netze / 09 - rueckbau / 20230801 _ BWE - Informationspapier _ Rueckbau _ und _ Recycling _ von _ Windenergieanlagen . pdf (visited on 04/12/2023).
- [10] Bundesverband WindEnergie e.V. "Möglichkeiten zur Wiederverwertung von Rotorblättern von Onshore-Windenergieanlagen" (2017). URL: https://www.wind-energie. de / fileadmin / redaktion / dokumente / hintergrundpapiere-oeffentlich/themen/ Technik / 20171221 _ hintergrundpapier _ moeglichkeiten _ des _ recyclings _ von _ rotorblaetter.pdf (visited on 06/12/2023).
- [11] Interview: Reisch Sprengtechnik GmbH, Eduard Reisch, Interviewer: Jannis Reintjes; conducted on: 26.11.2023.
- [12] R. W. D. Siebers. "Erfassung von Nachhaltigkeitskennzahlen für die Teilwertschöpfungskette – Errichtung und Rückbau – im Stahlbau". PhD thesis. Bergische Universität Wuppertal, 2020.
- [13] Thies Beinke and Moritz Quandt. "Globalisierung des Windenergiemarkts". GITO Verlag (2013). URL: https://gitoverlag.de/homepage/im/imhp.nsf/ 0/5DF4952892BC0417C1257BF700275072/
 \$FILE / beinke _ Globalisierung - des -Windenergiemarkts_IM_2013-5.pdf.
- [14] Shweta O. Rathi and P.V. Khandve. "Demolition of Buildings – An Overview". International Journal of Advance Engineering and Research Development (2014). ISSN: 2348 - 4470.
- [15] Rückbau Windkraftanlagen. 2023. URL: https: //woermann - team - verkehr . de / unser service/rueckbau-windkraftanlagen/ (visited on 09/12/2023).
- [16] Prof. Dr. Sven-Joachim Otto, Dr. Simon Meyer, and et al. "Entwicklung eines Konzepts und Maßnahmen zur Sicherung einer guten Praxis bei Rückbau und Recycling von Windenergieanlagen". Umweltbundesamt (2023). ISSN: 1862-4804.

Technical challenges and trends in upscaling wind turbines

A review

Philipp Volkmer*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

The upscaling of wind turbines has been increasing in recent years and will continue to play a significant role in the future, as it allows for the reduction of electricity generation costs. Various challenges arise when it comes to upscaling. This article summarizes the technical challenges associated with upscaling wind turbines and presenting their problem-solving approaches and research trends based on other reviews. It was found that the most frequently cited challenges are related to individual components, such as rotor blades, drive train, generator, tower, and noise impact.

For rotor blades, the challenges are increased flexibility, more aeroelastic vibrations, increased wear, interferences with radar and transportation difficulties. Proposed solutions include the use of carbon-fiber blades, prebending, novel paints, and for transportation, segmented rotor blades and on-site manufacturing. In the gearbox, torque increases, leading to higher weight and susceptibility to errors. As a result, the trend is moving towards gearless systems with permanent magnet synchronous generators. Transportation is the major issue with towers, which can be resolved with on-site manufacturing. In terms of noise emission, reducing aerodynamic noise plays the most significant role.

Keywords: upscaling wind turbines, large wind turbines, trends and challenges wind turbines, wind turbine enlargement

1 Introduction

The goal of European climate and energy policy by 2030 is an increased proportion of renewable energy to 45%. To achieve this goal, among others the expansion of wind power in Europe is continuously progressing. In addition to more wind parks, the capacity of individual turbines is increasing which can be achieved by upscaling the turbines. It is still an ongoing trend for both onshore and offshore wind turbines because

a higher-power wind turbine system leads to a lower levelized cost of energy (LCOE) [1]. Current developments range from 6 to 8 MW for onshore wind turbines [2]. Offshore wind turbines aim for capacities of 10 to 15 MW [2]. The largest onshore turbines reach heights of 200 m with a rotor diameter of 150 m, while the largest offshore turbines reach heights of 250 m with a diameter of 200 m [3]. The enlargement of wind turbines presents a range of challenges. This paper summarizes the challenges, problem-solving approaches and trends associated with the upscaling of wind turbines.





Fig. 1: Size evolution of wind turbines [Source: Author]

2 Methods

This paper is written as a systematic review, as the challenges associated with upscaling are multifaceted and manifest in multiple domains. The research for the cited articles was conducted using Google Scholar with the assistance of ChatGPT. Specifically, Chat-GPT generated search terms that were then put into Google Scholar. Literature maps were created using Researchrabbit, but they proved unhelpful, as they included articles unrelated to the topic and many sources were outdated. Initially, more general articles on wind power were read to identify articles related to upscaling and extract relevant articles. Subsequently, information on the challenges, solving approaches and trends associated with upscaling gathered from the relevant articles were compiled.



^{*}Corresponding author: pv932100@fh-muenster.de.

3 Challenges and Trends

3.1 Rotor blades

When enlarging the rotor, a challenge arises in that the flexibility of the rotor blades increases. This results in a reduction in the distance between rotor blades and the tower under heavy loads. Methods to increase this distance include pre-bending the blades, which leads to difficulties in manufacturing and transportation as the blade size increases. Another option is the use of carbon fiber instead of commonly used glass fiber, which has a higher specific stiffness, but carbon fiber is more expensive than glass fiber [3].

Additionally, there is an increased occurrence of harmonic and aeroelastic vibrations with blade enlargement. One approach to address this is improved damping, which can be passive (structural and aerodynamic) or active through the turbine controller [3].

Another problem is the wear (fouling) caused by insect impacts and icing. Increasing erosion due to abrasive particles is also a concern. These problems increase especially in regions with higher wind speeds, and lead to poorer aerodynamic performance. Novel paints with nano-composites can provide a solution [4].

Moreover there are concerns regarding the interference with radar. For this, the employment of anti-reflection or stealth rotor blades has been explored, but requires further research [4, 5].



Fig. 2: Segmented rotor blade of an Enercon E115 with mechanical joints [6]

A further challenge related to enlarged rotor blades is their transportation. Transportation can occur by road, rail, water, or air. On the road, there are limits regarding width, height, and weight. On rail, trains must travel at slower speeds. Shipping requires the use of expensive fixtures to prevent twisting of the ship. In the air, helicopters are considered risky, so research is being conducted on blimp-like air lifting devices [7]. There are suggestions to improve transportation methods, such as rotatable rotor blades on truck to pass bridges [8], or floating sealed rotor blades via waterways [9]. The production in small on-site factories with prepared material kits from the main factory is also suggested [10].

Furthermore, there is the possibility of segmented rotor blades. This leads to smaller lengths, heights, widths, and weights and therefore easier transportation. To attach the segmented blades, there are options for adhesive joints or mechanical joints [7]. Fig. 2 shows a segmented blade with a mechanical joint.

3.2 Gearbox

The drive trains can be distinguished into systems with and without gearboxes. With the increase in rotor diameter and consequently its weight, higher torques occur in the drive train. This increases the susceptibility to errors in the bearings and, if present, in the gearbox, thereby raising the requirements. The most powerful gearboxes for wind turbines can support up to 15 MW, with torque densities of 200 Nm/kg and gear ratios of up to 200 [2].

The trend for larger wind turbines is increasingly moving towards systems without gearboxes due to size, efficiency and availability [11]. There are several advantages of direct-drive systems. While the error rate is highest in blades/pitch, electric, and control systems, errors in the gearbox, bearings, and hydraulic system have the most significant impact on downtime, especially in hard-to-reach offshore environments [4, 11]. The global efficiency increases due to reduced friction losses. Furthermore less oil needs to be changed. The reduction in moving parts enhances reliability, thereby reducing maintenance costs. Additionally, the elimination of the gearbox leads to a decrease in noise emissions and vibrations [11]. Advantages of indirect-drive systems are reliability, simplicity and low cost, but the advantages of direct-drive systems outweigh the disadvantages for large systems [11].



Fig. 3: Direct-drive turbine [6]



3.3 Generator

For larger wind turbines without gearboxes (lowspeed direct-drive systems), electrically excited synchronous generators (EESG) and permanent magnet synchronous generators (PMSG) have gained popularity among manufacturers [11]. The trend is moving towards PMSG because EESG involves higher maintenance requirements for brushes and more heat losses due to current in the excitation windings, leading to increased complexity in the cooling system. In contrast, PMSG eliminates the excitation current and the need for brush maintenance. The electrical properties, such as copper losses, are improved, and the overall weight is reduced. In PMSG, the energy yield and efficiency increase overall [11]. A disadvantage of PMSG is that they require expensive rare-earth elements like neodymium, praseodymium, and dysprosium. To reduce the demand for rare-earth elements, new technologies are under development, including high-temperature superconducting generators, which could become commercially viable in the next decade [3]. These promise higher efficiency and lower weight compared to conventional generators [11]. The power converters in systems exceeding 10 MW are duplicated to prevent excessive current loading per converter [2].

3.4 Tower

The most commonly used types of towers are steel towers and hybrid towers made of both steel and concrete. With increasing tower height, either the tower base must become wider or the wall thickness must be increased while keeping the diameter constant due to the statics. It is cost-effective to keep the wall thickness constant to minimize material costs. However, since prefabricated tower segments made of steel or concrete are limited in diameter for transportation reasons, reinforcing the wall thickness remains the option for prefabricated tower segments [12, 13]. In addition to prefabricated steel or concrete tower segments, there is the opportunity of large diameter steel towers, which are additionally segmented lengthways to reduce diameter during transportation with an on-site assembly after transportation [12].

On-site manufacturing to avoid transportation is another option. For this purpose, the tower must be at least partially made of concrete to be cast on-site [4]. There is also a proposal to cast the entire tower on-site (Full-Concrete Field-Cast Towers). Advantages of this technology include a reduction in primary material costs and independence from steel prices. A disadvantage is the higher labor costs on-site. Another mentioned alternative is lattice towers, which facilitate transportation, but the labor costs are also high due to the relatively challenging construction process [13].



Fig. 4: Lengthways segmented tower segment (front view) [Source: Author]

3.5 Noise emissions

Noise emissions from wind turbines require an increased distance from settlements and/or residential houses. With larger turbines, the noise emissions are amplified. The noise emitted by a wind turbine can be categorized into mechanical and aerodynamic noise. Mechanical noise is generated by moving components such as the gearbox, electrical generator, and bearings. Mechanical noise can be reduced through design measures and acoustic insulation. Aerodynamic noise results from the airflow over and around the turbine blades. It increases with the blade tip speed. This is why the aerodynamical noises are dominant in larger systems, while the mechanical noises dominate in smaller ones [4, 11]. Individuals may experience headaches and other health issues due to aerodynamical noises [14]. They can be mitigated through blade design improvements such as trailing edge servations [15, 16]. Additionally, reduction is possible through lower angles of attack, higher stall angles, and automatic blade pitching [4]. It is also feasible to place obstacles in the propagation path to alleviate aerodynamic noises [14].



Fig. 5: Trailing edge serrations for mitigating noise emissions [6]



Component	Challenges	Problem-solving approaches & Trends		
Rotor blades	Flexibility	Pre-bending Carbonfiber blades		
	Vibrations	Active and passive damping		
	Erosion & Fouling	Novel paints		
	Radar interference	Stealth blades Anti-reflection blades		
	Transportation	Segmented blades On-site manufacturing Concepts like floating sealed blades or blimp-like air lifting de- vices		
Gearbox	Higher requirements	More powerful gears Trend: direct-drive (gearless) sys- tems		
Generator	Less maintenance, more reliabil- ity & heat losses	Permanent Magnet Synchronous Generators (PMSG)		
	PMSG: reducing rare-earth ele- ments & weight	Superconducting generators		
	High current in Power Converter	Duplicated Power Converters		
Tower	Transportation	Pre-fabricated: Thicker walls due to width-limit or lengthways seg- mented segments On-site manufacturing: Partial concrete or Full-Concrete Field- Cast Towers Lattice towers		
Noise emissions	Mechanical noises	Direct-drive systems Acoustical insulation		
	Aerodynamical noises	Blade design improvements Lower angles of attack Higher stall angles Automatic blade pitching Obstacles in propagation path		

Tab. 1: Summarized	Challenges and their pr	roblem-solving	approaches a	nd trends	[Source:	Author]
Component	Challenges		Proble	em-solvin	g appr	oaches

4 Summary

In this review, the technical challenges and trends in upscaling wind turbines which are mentioned in other reviews have been compiled. Onshore turbines are currently being upscaled to 6-8 MW, and offshore turbines to 10-15 MW, as this can lead to a reduction in the cost of electricity generation. The main focus areas in this article are rotor blades, gearbox, generator, tower and noise emissions. Tab. 1 lists the challenges and their problem-solving approaches and trends for each of these components.

In the case of rotor blades, one issue is an increase

in flexibility, which can be addressed by employing pre-bending or rotor blades made of carbon fiber with a higher specific stiffness than glass fiber. Increased vibrations can be reduced through active or passive damping. Additionally, fouling due to insect impacts, icing and erosion is a concern. Countermeasures may include novel paints. For interference with radar, anti-reflection and stealth blades are under research. Another important aspect is the transportation of rotor blades, which becomes more challenging with upscaling. In addition to segmented rotor blades, which are assembled during installation, there are proposals like floating sealed blades or blimp-like air lifting devices. On-site manufacturing, eliminating



the need for transportation, is also suggested.

With upscaling, higher demands arise for the gearbox. As the gearbox is one of the components which is responsible for the longest downtime, the trend is clearly moving towards direct-drive systems without a gearbox. For the generator, there is a shift towards permanent magnet synchronous generators, as heat losses and maintenance can be minimized by eliminating brushes and exciting current. However, the use of expensive rare-earth elements is necessary in this case. Superconducting generators are under research and could become market-ready in the next decade. Regarding the power converter, a dual design is necessary due to high current.

For the tower, the most crucial aspect is transportation. As the facilities become larger, either the diameter or the wall thickness must increase for prefabricated tower segments. Due to road restrictions, the options here are to reinforce the wall thickness or to segment the segments additionally lengthways. On-site manufacturing can also provide a solution. For this purpose, the towers must be at least partially made of concrete. There is also the proposal of the Full-Concrete Field Cast Towers, which consists entirely of concrete. Another option are lattice towers.

Concerning noise emissions, either the distances to homes and settlements must be increased, or the noises must be reduced, as excessive noise levels can lead to health issues. In wind turbines, there are mechanical noises caused by moving parts, and more importantly for larger turbines, aerodynamic noises caused by the flow of air over and past the blades. Aerodynamic noises can be reduced through constructive blade design, lower angles of attack, higher stall angles, and automatic blade pitching. Placing obstacles in the propagation path is also an option.

5 Conclusion and Outlook

This review deals with the challenges and trends in upscaling wind turbines. The relevance of this topic is high because manufacturers are increasingly moving towards upscaling wind turbines due to levelized costs of energy. The most frequently mentioned challenges and trends were summarized from current literature. It can be said that upscaling extends to all areas of a wind turbine from a technical point of view. In some cases, there are already solutions for the mentioned challenges, which then have to be dimensioned according to size, such as reducing noise, while in other cases new technologies such as superconducting generators or stealth blades are being developed or tested. There are also problems that only arise with an increase in size, such as transportation, where one solution is on-site manufacturing, for example. This paper can be used to gain an initial overview of the technical problems associated with upscaling wind

turbines. It should be noted that the challenges and trends illustrated here do not reflect the full spectrum, and that there are certainly other technical challenges as well as challenges relating to the environment, the legal situation and the economic aspects of upscaling wind turbines. This could be points for future work in order to obtain a more interdisciplinary overview of the topic.

References

- G. Sieros, P. Chaviaropoulos, J. D. Sørensen, B. H. Bulder, and P. Jamieson. "Upscaling wind turbines: theoretical and practical aspects and their impact on the cost of energy". *Wind energy* 15.1 (2012), pp. 3–17. DOI: 10.1002/we.527.
- [2] A. R. Nejad, J. Keller, Y. Guo, S. Sheng, H. Polinder, S. Watson, J. Dong, Z. Qin, A. Ebrahimi, R. Schelenz, et al.. "Wind turbine drivetrains: state-of-the-art technologies and future development trends". Wind Energy Science Discussions 2021 (2021), pp. 1–35. URL: https: //wes.copernicus.org/articles/7/387/ 2022/.
- [3] P. Veers, C. Bottasso, L. Manuel, J. Naughton, L. Pao, J. Paquette, A. Robertson, M. Robinson, S. Ananthan, A. Barlas, et al.. "Grand challenges in the design, manufacture, and operation of future wind turbine systems". Wind Energy Science Discussions 2022 (2022), pp. 1–102. URL: https://wes.copernicus.org/articles/8/1071/2023/.
- [4] R. McKenna, P. O. vd Leye, and W. Fichtner. "Key challenges and prospects for large wind turbines". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 53 (2016), pp. 1212-1221. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032115010503?casa_token = EfQR6dhpY4AAAAAA : G8nzRuUUehtHyh8QTs3EgCJvnJVAJMP_a9bu2nlDdQqZrVuay5aF_BjU0YUD_Bih139a1AUjTbQ.
- [5] H.-K. Jang, W.-H. Choi, C.-G. Kim, J.-B. Kim, and D.-W. Lim. "Manufacture and characterization of stealth wind turbine blade with periodic pattern surface for reducing radar interference". *Composites Part B: Engineering* 56 (2014), pp. 178–183. URL: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/ pii/S1359836813004514.
- P. Vennemann. Wasser- und Windkraftnutzung. Skript Bachelor. FH Münster, Fachbereich EGU. Steinfurt, NRW, Germany, 2020.
- [7] M. Peeters, G. Santo, J. Degroote, and W. Van Paepegem. "The concept of segmented wind turbine blades: a review". *Energies* 10.8 (2017).

- [8] A. Wobben. Transport vehicle for a rotor blade of a wind-energy turbine. US Patent 7,303,365. 2007.
- [9] P. Grabau. Seaborne transportation of wind turbine blades. US Patent 8,839,733. 2014.
- T. D. ASHWILL. Blade Manufacturing Improvement: Remote Blade Manufacturing Demonstration. Tech. rep. Sandia National Lab.(SNL-NM), Albuquerque, NM (United States); Sandia ..., 2003. URL: https://www.osti.gov/servlets/ purl/811156-qt5KeJ/native/.
- [11] A. Bensalah, G. Barakat, and Y. Amara. "Electrical generators for large wind turbine: Trends and challenges". *Energies* 15.18 (2022), p. 6700.
- K. Dykes, R. Damiani, O. Roberts, and E. Lantz. "Analysis of ideal towers for tall wind applications". 2018 Wind Energy Symposium. 2018, p. 0999. URL: https://www.nrel.gov/docs/ fy18osti/70642.pdf.
- [13] E. J. Lantz, J. O. Roberts, J. Nunemaker, E. De-Meo, K. L. Dykes, and G. N. Scott. "Increasing wind turbine tower heights: Opportunities and challenges" (2019). URL: https://www.nrel. gov/docs/fy19osti/73629.pdf.
- [14] D. Y. Leung and Y. Yang. "Wind energy development and its environmental impact: A review". Renewable and sustainable energy reviews 16.1 (2012), pp. 1031-1039. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1364032111004746? casa _ token= - 7R0czXhOScAAAAA : eCA - 6MPa - XwXgTbm2FvyZq _ OUE01zOfj8T6911ZSNFVkDuxLqwJm yvx4b0zdq2J4N7haa35yXo.
- [15] R. Saidur, N. A. Rahim, M. R. Islam, and K. H. Solangi. "Environmental impact of wind energy". *Renewable and sustainable* energy reviews 15.5 (2011), pp. 2423-2430. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1364032111000669? casa _ token = Do0gMyWw5z4AAAAA : j _ UjHZYcncTUcYuoZRzVTrQNNW8Iva6kMJzMYLfUp-4Z5So-jQ_DKBnt68QDx13h6nl-y0J7Tz8.
- [16] T. M. Biedermann, P. Czeckay, N. Hintzen, F. Kameier, and C. O. Paschereit. "Applicability of aeroacoustic scaling laws of leading edge serrations for rotating applications". *Acoustics.* Vol. 2. 3. MDPI. 2020, pp. 579–594.



Relevance of Bird Strikes on Wind Turbines in Germany: A Review

Hannes Weißer*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

As Germany aims to increase its utilization of wind power, the potential threat to bird populations due to this expansion is a controversial issue. This paper aims to collect data on the magnitude of bird strikes on wind turbines, review existing protective measures and explore innovative solutions. After a thorough examination of the literature, it was concluded that although the impact on bird populations is significant, it may be overemphasized in popular debates. This statement is not final as further research is necessary to assess the impact of bird strikes and explore new solutions. Comprehensive studies on this specific topic in Germany are limited, which makes a thorough evaluation challenging. While there are measures in place to protect species that may be negatively impacted, it is possible that these measures will not be adequate for all of them. While several innovative methods are under examination, progress in testing and implementation is slow. Lastly, an information problem was identified. Since the topic is highly politicized and polarizing, it is crucial to provide the public with accessible and reliable information on the discussed themes. This is currently not the case due to a lack of data and missing information campaigns.

Keywords: bird strike, wind power, red kite

1 Introduction

With the goal of reducing carbon emissions by 55 percent from 1990 levels by 2030, phase out coal usage for electricity generation and adopt renewable energy, Germany is witnessing a steady increase in the adoption of wind turbines, both onshore and off-shore. In the first half of 2023, over 28,000 onshore wind turbines with a total capacity of approximately 59,000 MW are operational in the country [1]. In 2022, wind accounted for 22 % of Germany's gross electricity generation, surpassing lignite at 20 % to become the leading source of electricity [2]. In line with

the EEG 2023 (renewable energy law), which aims to increase onshore wind power capacity to 160 GW by 2040, identifying suitable areas for wind power generation is a key priority for expansion. The German population generally views the expansion of renewable energy favorably, with only approximately 9 % of survey participants opposing it [3]. However, the creation of new wind farms is often met with skepticism from both residents as well as environmentalists. One concern regularly raised is the impact of bird strikes on local and migratory birds. In this review paper, the relevance of bird strikes on wind turbines in Germany will be examined. The solutions that are currently in use as well as the ongoing development in this area will be analyzed.

2 Methodology

This paper represents a literary analysis aimed at compiling the existing information regarding the inquiries posed in the introduction. To simplify the process, several AI tools with different levels of usefulness were used for research and writing. Perplexity AI and Chat-GPT were used to refine the central questions and to build a general understanding of the topic. ResearchRabbit was utilized to construct a literary map from the initial literature obtained via Perplexity. Finally, the text was written with the assistance of a translation service and an AI writing assistant from DeepL.

3 Relevance of Bird Strikes in Germany

In 2019, an industry study revealed that protecting flying species like birds and bats was a significant point of contention in 48 % of lawsuits against wind turbines, followed by formal and procedural errors at 32 percent [4]. This highlights the importance of bird strikes in shaping German public opinion on wind turbines. However, determining the legitimacy of these concerns is a challenging endeavor. Data for this issue is primarily collected by counting randomly discovered bird carcasses, as experimental setups raise ethical and logistical concerns. Wind turbines are typically

^{*}Corresponding author: hannes.weisser@fh-muenster.de.

situated in somewhat remote areas to prevent disrupting local populations and there is only a short period to locate birds killed by wind turbines before they are either consumed by scavengers or shifted. Furthermore, not all bird carcasses found are documented and recorded. Only a rough estimate of bird fatalities can be determined, with NABU approximating about 100,000 bird deaths yearly. Figure 1 illustrates that this number pales in comparison to the approximately 20 to 100 million deaths caused by domestic cats, 70 million deaths caused by traffic and 100 to 115 million deaths caused by collision with glass panes [5]. Legal and illegal hunting along with power lines account for an additional 2.7 to 4 million deaths combined. A 2009 study suggests that wind turbines cause ap-



Fig. 1: Causes of bird deaths in Germany based on NABU [5]

proximately 0.3 deaths per GWh generated, whereas fossil fuels cause about 5.2 deaths per GWh generated, mainly as a result of habitat destruction and pollution [6]. Although this study focuses more on the United States, it still provides a compelling picture. However, these results may not apply directly to Germany's situation. Nevertheless, wind turbines do not appear to pose a significant problem in terms of raw numbers. More complexity arises when examining the impact on various species. Research indicates that birds of prey are particularly prone to colliding with wind turbines. The most comprehensive study concerning this issue to date is the PROGRESS study. It focused on northern Germany and determined that there might be a negative impact on the populations of buzzards and red kites [7]. However, criticisms challenge the findings' validity as data was not collected when these species were absent, thus potentially overestimating the perceived threat of wind turbines [7]. The project "LIFE EUROKITE" is currently examining the impact of wind turbine collisions on this species to determine the relevance of potential casualties. The purpose of this pan-European initiative is to collect and analyze telemetric data to ascertain the patterns of habitat use by birds of prey and the perils that threaten their populations [8]. While there are no final results available at present, with the earliest expected at the end of 2023, EUROKITE identifies illegal and accidental poisoning as the primary threats to the kite population [9]. This might further relativize the impact of wind turbines. While wind turbines are not likely the

greatest threat to any bird species, they may indeed have a significant, avoidable impact on some. The following chapter describes some well-known means of preventing bird collisions and the current state of research regarding alternative methods.

4 Current Measures

Since the prevention of bird strikes on wind turbines is beneficial to both nature conservation and the operation of onshore wind farms, several methods have been developed and fully or partially implemented. For the operation of onshore wind farms in Germany, these measures are legally anchored in § 45 of the Federal Nature Conservation Act (Bundesnaturschutzgesetz, BNatSchG); some measures are listed in Appendix 2. These measures are listed below.

4.1 Siting

The process of determining the location of wind turbines is called "siting" and consists of two parts macrositing and micrositing. Macrositing usually involves the decision on a general area in which a wind farm is gonna be built based on several factors. Micrositing is the process of determining a precise location for each wind turbine to optimize spatial use, power generation, cost and other relevant factors. It is common practice to consider the protection of birds in the siting process by maintaining a reasonable distance between wind farms and migratory routes as well as nesting sites. Annex 1 of the BNatSchG specifies near, central and extended areas that have to be checked for the protection of 15 species of nesting birds. While this method of micro-siting is supposedly effective for all of the species listed in the legislature, according to NABU most nesting birds tend to use areas in immediate reach of wind turbines anyways and are mostly not negatively impacted by wind parks.

4.2 Anti-Collision System

The purpose of anti-collision systems is to detect specific avian species through the use of cameras and/or radar technology. If a member of the target species is detected falling below the minimum distance, the wind turbine's rotation will slow down and the system will enter idle mode to avoid a collision. So far there is only one anti-collision system that has been thoroughly tested. The system in question is called "IdentiFlight" and is so far only recommended for the protection of red kites. The results of a three-year study at six german locations showed, that on average 92 % of red kite activity in the relevant area was detected, slowing down the turbines in time at a rate of 77-91 % [10], exceeding the requirements posed by the Competence Center for Nature Conservation and Energy Transition (KNE). Following these results, the KNE issued a press release in 2021 stating that IdentiFlight is ready for implementation [11].

4.3 Shutdown during Agricultural Management Events

Another viable solution involves temporarily halting the operation of wind turbines during agricultural events in the immediate vicinity of the turbine (mowing shutdown). This measure has been proven effective for certain species, such as red and black kites, among others. The effectiveness, however, depends on the precise timing and surrounding circumstances. These circumstances include windspeed, which influences the flight patterns of red kites, as well as factors such as time of year, use of other measures and duration of usage. An observation is that the risk of collision seems to normalize after about two days [12]. Research indicates that certain species are drawn to the sound of heavy machinery for a brief period [13], thus accounting for the observed impact of this action.

4.4 Creation of Attractive Alternative Feeding Habitats

Alternative feeding habitats are intended to redirect bird activity from the wind turbine's location in the long run by establishing habitats that mimic natural environments, such as wetlands. Implementing this measure can present challenges due to the requirement for long-term agreements between parties and the availability of functional spaces in the surrounding area. This is commonly considered an adjunctive measure rather than a primary solution, it should only be utilized in conjunction with more efficacious strategies.

4.5 Reducing the Attractiveness of Habitats in the Mast Base Area

It is argued that the installation of wind turbines can unintentionally result in the development of abundant hunting grounds for birds of prey. Small mammals, which make up a large part of these birds, are easily spotted on fallow lands, pathways and pitches around the turbine. Additionally, structures such as fences serve as perching sites for birds of prey [14]. Measures to decrease the appeal of these territories involve refraining from creating fallow land and utilizing vertical structures like fences and high seats [15]. The United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) recommends eliminating carrion, specifically to reduce the attractiveness to golden eagles [16]. Other measures entail abstaining from nutrient input through fertilization [17] and eliminating manure heaps, which have been observed to lure red kites [13].

The last measure recommended in the current edition of the EEG involves a phenology-related shutdown of wind turbines. This entails shutdowns during daytime for extended periods of four to six weeks during times of increased activity around nesting sites, such as during mating times. While this technique appears to be effective for all impacted species, it incurs significant energy losses due to the prolonged shutdown. Consequently, it is only recommended as a last resort when no other measures are possible.

5 Research

Expanding on the measures in place to prevent bird strikes, ongoing research is dedicated to finding new methods to combat this issue and enhance current practices. This section will explore some of these approaches.

5.1 Siting

As described in chapter 4.1, bird protection is already considered in the siting process. This process is continually reviewed to include more details to achieve this goal. An example of this is the identification and avoidance of areas with updrafts, which are known to attract soaring birds of prey [18]. An open access tool based on a geographic information system (GIS) and thermal imagery has been developed at the Norwegian Institute for Nature Research (NINA) as a cost-effective tool that could be used for this purpose [19].

5.2 Anti-Collision Systems

Anti-collision systems are already being used to protect red kites, as mentioned in chapter 4.2. In addition, current research aims to extend this technology to other species. Researchers at Identifight tested the existing system's efficiency for safeguarding sea eagles, which lack adequate protection measures [20]. Reaching similar results as in safeguarding kites, it is expected that this system can be implemented in the future.

5.3 Deterrence through Acoustic Signals

One way to keep certain species of birds away from wind turbines may be the Use of long range acoustic devices (LRAD). A study conducted in Cadiz, Spain demonstrated the effectiveness of this technique for various species, including the griffon vulture [21]. Different species have varied reactions to specific noises and mimicking naturally occurring sounds proves to

82

be more effective while avoiding acclimatization in comparison to artificial noises [22].

5.4 Ultraviolet Lighting

In a pilot study, researchers at NINA found that ultraviolet lights can diminish bird flight activity. During UV light exposure with a 365 nm wavelength, 27 % less activity was recorded compared to control nights [23]. The measure is still in its early stages of research and has not been widely implemented.

5.5 Painted Structures

There are promising studies investigating the low-tech solution of improving turbine visibility by painting them black. The impact varies based on the portion of the turbines that is coated.

5.5.1 Tower

In a recent study, it was found that the lower 10 meters of ten wind turbines were painted. Following the implementation of this measure, a decrease of 48 % was observed in the discovery of ptarmigan willow carcasses, without any adverse impact on the surrounding, unpainted towers [24]. While this measure seems promising, it may not effectively achieve the goal of protecting raptors. The potential impact on willow ptarmigans could be significant, given their propensity for colliding with the bases of towers.

5.5.2 Blade

In another experiment conducted by researchers at NINA, a single turbine blade was painted black. Subsequently, the effects of this alteration were analyzed. The results show that "there was an average of 71.9 % reduction in the annual fatality rate after painting at the painted turbines relative to the control turbines" [25]. While this is a significant accomplishment, the researchers observe a significant variability between years, indicating the necessity for more research. Nevertheless, implementing this measure appears to be a highly cost-effective solution, particularly when painting the blades before their installation on the tower.

6 Discussion

As demonstrated in this paper, the significance of bird strikes is a debatable topic for numerous reasons. Although certain species seem to be affected negatively to a significant extent, quantifying this impact is difficult. The crux of the matter revolves around data collection issues. To date, the PROGRESS study, published in 2016, remains the most extensive research

on this matter in Germany. A central finding of the study was that current collision prediction models are inadequate, an issue that has yet to be resolved. The findings of the EUROKITE project are anticipated to provide insight into the effects of certain significant species, although not all have been thoroughly examined. The buzzard, which may be adversely impacted as per the PROGRESS study, is not the focus of this project. Given the context, further research is necessary to investigate the impact of bird strikes on these species. Without accurate determination of the impact of wind turbines on certain species, it is impossible to quantify the urgency with which this issue should be addressed. Not knowing the precise extent of the impact is not a justification for disregarding its existence entirely, nor is the notion that there are greater risks to the population of the species at hand. Some Conservationist groups contend that the expansion of wind energy is crucial to achieving the goal of renewable energy and combating climate change, which poses a greater threat to diversity overall [26]. This expansion should be undertaken cautiously while implementing measures to mitigate their impact on endangered species. In this paper, various measures currently in use, as well as those under development, are presented. The evidence suggests that there is a significant amount of untapped potential. While some measures are currently in use, it remains unclear to what extent they are utilized and their level of effectiveness. For the experimental measures, there seems to be a lack of testing and implementation in Germany. In particular, some of the measures being researched at NINA seem promising, but there are no sources of testing in Germany, even though some of the proposed methods are relatively low-tech, such as the painting of rotor blades. Testing and implementation of these or other measures is crucial to ensure that the planned massive increase in wind power over the next few decades does not lead to unexpected adverse effects, most likely necessitating more costly and less effective retrofitting of protection measures. Finally, it is necessary to disseminate information regarding the utilization of these measures. There is a lack of accessible and comprehensive data available to individuals who are not extensively involved in this matter to fully comprehend the ramifications of bird strikes and the actions being implemented. One website that has served this purpose to some extent is "www.wind-ist-kraft.de," an informational campaign and website operated by the German Nature Conservation Ring (DNR) with support from the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer Protection (BMUV). However, the Internet Archive indicates that this website has been unavailable since at least March 14, 2017.



7 Conclusion

Overall, further research is needed to examine both the impact of wind turbines on bird populations and the development of new measures to prevent bird strikes. Although other factors can have a greater impact on bird species, such as collisions with powerlines and poisoning, it is crucial to mitigate preventable negative impacts and promote acceptance of wind power expansion among the population. There is also a lack of easily accessible information regarding this research and the effectiveness of measures. Half-baked disinformation campaigns are a potential threat in the absence of information campaigns.

References

- S. Lüers. "Status des Windenergieausbaus an Land in Deutschland Erstes Halbjahr 2023" (2023). URL: https://www.wind-energie. de / fileadmin / redaktion / dokumente / publikationen - oeffentlich / themen / 06 zahlen-und-fakten/20230718_Status_des_ Windenergieausbaus_an_Land_Halbjahr_ 2023.pdf.
- [2] Statistisches Bundesamt. Bruttostromerzeugung 2022. 6.04.2023. URL: https : / / www . destatis . de / DE / Themen / Branchen - Unternehmen / Energie / _Grafik / _Interaktiv / bruttostromerzeugung erneuerbare-energien.html.
- Ingo Wolf, Jean-Henri Hüttarsch, Anne-Kathrin Fischer, Benita Ebersbach. Soziales Nachhaltigkeitsbarometer der Energie- und Verkehrswende 2022. URL: https://ariadneprojekt. de / media / 2022 / 09 / iass _ soziales _ nachhaltigkeitsbarometer_2022_web.pdf.
- [4] J. Quentin. Ergebnisse Branchenumfrage zu Klagen und anderen Hemmnissen für WEA (Q2/2019). URL: https://www.fachagenturwindenergie . de / fileadmin / files / Veroeffentlichungen / Analysen / FA _ Wind _ Branchenumfrage _ beklagte _ WEA _ Hemmnisse _ DVOR _ und _ Militaer _ 07 -2019.pdf.
- [5] NABU Naturschutzbund Deutschland e.V. NABU: Wer ist schuld am großen Vogelschwund? 10.12.2023. URL: https://www. nabu.de/tiere-und-pflanzen/voegel/ gefaehrdungen/24661.html.
- [6] B. K. Sovacool. "The avian benefits of wind energy: A 2009 update". *Renewable Energy* 49 (2013), pp. 19–24. ISSN: 09601481. DOI: 10.1016/j.renene.2012.01.074.

- [7] Axel Tscherniak. Windenergie und Artenschutz: Ergebnisse aus dem Forschungsvorhaben PROGRESS und praxisrelevante Konsequenzen: Diskussionsveranstaltung am 17. November 2016 in Hannover. URL: https://www. fachagentur-windenergie.de/fileadmin/ files / Veroeffentlichungen / FA _ Wind _ Ergebnispapier_PROGRESS_03-2017.pdf.
- [8] LIFE EUROKITE. LIFE EUROKITE Projekt. 10.12.2023. URL: https://www.lifeeurokite.eu/de/projekt/life-eurokite. html.
- [9] LIFE EUROKITE. Rotmilan Life-Eurokite DE. 10.12.2023. URL: https://www.lifeeurokite.eu/de/projekt/rotmilan.html.
- [10] Wie gut schützt IdentiFlight den Rotmilan (Milvus milvus)? URL: https://www.e3identiflight.de/wp-content/uploads/ 2021/11/21-10-07_Wie-gut-schuetzt-IdentiFlight - den - Rotmilan - Milvus milvus_Abschlussbericht - IdentiFlight. pdf.
- [11] Kompetenzzentrum Naturschutz und Energiewende. Erstes Kamerasystem zur Vermeidung vonVogelkollisionen anWindenergieanlagen reif für die Praxis. 23.09.2021. URL: https://www.naturschutzenergiewende . de / kompetenzzentrum / presse / pressemitteilungen / erstes kamerasystem - zur - vermeidung von - vogelkollisionen - an - wind energieanlagen-reif-fuer-die-praxis/.
- [12] Konfliktarm zur Genehmigung: Empfehlungen des Projekts Wind und Natur. URL: https: //niedersachsen.nabu.de/imperia/md/ content/niedersachsen/wind_und_natur____handlungsempfehlungen_-_bericht_2022____52_seiten_-_klein-1.pdf.
- [13] Ubbo Mammen, Bernd Nicolai, Jörg Böhner, Kerstin Mammen, Jasper Wehrmann, Stefan Fischer, Gunthard Dornbusch. "Artenhilfsprogramm Rotmilan des Landes Sachsen-Anhalt". BERICHTE des Landesamtes für Umweltschutz Sachsen-Anhalt 2014.5 (2014). URL: https: //lau.sachsen-anhalt.de/fileadmin/ Bibliothek/Politik_und_Verwaltung/MLU/ LAU/Naturschutz/Publikationen/Dateien/ Fachberichte_LAU/berichte_5-14_ahprotmilan.pdf.
- [14] Lea Bulling, Dirk Sudhaus, Daniel Schnittker, Eva Schuster, Juliane Biehl, Franziska Tucci. Vermeidungsmaßnahmen bei der Planung und Genehmigung von Windenergieanlagen. 1.10.2015. URL: https://www. fachagentur-windenergie.de/fileadmin/ files / Veroeffentlichungen / FA - Wind _ Studie _ Vermeidungsmassnahmen _ 10 - 2015. pdf.

- [15] H. Hötker, K.-M. Thomsen, and H. Köster. "Auswirkungen regenerativer Energiegewinnung auf die biologische Vielfalt am Beispiel der Vögel und der Fledermäuse" (2005). URL: https:// www.bfn.de/sites/default/files/2022-05/Skript142-1.pdf.
- [16] Interim Guidelines to Avoid and Minimize Wildlife Impacts from Wind Turbines.
 13.05.2003. URL: https://docs.wind-watch. org/usfwswind.pdf.
- [17] Oliver Krone, Gabriele Treu, Thomas Grünkorn.
 "Untersuchungsergebnisse Seeadler und WKA". Greifvögel und Windkraftanlagen: Problemanalyse und Lösungsvorschläge. Schlussbericht für das Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit. (2014), pp. 217–262. URL: https: //lfu.brandenburg.de/sixcms/media.php/ 9/endbericht_greifvogelprojekt.pdf.
- [18] A. O. Syverhuset. "How efficient are mitigation measures for bird-friendly wind power?" Norwegian Institute for Nature Research (14.08.2020). URL: https://www.nina.no/english/About-NINA/News/article/how-efficient-aremitigation-measures-for-bird-friendlywind-power.
- [19] F. Hanssen, R. May, and T. Nygård. "High-Resolution Modeling of Uplift Landscapes can Inform Micrositing of Wind Turbines for Soaring Raptors". *Environmental management* 66.3 (2020), pp. 319–332. DOI: 10.1007/s00267-020-01318-0.
- [20] Marc Reichenbach, Hendrik Reers, Sören Greule, Johanna Grimm. IdentiFlight als Schutzmassnahme für den Seeadler. 3.05.2023. URL: https: //www.e3-identiflight.de/wp-content/ uploads/2023/05/23-05-03_IdentiFlightals-Schutzmassnahme-fuer-den-Seeadler_ Abschlussbericht-IdentiFlight.pdf.
- [21] Andreas Smith, Javier Vidao, Sandra Villar, Jared Quillen, Jenny Davenport. "Evaluation of Long Range Acoustic Device (LRAD) for bird dispersal at El Pino Wind Park, Spain". Proceedings of the Conference on Wind Energy and Wildlife Impacts, 2-5 May 2011, Trondheim, Norway, p. 127. URL: https://www.nina.no/ archive/nina/pppbasepdf/rapport/2011/ 693.pdf.
- [22] R. May, O. Reitan, K. Bevanger, S.-H. Lorentsen, and T. Nygård. "Mitigating windturbine induced avian mortality: Sensory, aerodynamic and cognitive constraints and options". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 42 (2015), pp. 170–181. ISSN: 13640321. DOI: 10. 1016/j.rser.2014.10.002.

- [23] R. May, J. Åström, Ø. Hamre, and E. L. Dahl.
 "Do birds in flight respond to (ultra)violet lighting?" Avian Research 8.1 (2017). DOI: 10.1186/ s40657-017-0092-3.
- [24] B. G. Stokke, T. Nygård, U. Falkdalen, H. C. Pedersen, and R. May. "Effect of tower base painting on willow ptarmigan collision rates with wind turbines". *Ecology and evolution* 10.12 (2020), pp. 5670–5679. ISSN: 2045-7758. DOI: 10.1002/ecc3.6307.
- [25] R. May, T. Nygård, U. Falkdalen, J. Åström, Ø. Hamre, and B. G. Stokke. "Paint it black: Efficacy of increased wind turbine rotor blade visibility to reduce avian fatalities". *Ecology* and evolution 10.16 (2020), pp. 8927–8935. ISSN: 2045-7758. DOI: 10.1002/ecc3.6592.
- [26] K. S. Rebekka Blessenohl. NABU-Positionspapier Windenergie -Naturverträglicher Ausbau der Windenergie: Wie der Ausbau der Windenergie an Land und auf See unter Berücksichtigung von Naturund Artenschutz gelingen kann. 1.04.2023. URL: https://www.nabu.de/imperia/md/ content/nabude/energie/wind/231108nabu-windenergie-positionspapier.pdf.

Guidelines for Onshore Repowering in Germany

Roman Zurhold*

FH Münster, Stegerwaldstraße 39, 48565 Steinfurt

Abstract

Wind energy plays a major role among renewable energies. Its expansion is therefore important in order to achieve the climate targets. Repowering is an important element in the expansion of wind energy. On the one hand, it offers a solution for many wind turbines in Germany that are no longer subsidised due to their age. On the other hand, modern turbines are significantly more powerful and enable more efficient land utilisation. This article provides an overview of the most important aspects of onshore repowering.

There is a lot to consider when repowering wind turbines. The legal situation for repowering aims to be improved through simplified authorisation procedures. Even though efforts are being made by the government, there is still room for improvement. The repowering potential is also dependent on the various distance regulations to residential buildings in the federal states. These regulations might also be improved in the future. Another aspect is the remuneration, which is now closer to market developments due to the market premium model. It is also subject to greater competition as a result of the tendering process. At the same time, interest rates and turbine prices have risen, which creates economic challenges for the operators of future wind farms. Last but not least, repowering also depends on public acceptance. This is also to be regulated by law in the future.

Keywords: Onshore repowering, simplified authorisation procedure, distance regulations, market premium model, tendering, inflation, public participation,

1 Introduction

To achieve the set climate protection targets, it is important to accelerate the expansion of renewable energies [1]. Wind energy plays a key role in this with a share of 25 % of the renewable energy supply in 2022 [2].

Wind turbines in Germany receive remuneration for 20 years [§25 EEG 2023]. As can be seen in Figure 1,

many wind turbines are in the final years of subsidisation or have already been phased out. Operators of such plants must weigh up whether they want to continue operating the plants without remuneration (if technically possible). Old turbines also often cause the highest maintenance costs in the final years of operation, which is why repowering can be a better alternative.

Repowering means replacing outdated, lowperformance and low-yield wind turbines with modern ones. The construction of new turbines has many advantages. Modern turbines are now being erected with outputs of 4-7 MW and achieve higher yields. Good wind farm sites can therefore be utilised more efficiently. In addition, the appropriate infrastructure is already in place from the old plants. [4–6]

This paper aims to provide an overview of the relevant aspects that currently need to be considered regarding the repowering of onshore wind turbines in Germany.

2 Legal regulations

Wind turbines with a total height of over 50 metres are approved under the Federal Immission Control Act (BImSchG) [§2 4. Federal Immission Control Ordinance (BImSchV)]. The requirements for the authorisation of repowering projects are described in the BImSchG and the Federal Nature Conservation Act (BNatSchG).

2.1 Federal Immission Control Act / BImSchG

The BImSchG regulates the requirements for repowering in §16b. This is a modification of the authorisation of installations with significant changes (§16 BImSchG). It was introduced in 2021 to transpose the requirements of the Renewable Energy Directive of the European Union (EU) into German law [7]. Repowering should therefore be carried out in a simplified procedure [Art. 16 Section 6 Directive (EU) 2018/2001].

The paragraph 16b BImSchG contains the following aspects:



^{*}Corresponding author: rz085091@fh-muenster.de.



Fig. 1: Age structure of wind turbines in Germany (status 08.12.2023). Own illustration based on [3].

- Only check requirements according to BImSchG if negative effects are expected (due to repowering or change of turbine type)
- Examination of other public law concerns in all aspects (e.g. construction planning, labour protection, nature conservation, etc.)
- No limitation of the repowering measure in terms of size, increase in output, number of turbines
- Construction within 24 months of dismantling the old turbine
- Maximum distance between old and new turbine two times the total height
- Authorisation despite non-compliance with some immission limits if the total immission contribution is lower
- No need for a public hearing
- Simplified procedure for up to 19 wind turbines
- Simple assessment of stability and effects of noise and turbulence in the event of a change in power output

According to §16b, repowering includes the complete or partial replacement of wind turbines, operating systems or operating equipment. Only requirements that change the current conditions, taking into account the old systems, need to be checked. There will be a so-called delta test for this purpose. If the repowering leads to an improvement or unchanged impact on the wind farm sites, no assessment is required. [8]

A draft bill is currently being discussed in the Bundestag that contains the following improvements to §16b [1, 9]:

- Construction within **48 months** of dismantling the old turbine
- Maximum distance between old and new turbine five times (5H) the total height
- Use of §16b also for turbines that have been authorised under other specific laws
- Authorisation despite non-compliance with some immission limit values if the total immission contribution is lower **in absolute terms** (e.g. 0.1 dB is sufficient[10, 11])

Although the wind industry welcomes the planned changes in general, there are still suggestions for improvement. According to the BImSchG, a modification authorisation can only be obtained by an identical operator. There is no corresponding special regulation for repowering, although in reality the operator often changes in this case. [10-12]

Another suggestion for improvement is the seamless transition between old and new wind turbines. In fact, it makes sense to continue operating the old turbine until the new one has been completed to ensure a high level of efficiency. A corresponding clarification is missing so far. [10, 11]

The regulations on changing the type of wind turbine were also criticised. It is no longer possible to change the type of turbine via a simple modification authorisation [10]. This type of authorisation is regulated in §15 BImSchG and only requires notification to the responsible authority [§15 BImSchG]. It also remains unclear whether the change in turbine type also takes relocations into account. This often occurs in the practice and is not mentioned in the law. [8]



2.2 Federal Nature Conservation Act / BNatSchG

In addition to §16b, there are also regulations on repowering in the Federal Nature Conservation Act (BNatSchG). Similar to the delta test, the effects of old turbines are also taken into account in protecting wildlife. For example, protective measures already taken, breeding sites and characteristics of the old turbines are analysed. Compensatory measures already taken are also assessed and deducted from the new measures to be taken. In the BNatSchG, the 5H regulation and the time limit of 48 months in deviation from §16b already apply. [§45c BNatSchG]

3 Political aspects

As a result of repowering, wind turbines are not only significantly more powerful but also significantly taller. According to a study by Lacal-Arántegui et al. [13], repowered wind turbines have on average twice the hub height and three times the rotor diameter. This results in a significantly greater total height compared to the old turbines. For a high energy yield, wind turbines must keep a certain distance from each other [14]. A general rule of thumb is based on the rotor diameter and specifies a distance of 10 rotor diameters in the wind direction and 5 rotor diameters in the crosswind direction to keep field losses below 10% [14]. New wind turbines therefore require significantly more space than the old ones. This can lead to conflicts with politically determined distance regulations regarding residential buildings [4].

There are currently different distance regulations in Germany depending on the federal state. In Bavaria, for example, wind turbines may not be built closer to residential buildings than ten times their total height (10H). In other federal states, on the other hand, a distance rule of up to 1000 metres applies. Saxony-Anhalt, Saarland and, more recently, North Rhine-Westphalia have not set any blanket distance regulations. [15, 16]

Grau et al. [17] demonstrate the relevance of distance regulations in a study on the repowering potential in Germany. In the study, the potential of various scenarios was determined, which differ according to the size of the new wind turbines and the strictness of the distance regulations. The potential in the various scenarios was identified with distances of 500 metres (scenario 1-5), 1000 metres (scenario 5-10) and 10H (scenario 10-15). Figure 2 shows an example of three scenarios with different potentials for repowering turbines with a capacity of 4 MW (230 m total height) and various distance regulations. Table 1 expresses the potential of the scenarios for the year 2040 in numbers. It is clear to see that the repowering potential is affected, particularly with the 10H regulation as in Bavaria.

The possibilities for repowering therefore depend on the political regulations of the respective federal state. This situation may improve in the future. To accelerate the expansion of wind power in general, the Wind Energy Area Requirement Act (WindBG) came into force on 1 Feb. 2023. Therefore, all federal states must designate an area of around 2 % for wind turbines by the end of 2032 [§3 WindBG]. Previously, only 0.8 % of the area was designated across the country and only 0.5 % was available. The individual distance rules of the federal states will then only apply if the requirement of the new law is met. [18]

Tab. 1: Repowering scenarios and potential wind energy generation (WEG) in 2040. Modified by the author. Based on [17].

Scenario	Distance (m)	WEG (TWh/yr)
$\mathbf{S5}$	500	85,37
S10	1000	70,91
S15	10H / 2300	26,54

4 Economical aspects

The economic situation today is not the same as when the old wind turbines were built. This is not only due to a different remuneration model for the electricity generated but also to the changes in recent years regarding the financing of wind power projects and the costs of wind turbines.

4.1 Remuneration for electricity generated from wind turbines

The remuneration for electricity generated from wind turbines has been in existence since the Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) came into force in the year 2000 [§9 EEG 2000, §25 EEG 2023]. Under the old system (until EEG 2012), the electricity was sold to the grid operators and remunerated independently of the market. This reduced the investment risk and increased planning security for project planners, which led to an ever-increasing expansion of wind energy. [6]

The EEG 2017 fundamentally changed the remuneration model. Accordingly, the remuneration is now determined via a tendering procedure. The tender is limited in volume and also specifies the highest possible remuneration [§28, §36b EEG 2023]. Future wind farm operators can take part in the tendering process after receiving the authorisation under BImSchG and submit a bid for the desired remuneration [§36 EEG 2023]. The limited volume ensures competition as the highest bids are excluded due to the limited volume [Section 32 EEG 2023]. If, for example, the volume



Fig. 2: Repowerable areas with various distance regulations and a wind turbine capacity of 4 MW. Modified by the author. Based on [17].

is not utilised, the Bundesnetzagentur (Federal Network Agency) can subsequently adjust the volume to maintain competition [§28 EEG 2023]. If the highest possible remuneration is no longer appropriate, this value can also be adjusted by up to 25% [§85a EEG 2023].

The remuneration value determined in the tender is adjusted using a location factor. If the wind forecast is better than a defined reference location, the remuneration value is adjusted downwards. If the wind farm site is estimated to be worse, the remuneration is set higher. The actual performance is analysed every 5 years and subsequently adjusted. This may result in subsequent refunds or payments. [§36h EEG 2023]

The EEG 2012 also introduced the market premium model. It became mandatory for systems with an output of more than 100 kW with the EEG 2017 [§19 EEG 2017]. Under this model, the electricity must be sold directly to third parties or via the stock markets. The remuneration (set in the tender since EEG 2017) is offset against the earnings from direct marketing. [§33 EEG 2012, §23a EEG 2017] The actual remuneration therefore only covers the difference between the sales earnings and the remuneration value [6]. If the proceeds from sales are equal to or higher than the remuneration value, the remuneration is reduced to zero.

From EEG 2014, there is also a rule that no more remuneration is paid if the spot market price on the stock market is negative for a certain period in succession [§24 EEG 2014]. According to the latest regulations, the number of hours is reduced annually to 1 hour in 2027. Currently, no remuneration is paid for negative price periods of four hours or more. [§51 EEG 2023]

The tenders and the market premium model ensure more competition and market orientation for renewable energies. Due to the fixed remuneration value, this system nevertheless offers guarantees to ensure a certain degree of planning security for investors [6].

4.2 Financing and costs

The planned expansion of wind power was not achieved in 2022 and will not be achieved in 2023 either. Table 2 shows an overview of the tenders. It shows the initially planned tender volume, the offered volume and the volume that was finally awarded.

Tab. 2: Results of the tender process. Own illustration based on [19–26].

Date	Quantity (MW)			Price	
	planned	offered	awarded	(ct/kWh)	
01.02.22	1333	1328	1332	$5,\!88$	
01.05.22	1333	1320	931	$5,\!88$	
01.09.22	1333	1320	773	$5,\!88$	
01.12.22	1190	603	189	$5,\!88$	
01.02.23	3210	3210	1441	$7,\!35$	
01.05.23	3210	2866	1535	$7,\!35$	
01.08.23	3210	1667	1433	$7,\!35$	
01.11.23	3210	2088	unknown	$7,\!35$	

It can be seen that the volume offered was not achieved in all tenders after February 2022 despite frequent reductions. The last tender date in 2022 in particular was significantly below the volume offered. This problematic development can be explained by various mechanisms. In addition to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, the war in Ukraine in particular has recently led to major price increases and inflation of up to 8.8 % (November 2022) [27, 28]. To reduce the high inflation, the ECB has started to raise the interest rate on the main refinancing operations since July 2022 [28, 29]. If this interest rate is raised, credit interest rates will also rise [28, 30]. The financing conditions for investments in renewable energies have therefore deteriorated. For example, loans from the KfW-bank for renewable energies were available for an interest rate of 1.8 % in 2021 [31]. The interest rate is now 5.04 % [32] (assumptions: as in [31]: 20-year term, 3 redemption-free start-up years, 20-year fixed interest rate, risk class B).

Due to the price increases and higher financing costs, the electricity production costs in the wind industry have risen. An expert report by Deutsche Windguard [31] analysed the cost trend in great detail (status: 29.11.2022). Table 3 shows the result of a comparison of two similar wind turbines from the report. Due to the changed financing conditions, a higher equity ratio and a higher return on equity were assumed. It can be seen that all cost units show an increase. However, the financing costs in particular stand out clearly. Despite the improved technology of the newer turbine, the LCOE increased by 43 %.

The operators of future wind farms are therefore faced with the challenge of achieving good profitability under the maximum prices prescribed in the tender and at the same time significantly higher electricity production costs. Based on the report by Deutsche Windguard, the Federal Network Agency raised the maximum tender price for 2023 to 7.35 ct/kWh to improve the situation for wind power expansion [31, 33]. As can be seen in table 2, there was a higher expansion this year compared to 2022. However, the planned tender volume was undercut again despite being reduced. The increase in the maximum price seems to be not sufficient yet. The results of the last tender on 11/01/2023 are not yet known.

5 Social aspects

If a wind power project is to be realised, it is also important to consider the social aspects. The acceptance of the public plays a central role in the selection of wind turbine sites and is therefore a key criterion for enabling the expansion of renewable energies [34, 35]. According to a survey conducted by Fachagentur Windenergie an Land e.V. [36] in 2022, over 80% of the German population consider the use of wind energy to be rather important or very important (figure 3). Figure 4 also shows the survey results regarding wind turbines in the immediate residential area. A distinction is made here as to whether wind turbines have already been erected in the residential area or not. Acceptance is high in both parties. It can also be seen that citizens with wind turbines in their surroundings show an even higher level of acceptance, which is beneficial for repowering projects.

Even if acceptance is generally very high, there is always a part of the local population that is against wind turbines. Windemer [34] conducted a survey in which citizens living near wind farms were interviewed. The survey showed that even years after the wind turbines were erected, there were no major changes in attitudes towards wind power. In repowering projects, negative attitudes in particular can therefore lead to new protests . To maintain a high level of acceptance and increase it further for future expansion, it is important to consider what the affected citizens wish for. According to Windemer [34], a study by Huebner



Fig. 3: Acceptance of wind energy onshore. Modified by the author. Based on [36].

and Pohl [37], as well as the survey by Fachangentur Windenergie an Land e.V. [36], the following factors can increase acceptance:

- Transparency and information over the entire operating period (not just the planning phase)
- Participation of citizens and local authorities in the planning process
- Taking issues and complaints seriously
- Financial participation opportunities for citizens and municipalities
- Enable discounted electricity contracts

In the version of the EEG valid from 1 January 2023, local authorities are to be paid 0.2 ct/kWh to increase the acceptance of wind energy expansion. However, this is only a voluntary measure. [§6 EEG 2023] To give citizens an appropriate financial share in the future, a draft bill is currently under discussion in the state parliament of North Rhine-Westphalia [35]. The proposed Citizens' Energy Act (BueEnG) provides for the mandatory participation of citizens living in municipalities where wind turbines are built [§7, §8, §9 BueEnG]. Nevertheless, as the studies show, citizens should not only be financially involved in wind farm projects.

The study by Huebner and Pohl [37] also shows that citizens are more likely to be disturbed by changes to the visual landscape, whereby a greater distance does not lead to greater acceptance. Repowering projects could therefore be advantageous, as the greater output of the turbines means that not as many are needed as in the old wind farms. The new wind turbines technically require more space to achieve a high level of efficiency [13]. However, the noise pollution from new turbines is lower [38]. As the influence of distance on citizens appears to be minimal, it is possible that the space criterion does not affect acceptance significantly.



Tab. 3: Comparison of the cost components of wind	turbines. Modifie	ed by the author.	Based on [31
Start of operation	2021	2025	Change
Site quality	100 %	$100 \ \%$	
Turbine output	4317 kW	$4573 \mathrm{~kW}$	+6%
Hub height	140 m	$146 \mathrm{m}$	+4 %
Rotor diameter	138 m	$140 \mathrm{m}$	+1 %
Annual energy yield	14666 MWh/a	15287 MWh/a	+4 %
Equity share	14 %	18 %	+25 %
Debt capital share	86 %	82~%	-5 %
Return on equity	8 %	$10 \ \%$	+25~%
Debt capital interest rate	1,8~%	$4,81 \ \%$	+167~%
Main investment costs	958 €/kW	1159 €/kW	+21 %
Ancillary investment costs	488 €/kW	637 €/kW	+31 %
Operating costs - first decade - fixed, annual	28 €/kW	33 €/kW	+19 %
Operating costs - first decade -variable	0.6 ct/kWh	0,7 ct/kWh	+18 %
Operating costs - second decade - fixed, annual	35 €/kW	43 €/kW	+22~%
Operating costs - second decade - variable	0.8 ct/kWh	0.9 ct/kWh	+22~%
Power generation costs	4,8 ct/kWh	6,8 ct/kWh	+43~%



Fig. 4: Opinions on wind turbines near residential buildings. Modified by the author. Based on [36].

6 Conclusion

To summarise, many important aspects should be considered in a repowering project. The wind industry is highly dynamic and conditions can change quickly. There are various reasons for this. One of the main reasons centres on the actions taken to achieve the climate targets. The expansion of wind energy needs to be accelerated, which affects all of the mentioned aspects in different ways. At the same time, new wind energy projects shall be orientated closer to the market to increase competitiveness. Last but not least, the crises of recent years are also causing turbulence and major changes.

Due to the changing conditions, it is difficult to give generalised and quantitative statements. In a repowering project, the aspects explained should be taken into account to draw individual conclusions.

References

- Drucksache 20/7502: Entwurf eines Gesetzes zur Verbesserung des Klimaschutzes beim Immissionsschutz, zur Beschleunigung immissionsschutzrechtlicher Genehmigungsverfahren und zur Umsetzung von EU-Recht. 2023. URL: https: //dserver.bundestag.de/btd/20/075/ 2007502.pdf.
- [2] Umweltbundesamt, ed. Erneuerbare Energien in Zahlen. 2023. URL: https : / / www . umweltbundesamt . de / themen /

klima - energie / erneuerbare - energien / erneuerbare - energien - in - zahlen # uberblick.

- [3] Marktstammdatenregister, ed. Stromerzeugungseinheiten. 2023. URL: https : / / www . marktstammdatenregister . de / MaStR / Einheit / Einheiten / ErweiterteOeffentlicheEinheitenuebersicht.
- S. Heier. Nutzung der Windenergie. 1st ed. BINE-Fachbuch. Stuttgart: Fraunhofer IRB Verlag, 2016.
- [5] M. Agatz. Windenergie Handbuch. 19th ed. 2023. URL: https://windenergie-handbuch.de/ wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Windenergie-Handbuch-2022.pdf.
- [6] R. Madlener, B. Glensk, and L. Gläsel. "Optimal Timing of Onshore Wind Repowering in Germany under Policy Regime Changes: A Real Options Analysis". *Energies* 12.24 (2019). ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en12244703. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/12/24/ 4703.
- [7] Drucksache 19/27672: Entwurf eines Gesetzes zur Umsetzung von Vorgaben der Richtlinie (EU) 2018/2001 des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates vom 11. Dezember 2018 zur Förderung der Nutzung von Energie aus erneuerbaren Quellen (Neufassung) für Zulassungsverfahren nach dem Bundes-Immissionsschutzgesetz, dem Wasserhaushaltsgesetz und dem Bundeswasserstraßengesetz: Drucksache 19/27672. 2021. URL: https://dserver.bundestag.de/btd/19/276/1927672.pdf.
- [8] M. Kment. "Das Repowering von Windenergieanlagen-Eine kritische Analyse der § 16b BImSchG und § 45c BNatSchG". *Recht und Verantwortung.* Ed. by T. Mann, K. Mainzer, P. Kersandt, and M. Spieler. Baden-Baden: Nomos, 2023, pp. 147–168. ISBN: 978-3-7489-1740-3.
- [9] Bundestag, ed. Vorgang Gesetzgebung: Gesetz zur Verbesserung des Klimaschutzes beim Immissionsschutz, zur Beschleunigung immissionsschutzrechtlicher Genehmigungsverfahren und zur Umsetzung von EU-Recht. 2023. URL: https: //dip.bundestag.de/vorgang/gesetz-zurverbesserung - des - klimaschutzes - beim immissionsschutz - zur - beschleunigung immissionsschutzrechtlicher / 299229 ? term = NOT % 20zusatzmerkmal : E % 20AND % 20vorgangstyp _ notation : 100 & f . wahlperiode = 20 & f . typ = Vorgang & rows = 25&pos=2.

- [10] Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasserwissenschaft e.V., ed. Stellungnahme zur BImSchG-Novelle: Kabinettsbeschluss für ein Gesetz zur Verbesserung des Klimaschutzes beim Immissionsschutz, zur Beschleunigung immissionsschutzrechtlicher Genehmigungsverfahren und zur Umsetzung von EU-Recht vom 19. April 2023.
 2023. URL: https://www.bdew.de/media/documents/Stn_20230612_230612_BImSchG_Novelle-Kabinett.pdf.
- [11] Bundesverband Windenergie, ed. Stellungnahme zum Regierungsentwurf eines Gesetzes zur Beschleunigung immissionsschutzrechtlicher Genehmigungsverfahren (u.a.): Gesetzentwurf der Bundesregierung zur Verbesserung des Klimaschutzes beim Immissionsschutz, zur Beschleuniqung immissionsschutzrechtlicher Genehmigungsverfahren und zur Umsetzung von EU-Recht; Stand: 19. April 2023. 2023. URL: https: //www.wind-energie.de/fileadmin/ redaktion / dokumente / publikationen oeffentlich / themen / 01 - mensch - und umwelt / 02 - planung / 20230626 _ BWE _ Stellungnahme _ BImSchG _ parl _ Verfahren . pdf.
- [12] A. Hentschel. "Verfahrenserleichterungen für Repowering - kein Grund zum Aufatmen". Kommunalpraxis Spezial 2021 (Dec. 2021), p. 135.
- [13] R. Lacal-Arántegui, A. Uihlein, and J. M. Yusta. "Technology effects in repowering wind turbines". Wind Energy 23.3 (2020), pp. 660-675. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/we.2450. eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ pdf/10.1002/we.2450. URL: https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10. 1002/we.2450.
- D. Mentis, S. Hermann, M. Howells, M. Welsch, and S. H. Siyal. "Assessing the technical wind energy potential in Africa a GIS-based approach". *Renewable Energy* 83 (2015), pp. 110–125. ISSN: 0960-1481. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.renene.2015.03.072. URL: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0960148115002633.
- [15] Fachagentur Windenergie an Land e.V., ed. Überblick - Abstandsempfehlungen und Vorgaben zur Ausweisung von Windenergiegebieten in den Bundesländern: Stand. 1. März 2023. 2023. URL: https://www.fachagentur-windenergie. de/fileadmin/files/Veroeffentlichungen/ Planung/FA_Wind_Abstandsempfehlungen_ Aktualisierung_3-2023.pdf.
- [16]Parlaments beschluss protokoll18/41: Beschlussprotokoll der 41. Sitzung desNordrhein-Westfalen Landtags amFreitag, dem 25. August 2023 gemäß §104 Geschäftsordnung. 25.08.2023.derURL: https://www.landtag.nrw.de/portal/



WWW / dokumentenarchiv / Dokument / MMPB18 - 41.pdf.

- [17] L. Grau, C. Jung, and D. Schindler. "Sounding out the repowering potential of wind energy – A scenario-based assessment from Germany". *Journal of Cleaner Production* 293 (2021), p. 126094. ISSN: 0959-6526. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126094. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0959652621003140.
- [18] Bundesregierung, ed. Mehr Windenergie für Deutschland: Die Bundesregierung hat das Ziel den Strom aus erneuerbaren Energien bis 2030 zu verdoppeln. Die Windkraft spielt dabei eine wichtige Rolle. Mit dem "Wind-an-Land-Gesetz" will sie den Ausbau der Windenergie in Deutschland deutlich schneller voranbringen. Es ist am 1. Februar 2023 in Kraft getreten. 2023. URL: https://www.bundesregierung.de/bregde/schwerpunkte/klimaschutz/wind-anland-gesetz-2052764.
- [19] Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Ausschreibungen für EE- und KWK-Anlagen. 2023. URL: https:// www.bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Fachthemen/ ElektrizitaetundGas / Ausschreibungen / start.html.
- [20]Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Ausschreibung Wind an Land: Gebotstermin 1. Februar2022: öffentliche Bekanntgabe derZuschläge. 17.03.2022. URL: https : / / www.bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Fachthemen/ ElektrizitaetundGas / Ausschreibungen / Wind _ Onshore / BeendeteAusschreibungen / Ausschreibungen2022 Gebotstermin01022022/start.html.
- [21]Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Ausschreibung Wind an Land: Gebotstermin Mai 1. 2022: OffentlicheBekanntgabederZuschläge. 14.06.2022. URL: https : / / www.bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Fachthemen/ ElektrizitaetundGas / Ausschreibungen / Wind _ Onshore / BeendeteAusschreibungen / Ausschreibungen2022 Gebotstermin01052022/start.html.
- [22] Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Ausschreibung Wind an Land: Gebotstermin 1. September 2022: Öffentliche Bekanntgabe der Zuschläge. 19.10.2022. URL: https://www. bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Fachthemen/ ElektrizitaetundGas/Ausschreibungen/ Wind_Onshore/BeendeteAusschreibungen/ Ausschreibungen2022/Gebotstermin010922/ start.html.
- [23] Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Ausschreibung Wind an Land: Gebotstermin 1. Dezember 2022: Öffentliche Bekanntgabe der Zuschläge. 27.12.2022. URL: https://www.

bundesnetzagentur . de / DE / Fachthemen /
ElektrizitaetundGas / Ausschreibungen /
Wind _ Onshore / BeendeteAusschreibungen /
Ausschreibungen2022 /
Gebotstermin01122022/start.html.

[24] Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Ausschreibung Wind an Land: Gebotstermin 1. Februar 2023: Öffentliche Bekanntgabe der Zuschläge. 8.03.2023. URL: https://www. bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Fachthemen/ ElektrizitaetundGas/Ausschreibungen/ Wind_Onshore/BeendeteAusschreibungen/ Ausschreibungen2023 / Gebotstermin1022023/start.html.

- [25]Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Ausschreibung Wind an Land: Gebotstermin 1. Mai 2023: Offentliche Bekanntgabe derZuschläge. 22.06.2023. URL: https : / / www.bundesnetzagentur.de/DE/Fachthemen/ ElektrizitaetundGas / Ausschreibungen / Wind _ Onshore / BeendeteAusschreibungen / Ausschreibungen2023 Gebotstermin1052023/start.html.
- [26]Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Ausschreibung Land: Gebotstermin 1. Wind anAugust2023: Offentliche Bekanntgabe derZuschläge. 8.09.2023. URL: https://www. bundesnetzagentur . de / DE / Fachthemen / ElektrizitaetundGas / Ausschreibungen / Wind _ Onshore / BeendeteAusschreibungen / Ausschreibungen2023 Gebotstermin1082023/start.html.
- [27] Statistisches Bundesamt, ed. Inflationsrate in Deutschland von November 2021 bis November 2023 (Steigerung des Verbraucherpreisindex gegenüber Vorjahresmonat). 2023. URL: https://de-statista-com.ezproxy. fh - muenster . de / statistik / daten / studie / 1045 / umfrage / inflationsrate in - deutschland - veraenderung des - verbraucherpreisindexes - zum vorjahresmonat/.
- [28] S. Tober and T. Theobald. Mehr Besonnenheit gefragt: Die Reaktion der EZB auf die Preisschocks 2022. Geldpolitische Herausforderungen 2023. ger. IMK Report 181. Düsseldorf, 2023. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10419/274585.
- [29] Europäische Zentralbank, ed. Key ECB interest rates. 2023. URL: https://www.ecb.europa. eu/stats/policy_and_exchange_rates/ key_ecb_interest_rates/html/index.en. html.
- [30] M. Horst, D. Stempel, and U. Neyer. "Die EZB muss die Inflation glaubwürdiger bekämpfen". Wirtschaftsdienst 102.6 (2022), pp. 426–429.



- [31] S. Lueers, K. Rehfeldt, and M. Heyken. Kurzfristanalyse zur Kostensituation der Windenergie an Land: Vorbereitung und Begleitung bei der Erstellung eines Erfahrungsberichtes gemäß § 97 Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz (EEG 2017) zum spartenspezifischen Vorhaben Windenergie an Land. 29.11.2022. URL: https: //www.windguard.de/veroeffentlichungen. html ? file = files / cto _ layout / img / unternehmen / veroeffentlichungen / 2022 / Kurzfristanalyse % 20zur % 20Kostensituation%20der%20Windenergie% 20an%20Land.pdf.
- [32] KFW-Bank, ed. Konditionenübersicht für Endkreditnehmer. 1.12.2023. URL: https://www.kfw-formularsammlung. de / KonditionenanzeigerINet / KonditionenAnzeiger?ProgrammNameNr=270.
- [33] Bundesnetzagentur, ed. Verwaltungsverfahren zur Festlegung des Höchstwerts für die Ausschreibungen für Windenergie an Land des Jahres 2023 nach § 85a Absatz 1 und 2 Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz (EEG) Aktenzeichen: 4.08.01.01/1#6. 27.12.2022. URL: https://www.bundesnetzagentur. de / SharedDocs / Downloads / DE / Sachgebiete / Energie / Unternehmen _ Institutionen/Ausschreibungen/Onshore/ FestlegungOnshore . pdf ? _ _ blob = publicationFile&v=1.
- [34] R. Windemer. "Acceptance should not be assumed. How the dynamics of social acceptance changes over time, impacting onshore wind repowering". *Energy Policy* 173 (2023), p. 113363. ISSN: 0301-4215. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2022.113363. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421522005821.
- [35] Drucksache 18/5849: Gesetzentwurf der Fraktion der CDU und der Fraktion BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN:Gesetz über die Beteiligung von Bürgerinnen und Bürgern sowie Gemeinden an der Windenergienutzung in Nordrhein-Westfalen (Bürgerenergiegesetz NRW - BürgEnG). 2023. URL: https://dserver. bundestag.de/btd/20/075/2007502.pdf.
- [36] Fachagentur Windenergie an Land e.V., ed. Umfrage zur Akzeptanz der Windenergie an Land: Herbst 2022: Ergebnisse einer repräsentativen Umfrage zur Akzeptanz der Nutzung und des Ausbaus der Windenergie an Land in Deutschland. Berlin, 2022. URL: https://www. fachagentur-windenergie.de/fileadmin/ files / Veroeffentlichungen / Akzeptanz / FA_Wind_Umfrageergebnisse_Herbst_2022. pdf.

- [37] G. Hübner and J. Pohl. Mehr Abstand mehr Akzeptanz? Ein uweltpsychologischer Studienvergleich. Berlin, 2015. URL: https://www. fachagentur-windenergie.de/fileadmin/ files / Akzeptanz / FA - Wind _ Abstand -Akzeptanz_Broschuere_2015.pdf.
- [38] H. Doukas, A. Arsenopoulos, M. Lazoglou, A. Nikas, and A. Flamos. "Wind repowering: Unveiling a hidden asset". *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 162 (2022), p. 112457. ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112457. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S136403212200363X.

